
 

Meeting: Metro Technical Advisory Committee (MTAC) 
Date: Wednesday, July 19, 2023 
Time: 9:00 a.m. to 12:00 p.m.  
Place: Virtual meeting held via Zoom  
   Connect with Zoom  

Passcode:  863801 
  Phone: 877-853-5257 (Toll Free)  
9:00 a.m. Call meeting to order, Declaration of Quorum and Introductions  Chair Kehe  
   
9:10 a.m. Comments from the Chair and Committee Members 

• Updates from committee members around the Region (all) 
• 2023 RTP Public Comment Period (Kim Ellis) 

 
9:15 a.m. Public communications on agenda items 
 
9:17 a.m. Consideration of MTAC minutes, May 17, 2023     Chair Kehe 
 (action item) 
 
9:20 a.m. Urban Growth Boundary engagement plan     Chair Kehe   
 Purpose: Metro Planning staff will present plans for engagement during  Laura Combs, Metro 
 the upcoming Urban Growth Management decision process that MTAC  
 members have been learning about during their meetings this year. 
 

10:05 a.m. 2023 Regional Transportation Plan (RTP) update    Kim Ellis, Metro  
 Purpose: Provide overview of the 45-day public comment period and fall  
 adoption process; begin discussion of Chapter 8 and identify topics for  
 further MTAC discussion at upcoming meetings. 

   
10:50 a.m. Adjournment         Chair Kehe 
 

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/88551012873?pwd=YTJhVFpvMTVsSjZBejk1VWNKN1J0Zz09




1 
 

2023 Metro Technical Advisory Committee (MTAC) Work Program 
As of 7/11/2023 

NOTE: Items in italics are tentative; bold denotes required items 
All meetings are scheduled from 9am - noon  

MTAC meeting, July 19, 2023 
Comments from the Chair 

• Committee member updates around the region 
(Chair Kehe and all) 

• 2023 RTP Public Comment Period (Kim Ellis) 
 
Agenda Items 

• Urban Growth Boundary engagement plan (Eryn 
Kehe & Laura Combs, Metro; 45 min) 

• 2023 RTP update (Kim Ellis, Metro; 45 min) 

MTAC/TPAC joint workshop, August 16, 2023 
Agenda Items 

• Construction Career Pathways Overview & 
Update (Sebrina Owens-Wilson, Andre Bealer, 
Metro; 45 min) 

• 2023 RTP: Begin discussion on public comments 
on Public Review Draft RTP, Project List and 
Appendices (Kim Ellis, Metro; 60 min) 

• 2023 RTP: TBD topic, if needed (Kim Ellis, Metro; 
45 min) 

MTAC meeting, September 20, 2023 
Comments from the Chair 

• Committee member updates around the region 
(Chair Kehe and all) 

 
Agenda Items 

• Draft regional buildable land inventory (Ted Reid, 
Metro; 45 min) 

• TV Highway Transit and Development Project 
Update (Jessica Zdeb, 45 min) 

• 2023 RTP: Draft Public Comment Report and 
Recommended Changes (Kim Ellis, Metro; 90 
min) 

MTAC meeting, October 18, 2023 
Comments from the Chair 

• Committee member updates around the region 
(Chair Kehe and all) 

Agenda Items 
• Adoption of the 2023 Regional Transportation 

Plan (Ordinance No. 23-XXXX) Recommendation 
to MPAC (Kim Ellis, Metro; 90 min) 

• 2023 High Capacity Transit Strategy (Resolution 
No. 23-XXXX) Recommendation to MPAC (Ally 
Holmqvist/Kim Ellis, Metro; 45 min) 

• Draft regional buildable land inventory 
(continued) (Ted Reid, Metro; 45 min) 

MTAC meeting, November 15, 2023 
Comments from the Chair 

• Committee member updates around the region 
(Chair Kehe and all) 

Agenda Items 
• UGB discussion topic: Town & regional centers 

and CFEC (Update to Title 6) (Ted Reid, Metro; 60 
min) 

• 2024 Urban Growth Management Decision: 
office-to-residential conversion potential (Ted 
Reid, 45 min) 

MTAC meeting, December 20, 2023 
Comments from the Chair 

• Committee member updates around the region 
(Chair Kehe and all) 

 
Agenda Items 

• State of the Centers update (Ted Reid, Metro; 60 
min) 

 
Parking Lot/Bike Rack: Future Topics (These may be scheduled at either MTAC meetings or combined MTAC/TPAC workshops) 

• Status report on equity goals for land use and transportation planning 
• Regional city reports on community engagement work/grants 
• Regional development changes reporting on employment/economic and housing as it relates to growth management 
• Update report on Travel Behavior Survey 
• Updates on grant funded projects such as Metro’s 2040 grants and DLCD/ODOT’s TGM grants.  Recipients of grants. 
• Transit-Oriented Development (TOD) annual report/project profiles report 
• Employment & industrial lands  
• 2040 grants highlights update 

 
For MTAC agenda and schedule information, e-mail marie.miller@oregonmetro.gov  
In case of inclement weather or cancellations, call 503-797-1700 for building closure announcements.  

mailto:marie.miller@oregonmetro.gov


oregonmetro.gov/rtp

July 2023

How people get around shapes 
their communities and everyday 
lives. The economic prosperity 
and quality of life in greater 
Portland depend on a 
transportation system that 
provides every person and 
business with access to safe, 
reliable and affordable ways to 
get around. 

Your voice is important
The Metro Council and other 
decision-makers want to hear 
from you. From July 10 through 
Aug. 25, 2023, provide your 
feedback on the 2023 Regional 
Transportation Plan and High 
Capacity Transit Strategy. 

2023 Regional Transportation Plan

The Regional Transportation 
Plan is a blueprint that guides 
investments in for all forms of 
travel – driving, transit, biking 
and walking – and the 
movement of goods and services 
throughout the greater Portland 
region. This update to the plan 

defines how the region will 
create a safe, reliable and 
affordable transportation 
system today through 2045.

During this comment period, the 
Metro Council will ask for public 
review and comment on the 
draft policies in the 2023 
Regional Transportation Plan, 
draft strategy for high capacity 
transit and the projects 
recommended by transportation 
agencies to address the region’s 
significant and growing 
transportation needs.

High Capacity Transit Strategy 

High capacity transit is public 
transportation that moves a lot 
of people quickly and often, such 
as light rail or bus rapid transit. 

The purpose of the High 
Capacity Transit Strategy is to 
provide a coordinated vision and 
a set of policies to make transit 
service faster and more reliable 
for more people in the greater 
Portland region. 

Public comment opportunity - July 10 to Aug. 25, 2023

2023 Regional Transportation Plan 
Your input will help guide decision-makers as they work together to finalize the policies,  
strategies and projects that will shape Greater Portland’s transportation system through 2045. 

 
Share your thoughts
There are a variety of ways to comment.

Take the online survey or use the 
online comment form  
oregonmetro.gov/rtp

Write a letter  
Metro Planning  
600 NE Grand Ave Portland,  97232

Email  
transportation@ oregonmetro.gov

Call 
503-797-1750

503-797-1804 TDD

Comment at a Metro Council 
public hearing

10:30 a.m. on July 27 or Sept. 28, 2023

Metro Council meets in person at 
Metro Regional Center, 600 NE 
Grand Ave., Portland, 97232 and 
online via Zoom. 

Visit www.oregonmetro.gov/council.

To request language or other 
accommodations contact: 
transportation@ oregonmetro.gov 
503-797-1750

https://www.oregonmetro.gov/public-projects/2023-regional-transportation-plan
https://www.oregonmetro.gov/public-projects/2023-regional-transportation-plan
https://www.oregonmetro.gov/public-projects/2023-regional-transportation-plan/transit
https://www.oregonmetro.gov/public-projects/2023-regional-transportation-plan/transit
https://www.oregonmetro.gov/public-projects/2023-regional-transportation-plan
https://www.oregonmetro.gov/regional-leadership/metro-council


oregonmetro.gov/rtp

PUBLIC REVIEW DRAFT
2023 REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION PLAN

Executive Summary
July 10, 2023

http://oregonmetro.gov/rtp


Metro is the federally mandated metropolitan 
planning organization (MPO) designated by the 
Governor of Oregon to develop an overall 
transportation plan and to allocate federal 
funds for the region. 

The Joint Policy Advisory Committee on 
Transportation (JPACT) is a 17-member 
committee that provides a forum for elected 
officials and representatives of agencies 
involved in transportation to evaluate 
transportation needs in the region and to make 
recommendations to the Metro Council. The 
established decision-making process assures a 
well-balanced regional transportation system 
and involves local elected officials directly in 
decisions that help the Metro Council develop 
regional transportation policies, including 
allocating transportation funds. JPACT serves 
as the MPO board for the region in a unique 
partnership that requires joint action with the 
Metro Council on all MPO decisions.

Project website: oregonmetro.gov/rtp 

The preparation of this report was financed in 
part by the U.S. Department of Transportation, 
Federal Highway Administration and Federal 
Transit Administration. The opinions, findings 
and conclusions expressed in this report are not 
necessarily those of the U.S. Department of 
Transportation, Federal Highway Administration 
or Federal Transit Administration.

Metro respects civil rights.
Metro fully complies with Title VI of the Civil Rights 
Act of 1964 that requires that no person be excluded 
from the participation in, be denied the benefits of, 
or be otherwise subjected to discrimination on the 
basis of race, color or national origin under any 
program or activity for which Metro receives federal 
financial assistance.

Metro fully complies with Title II of the Americans 
with Disabilities Act and Section 504 of the 
Rehabilitation Act that requires that no otherwise 
qualified individual with a disability be excluded 
from the participation in, be denied the benefits of, 
or be subjected to discrimination solely by reason of 
their disability under any program or activity for 
which Metro receives federal financial assistance.

If any person believes they have been discriminated 
against regarding the receipt of benefits or services 
because of race, color, national origin, sex, age or 
disability, they have the right to file a complaint 
with Metro. For information on Metro’s civil rights 
program, or to obtain a discrimination complaint 
form, visit oregonmetro.gov/civilrights or call 
503-797-1536. 

Metro provides services or accommodations upon 
request to persons with disabilities and people who 
need an interpreter at public meetings. If you need a 
sign language interpreter, communication aid or 
language assistance, call 503-797-1700 or TDD/TTY 
503-797-1804 (8 a.m. to 5 p.m. weekdays) 5 business 
days before the meeting. All Metro meetings are 
wheelchair accessible. For up-to-date public 
transportation information, visit TriMet’s website at 
trimet.org. 

http://oregonmetro.gov/rtp


Metro is the metropolitan 
planning organization (MPO) 
designated by Congress and 
the State of Oregon, for the 
Oregon portion of the 
Portland-Vancouver urbanized 
area, serving 1.7 million people 
living in the region’s 24 cities 
and three counties. As the 
MPO, Metro formally updates 
the Regional Transportation 
Plan every five years in 
cooperation and coordination 
with the region’s cities, 
counties, the Port of Portland, 
the Oregon Department of 
Transportation, transit 
providers and other partners. 

The 2023 Regional 
Transportation Plan is 
in public review and 
will be considered for 
adoption by regional 
decision makers in 
November 2023.

18
5t

h 
A

ve

N 
Portl

and Rd

SE
24

2n
d

A v
e

N E Cornell Rd

NE Lombard St

No
rt

h 
Va

lle
y R

d

S Redland Rd

SW Bald Peak Rd

S 
Cla

ckamas River Dr

NW 
Corne

liu
s 

Pa

s s 
Rd

NE Airport  Way

SW 
N

ai
to 

Pk
w

y

SE Stark St

W Hall Blvd

SW 
H

ill
sb

or
o 

H
w

y

S Springw
ater 

Rd

SE 
12

2n
d 

A
ve

NW 
St Helens Rd

SE 

Orient Dr

SW 
Ri

ve
r R

d

SW 

H
ills

bo
ro 

Hw

y

N
E 

82
nd 

A
ve

SW Canyon Rd

NW Cornell Rd

SE Foster Rd

N 
Marine Dr

SW 
Wilsonville 

Rd

SE Division St

SE Sunnyside Rd

SW Beaverton Hillsdale Hwy

SW Borland Rd

E Burnside St

Scholls Ferr y Rd

SW

Paci�c Hwy

N 
Interstate 

Ave

Farm ington Rd

SW 
M

ur
r a

y 
Bl

vd

Sunset Hwy

Boones 

Fe
rry 

Rd

NE Arndt Rd

Powell Blvd

NE Sandy Blvd

  

C
LA

C
K
A
M
A
S

WASHINGTON

Y
A
M
H
IL
L

MARION

CLACKAMAS

W
A
S
H
IN

G
TO

N
W
A
S
H
IN

G
TO

N
C
LA

C
K
A
M
A
S

W
A
S
H
IN

G
TO

N

M
U
LT

N
O
M
A
H

CLARKMULTNOMAH

YAMHILL

MULTNOMAH
CLACKAMAS

MULTNOMAH

CLACKAMAS

212

S

St Johns 

Bethany 

Tanasbourne 

Orenco 
Hollywood 

Sunset

Rockwood

Hillsdale 

Lents

Pleasant 
Valley West Portland 

Lake Grove 

Gateway 

Washington 
Square 

St Johns 

Bethany 

Tanasbourne 

Orenco 
Hollywood 

Sunset

Rockwood

Hillsdale 

Lents

Pleasant 
Valley West Portland 

Lake Grove 

Gateway 

Washington 
Square 

100 100 Miles

43

99W

210

10

8

500

99E

99E       

47

30

26

26

26

26

224

217

14

14
205

205

205

84

84

5

5

5

PortlandPortland

VancouverVancouver

Forest
Grove

Camas

Troutdale

Tigard

Milwaukie

Lake
Oswego

Tualatin

Sherwood

Gladstone

West
Linn

Oregon
City

Wilsonville

Canby

Newberg

Damascus

Forest
Grove

Camas

WashougalWashougal

Troutdale

Tigard

Milwaukie

Lake
Oswego

Tualatin

Sherwood

Gladstone

West
Linn

Oregon
City

Wilsonville

Canby

Newberg

Damascus

Hillsboro

Beaverton

Gresham

Hillsboro

Beaverton

Gresham

C l a c k a m a s  R i v e
r

Banks

Burlington

North
Plains

Cornelius

Rockcreek

Oak
Hills

Cedar
Mill

Aloha

Gaston

Cedar
Hills

Maywood
Park

Raleigh
Hills

Fairview

Wood
Village

King
City

Durham

Happy
Valley

Canemah

Oak
Grove

Sauvie’s
Island
Sauvie’s
Island

Rivergrove

Johnson
City

Clackamas Boring

Barton

Orient

Eagle Creek

Redland

Willamette

Carver

Dundee

Farmington

West 
Union

Murray/Scholls

Sta�ord

Sandy

Estacada 

Banks

Burlington

North
Plains

Cornelius

Rockcreek

Oak
Hills

Cedar
Mill

ParkroseParkrose

Aloha

Gaston

Cedar
Hills

Maywood
Park

Raleigh
Hills

Fairview

Wood
Village

King
City

Durham

Happy
Valley

Canemah

Oak
Grove

Rivergrove

Johnson
City

Clackamas Boring

Barton

Orient

Eagle Creek

Barlow

Redland

Willamette

Carver

Dundee

Farmington

West 
Union

Murray/Scholls

Sta�ord

Sandy

Estacada 

C
o

l u
m

b
i a  R i v e r

C
o

l u
m

b
i a  R i v e r

W
i l l a m

e t t e  R i v e r

C l a c k a m a s  R i v e
r

T u a l a t i n  R i ve r

C o l u m b i a  R i v e r

C o l u m b i a  R i v e r

W
i l l a m e t t e  R i ve r

V a n c o u v e r
L a k e

Tu a l a t i n  R i v e r

S

a n d y  R i ve r

S

a n d y  R i ve r

Cities, counties and locations of the Greater Portland region

O R E G O N

WA S H I N G TO N

Date: 06/18/23

Urban growth 
boundary

County boundary



There are a variety of ways to 
comment.

Take the online survey or use the online 
comment form

oregonmetro.gov/rtp

Write a letter

Metro Planning  
600 NE Grand Ave  
Portland, OR 97232

Email

transportation@oregonmetro.gov

Call

503-797-1750 
503-797-1804 TDD

Comment at a Metro Council 
public hearing

10:30 a.m. on July 27 or Sept. 28, 2023 
Metro Council meets in person at 
Metro Regional Center, 600 NE 
Grand Ave., Portland, 97232 and 
online via Zoom.

Visit www.oregonmetro.gov/council

To request language or other 
accommodations contact 
transportation@oregonmetro.gov or 
503-797-1750.

Share your thoughts July 10 - Aug. 25, 2023, comment on the 

Comment on the Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan 
and High Capacity Transit Strategy from July 10 - Aug. 25, 2023. Your input 
will help guide decision-makers as they work together to finalize the 
policies, strategies and projects that will shape Greater Portland’s 
transportation system through 2045.

Click here to provide 
your feedback with a 
brief survey or online 
comment form

mailto:transportation%40oregonmetro.gov?subject=
mailto:transportation%40oregonmetro.gov?subject=
https://www.oregonmetro.gov/public-projects/2023-regional-transportation-plan/public-comment


1Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan  |  EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

How people get around shapes their communities and 
everyday lives. The economic prosperity and quality of life 
in greater Portland depend on a transportation system that 
provides every person and business with access to safe, 
reliable and affordable ways to get around.
The 2023 Regional Transportation Plan (RTP) identifies urgent and long-term 
transportation needs, investments to meet those needs and the funds the 
region expects to have available through 2045. The policies in the plan provide 
guidance for transportation providers that design and manage roadways, 
transit and trails. These agencies include cities, counties, the Oregon 
Department of Transportation, transit agencies and the Port of Portland. 

The region’s transportation needs far outweigh available resources. More 
funding and continued collaboration to prioritize investments are critical to 
meeting the region’s goals.  

Table of contents

Introduction   1

Input from across the region 3

Regional context   5

RTP vision and goals  10

Project list overview  11

Plan outcomes   17

Funding outlook   33

Implementation strategies 35

Local and regional plans  
and programs   39 



2 Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan  |  EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

How was the plan developed?
Every five years, Metro brings together communities across the greater Portland region to 
update the region’s shared vision and investment strategy for transportation. Since Fall 2021, 
Metro worked with members of the public, policymakers and community and business 
leaders to update the region’s shared transportation vision and investment strategy through 
2045. There were thousands of individual touch points through public engagement activities 
and engagement with agency partners.  

What does the plan do?
The plan includes new approaches for addressing mobility and prioritizing investments to 
advance transportation mobility, safety, equity, economic and climate goals. The goals, 
policies, projects and strategies in this plan also address federal, state and regional planning 
requirements based on shared regional values and outcomes, including implementation of the 
2040 Growth Concept.

This plan will help to:

• Restore and grow transit service coverage to build the next generation of frequent, 
reliable and connected transit throughout the region.

• Advance major projects on the region’s interstate highways and bridges.

• Increase affordable travel options, prioritizing completing gaps in biking and walking 
connections in equity focus areas and near transit to provide safe streets for the most 
vulnerable travelers. 

• Improve safety, reliability and mobility for people and goods.

• Reduce emissions to meet our climate and air quality goals. 

• Move us closer to the region’s transportation vision. 

However, more work and funding are urgently needed.



3Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan  |  EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

INPUT FROM ACROSS THE REGION

Connecting and collaborating
The 2023 Regional Transportation Plan was developed with guidance from Metro Council and 
the Joint Policy Advisory Committee on Transportation with support from advisory 
committees including The Metro Policy Advisory Committee, the Transportation Policy 
Alternatives Committee, the Metro Technical Advisory Committee and Committee on Racial 
Equity. Integral to this decision-making process were timely opportunities for the public to 
provide input. 

The 2023 RTP brings together the input of thousands of people who live, work and travel 
across the greater Portland region. Meaningful engagement and consultation with Tribes, 
community members, community-based organizations, businesses, transportation agencies 
and elected officials contributed to a shared vision and strategy for investing in a 
transportation system that serves everyone. Engagement activities centered historically 
underrepresented communities, including people of color, youth and people with limited 
English proficiency.

Since October 2021, numerous 
groups have gathered to help shape 
the RTP.

14  Joint Policy Advisory Committee on 
Transportation meetings 

19  Metro Council meetings/workshops

6  JPACT/Metro Council workshops

35  Transportation Policy Alternatives 
Committee/Metro Technical Advisory 
Committee meetings and workshops

4  consultation meeting with federals, 
state and resource agencies

6  consultation meetings with Tribes 

2  business forums

3  community leaders forums

7  community based organizations 
engaging 300+ community members

3  Metro Committee on Racial Equity 
meetings 

6  high capacity transit working group 
meetings

3  online surveys with 3,447 participants

41  stakeholder interviews

4  forums held in Spanish, Chinese, 
Vietnamese and Russian

1  focus group with people with limited 
English proficiency 

"There needs to be heated covered areas 
and seats in public transportation services; 
people have kids and groceries to take 
home during varying weather conditions." 
CENTRO CULTURAL PARTICIPANT

“I’m so glad we have this opportunity to be here and 
voice our opinion. I always wondered how we got 
money for this type of development, but now things 
are more clear to me and it is good that federal 
money is being used for a good cause.”  
CENTRO CULTURAL PARTICIPANT 

“Bus stops need to be on sidewalks 
that are accessible, it is hard to get 
off the bus if you are using a wheel 
chair and there is no even sidewalk.”  
UNITE OREGON PARTICIPANT 

CIick here to learn more about the priorities of 
community members and other stakeholders

https://www.oregonmetro.gov/public-projects/2023-regional-transportation-plan/engagement


4 Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan  |  EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

What have we heard?
Members of the public have shared their 
transportation needs and priorities through 
online surveys, forums and events hosted by 
community based organizations. The people 
of the greater Portland region want safe, 
affordable and reliable transportation – no 
matter where they live, where they go each 
day or how they get there. 

Safety is the top concern. 
People are concerned about car crashes 
while walking and biking. They are also 
concerned about personal safety in relation 
to hate crimes, harassment, violence and 
people’s unpredictable behavior. These 
especially are concerns for people using 
transit. People want to see more investment 
in lighting, safe places to walk and roll, 
improved transit stops and security, that are 
not police, in and around transit. 

Climate action and resilience are 
important. 
Community members point to major RTP 
projects that do not do enough to reduce 
greenhouse gas emissions. People are 
concerned about transportation’s impact on 
clean air and ecosystems and want to see 
investment in transit, walking and biking. 
Community members also express concern 
about how the transportation system will 
adapt to climate change, especially for 
community members who are most 
vulnerable to extreme weather.

Investing in transit service is a priority. 
Communities across the greater Portland 
region want access to transit that gets them 
where they need to go in a reasonable 
amount of time. Community members want 
transit that is accessible, affordable, efficient 
and frequent.

Maintain the transportation system. 
Maintaining streets and sidewalks and 
making needed repairs is a priority. Buses 
and MAX cars need to be maintained to feel 
safe and comfortable. 

Invest in safe and accessible places to 
walk/roll. 
Community members highlighted that 
many parts of the region need more 
sidewalks, and all sidewalks need to be ADA 
accessible. Community members stress the 
importance of making routes to transit stops 
and stations accessible. 

Invest in communities. 
Many communities want to see relatively 
small-scale investments in infrastructure, 
including local road connections and safety 
improvements such as lighting and 
improved crossings.

The public comment  
period for the RTP is  
July 10 - August 25, 2023.

CLICK HERE TO SUBMIT 
YOUR COMMENTS

https://www.oregonmetro.gov/public-projects/2023-regional-transportation-plan/public-comment


5Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan  |  EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

REGIONAL CONTEXT 

The greater Portland region continues 
to grow and change.
Communities across greater Portland have a history of collaboration and 
innovation to manage growth and infrastructure across jurisdictional 
boundaries.

Because of the region’s dedication to planning and working together to 
make local and regional plans a reality, the region has set a wise course for 
managing growth – but times are challenging. We are at pivotal moment. 
The impacts of climate change, generations of systemic racism, economic 
inequities, housing affordability, and the pandemic have made clear the 
need for action. The greater Portland region continues to grow, technology 
is changing quickly and our roads and bridges are aging. There is a need for 
new kinds of leadership, innovation and thoughtful deliberation and action 
to ensure the region remains a great place to live, work and play for 
everyone.

In collaboration with city, county, state, business and community leaders, 
Metro has researched how land use and transportation policies and 
investments can be leveraged to respond to these complex and interrelated 
challenges at a regional scale.

1910

1940

1960

2000

2010

2020

Sources: Historic Metropolitan Planning Commission Maps, NOAA CCAP Landcover

1910

1940

1960

2000

2010

2020

Sources: Historic Metropolitan Planning Commission Maps, NOAA CCAP Landcover

1910

1940

1960

2000

2010

2020

Sources: Historic Metropolitan Planning Commission Maps, NOAA CCAP Landcover

Change in urban land cover in the greater Portland region: 1910-2020

SOURCE: Historic Metropolitan Planning Commission Maps, NOAA CCAP Landcover



6 Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan  |  EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

The region is forecasted to grow 
significantly between now and 
2045. During that time, the region’s 
population is anticipated to grow 
by 29 percent, while employment 
grows by 23 percent.

Though the COVID-19 pandemic slowed 
population and job growth in the greater 
Portland region and in many other major 
metro areas, this growth is expected to pick 
up again in the future. More than one-half 
million more people will be living here by 
2045. Population and employment growth 
has a strong influence on congestion, and 
therefore on related performance measures 
such as access to jobs and corridor travel 
times. The region’s goals include improving 
access to jobs and reducing travel times on 
key corridors regardless of how much 
growth occurs. All other things being equal, 

Population by race and ethnicity in the 
seven-county region, 2000 and 2020

 White   Black  Asian & Pacific Islander   
 Latine  Native American   Other

2.6%

4.8%

7.4%

0.8%
2.8%

81.6%

18.4%

2000

27.5%

2.7%

7.3%

12.2%

0.5%

4.8%

202072.4%

these goals are harder to achieve when the 
region is growing rapidly. Comparing the 
change in access to jobs and travel time 
reduction to overall population and 
employment growth can help to distinguish 
whether growth or other issues are the 
driving factors behind the changes. 

Recent demographic changes 
The region continues to grow more racially 
and ethnically diverse. The share of 
residents who identify as people of color has 
steadily increased over the past several 
decades; from less than 1 percent in 1960 to 
28 percent in 2020. Between 2000 and 2020, 
the share of residents in greater Portland 
who identify as people of color grew from 18 
percent to 28 percent.

SOURCE: 2020 US Census data



7Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan  |  EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

How workers move around the region
As the greater Portland region continues to grow into a major 
metropolitan area, with increasing housing prices and a more 
specialized economy, commute patterns are becoming more complex. 
Over 45 percent of workers in the three Metro-area counties work in 
a different county than where they live. Multnomah County sees the 
largest inflow of commuters, and though there has been some 
growth in commutes into the region from outside communities, the 
majority of trips in the region continue to be between Multnomah, 
Washington and Clackamas Counties. Most of the longer-distance 
commute trips shown below are currently made by car. As the region 
grows, frequent and high-capacity transit routes are needed to 
provide affordable, congestion-free commute alternatives. 

34%
Leave

46%
Leave

49%
Leave

52%
Leave

48%
Stay

51%
Stay

54%
Stay

66%
Stay

Multnomah County

Washington County

Clark County (WA)

Clackamas County

Columbia

Marion

Yamhill

Multnomah County
456,515 daytime population total

Washington County
270,016 daytime population total

Clackamas County
145,577 daytime population total

Clackamas County
125,233 daytime population total

Origin Destination

Commuting patterns in the greater Portland region

Jobs and growth
Before 2011, the region generally experienced higher 
unemployment rates than the national average, particularly during 
recessions (). But since 2011, the region has consistently had lower 
unemployment rates than the rest of the country (). In the 
Portland region and nationwide, the COVID-19 pandemic triggered 
an exceptional recession, which receded much more quickly than 
prior recessions ().

2%

4%

6%

8%

10%

12%

2000
2005

2010 2015
2020

2022

United States
Portland MSA

U
ne

m
pl

oy
m

en
t R

at
e

Year






Unemployment rate in the greater Portland region vs. the U.S., 2000-22

SOURCE: 2019 Longitudinal Employer-Household Dynamics

SOURCE: 2022 Bureau of Labor Statistics



8 Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan  |  EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Implementing the region’s land use vision 
In 1995, the greater Portland region adopted the 2040 Growth Concept. 
The long-range plan for managing growth integrates land use and 
transportation system planning to preserve the region’s economic 
health and livability in an equitable, environmentally-sound and fiscally-
responsible manner. 

The 2023 Regional Transportation Plan is a key tool for implementing the 2040 Growth 
Concept. The Growth Concept includes land use and transportation building blocks that 
express the region’s aspiration to incorporate population growth within existing urban areas 
as much as possible and expand the urban growth boundary only when necessary. Implicit in 
the 2040 Growth Concept is the understanding that compact development is more affordable, 
sustainable, livable and fiscally responsible than urban sprawl, and will help reduce the 
region’s carbon footprint. It concentrates mixed-use and higher density development in 
urban centers, light rail station communities, corridors and main streets that are well served 
by transit. It envisions a well-connected street network that supports biking and walking for 
short trips.

Employment lands clustered along major highways are hubs for regional commerce. These 
areas include industrial land and freight facilities for truck, marine, air and rail cargo that 
enable goods to be generated and moved in and out of the greater Portland region. Freight 
access to industrial and employment lands is centered on rail, the freeway system and other 
road connections.

Attributes of great communities 

Six desired regional outcomes for the region were 
endorsed by Metro Policy Advisory Committee and 
approved by the Metro Council in 2008. The 2023 
Regional Transportation Plan seeks to help achieve 
these outcomes.

Making 
a great 
place

Vibrant 
communities

Transportation 
choices

Economic 
prosperity

Clean air  
and water

Equity
Regional 

climate change 
leadership

https://www.oregonmetro.gov/2040-growth-concept
https://www.oregonmetro.gov/2040-growth-concept
https://www.oregonmetro.gov/2040-growth-concept


9Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan  |  EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

https://www.oregonmetro.gov/sites/default/files/2021/04/21/Concept2040_09042020.pdf


10 Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan  |  EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

2023 RTP VISION AND GOALS

Toward a transportation system that aligns 
with the region's values 
The vision and goals reflect the values and desired outcomes for the future of the region’s 
transportation system expressed by the public, decision-makers and community and 
business leaders. In 2022, JPACT and Metro Council approved a transportation vision and five 
supporting goals to guide the development of the RTP. 

In addition to the RTP vision and goals, project priorities have been informed by: public 
engagement ; adopted regional plans, strategies, policies and frameworks (see pages 35-38); 
federal and state policies and requirements; the RTP needs assessment ; the revenue 
forecast, and other research .

2023 RTP Vision 

Everyone in the greater Portland region 
will have safe, reliable, affordable, 

efficient, and climate-friendly travel 
options that allow people to choose 
to drive less and support equitable, 
resilient, healthy and economically 

vibrant communities.

Mobility Options
People and businesses can reach the jobs, 
goods, services and opportunities they need 
by well-connected, low-carbon travel options 
that are safe, affordable, convenient, reliable, 
efficient, accessible, and welcoming. 

Safe System
Traffic deaths and serious crashes are 
eliminated and all people are safe and secure 
when traveling in the region.

Equitable Transportation 
Transportation system disparities experi-
enced by Black, Indigenous and people of 
color and people with low incomes, are 
eliminated. The disproportionate barriers 
people of color, people with low incomes, 
people with disabilities, older adults, youth 
and other marginalized communities face in 
meeting their travel needs are removed.

Thriving Economy 
Centers, ports, industrial areas, 
employment areas, and other 
regional destinations are 
accessible through a variety of 
multimodal connections that 
help people, communities, and 
businesses thrive and prosper.  

Climate Action and 
Resilience
People, communities and 
ecosystems are protected, 
healthier and more resilient and 
carbon emissions and other 
pollution are substantially 
reduced as more people travel 
by transit, walking and bicycling 
and people travel shorter 
distances to get where they 
need to go.

https://www.oregonmetro.gov/public-projects/2023-regional-transportation-plan/engagement
https://www.oregonmetro.gov/public-projects/2023-regional-transportation-plan/engagement
https://www.oregonmetro.gov/sites/default/files/2022/11/29/2023-RTP-Needs-Assessment-fact-sheets.pdf
https://www.oregonmetro.gov/public-projects/2023-regional-transportation-plan/research


11Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan  |  EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

RTP project lists

The RTP brings city, county, regional and 
state priority transportation projects 
together to create a coordinated regional 
transportation priority list for the period 
from 2023 to 2045. It is a key step for these 
projects to qualify for potential state and 
federal funding.  All types of projects are 
included in the Regional Transportation Plan 
list – highways, roads, transit, freight, biking 
and walking as well as programs. The 
current list includes 1,067 projects.

The RTP contains three project lists: the 
2030 Project List, the 2045 Project List, and 
the 2045 Strategic List. Together, the 2030 
and 2045 project lists comprise the 
“financially constrained” projects, which 
refers to all the projects that can be built by 
2045 within the constraints of expected 
funding availability.

PROJECT LIST OVERVIEW

What projects are in the 2023 RTP? 
There are two ways to explore the 2023 RTP Project lists: an interactive map and a database.

PROJ EC T 
LI S T2030 

Projects that can be built by 2030 
with funds the region currently 
expects to have available.

PROJ EC T 
LI S T2045 

Projects that can be built by 2045 
with funds the region currently 
expects to have available.

STRATEGIC 
LI S T2045 Projects on the 2045 strategic list 

do not yet have identified funding.

The project map shows locations for 
projects with dots colored by 
investment category and scaled to 
project cost range. Click on any dot 
to see project details and zoom in to 
see the project location extent on the 
map. 

The project database allows you to 
filter and sort the project list using 
numerous parameters. For instance, 
you can view projects by investment 
category, project location, and goal 
area performance.

CIick here to view 2023  
RTP Interactive Project Map

CIick here to view 2023 
RTP Project Database

https://airtable.com/shrE3wFe9bla5ghTM
https://arcg.is/09LHnu
https://airtable.com/shrE3wFe9bla5ghTM
https://arcg.is/09LHnu


12 Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan  |  EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

YA
M

H
I L

L
C

O
.

C
LA

C
K

A
M

A
S

C
O

.

YAMHILL CO.

W ASHINGTON CO.

CLACKAM AS CO.

MULTNOMAH CO.

CLARK CO.MULTNOMAH CO.

M
U

LT
N

O
M

A
H

C
O

.

W
A

S H
IN

G
T O

N
C

O
.

MULTNOM
A

H
C

O
.

W
ASHINGTON

CO.

NE Sandy Blvd

NE
Co

rn
el

iu
sP

as
sR

d

PacificAve

NW
 18

5t
h 

Av
e

NLombardSt

NE
 18

1s
t A

ve

NE Marine Dr

NE Marine Dr

NE
12

2n
d

Av
e

SE Powell Blvd

NW
Gl

en
co

e
Rd

N 
St

at
e 

St

NW Cornell Rd

NW
M

ur
ra

y B
lvd

SE Foster Rd

E Burnside St

N Portla
nd

 Rd

SESunnybrook Blvd
SE82ndDr

SE Division St

SESunnyside Rd

SW
Sta

ffo rd
Rd

NE Glisan St

NW
St Helens Rd

NW
St Helens Rd

Borland Rd

N 
Co

lle
ge

 S
t

SW Scholls
Ferry

Rd

SE
 10

th
 A

ve

S
1s

tA
veB 

St

Front St

NW
 M

ai
n 

St

SW Farmington Rd SW
Riverside

Dr

S SpringwaterRd

NE 25th St

E HancockSt
E 1st St

SE
 12

2n
d 

Av
e

NE Lombard St

S 
St

at
e 

St

N
De

nv
er

Av
e

NE Cornell Rd

NE
 2

42
nd

 D
r

NW Bridge Ave

SWGastonRd

SWTualatinSherwoodRd

KruseWay

Sta
ffo

rd 
Rd

S
Beavercreek

Rd

SE Stark St

S
E Stark St

E 
St

NE AirportWay

SWDurhamRd

N 
1s

t A
ve

SWOak St

Su
ns

et
Dr

CountryClub Rd

ve

S Henrici Rd

SWSpring
Hill Rd

GalesCreekRd

NE
SpringH

ill Rd

NWYeonAve

Burns ide
Rd

SW
Boones

Fe
rry

Rd

SERiver Rd

SE
Ho

ga
n

Rd

SW

RiverRd

NW
Gales Creek

Rd

SW Unger Rd

SE
 2

42
nd

 A
ve

S W

LaurelwoodRd

N E Wilsonville
Rd

Willamette Falls
Dr

SWBald Peak Rd

SW DixonMill Rd

S Redland Rd

S
Cl

ac
ka

masRiver Dr

NE
North

Valley
Rd

SE Blu� RdSE Orient 

Powell Blvd

Camas

Cornelius

Estacada

Fairview

Gladstone

Happy 
Valley

Milwaukie

Newberg

Sherwood

Tigard

Troutdale

Tualatin

Washougal

Wilsonville

Beaverton
Gresham

Hillsboro

Portland

Vancouver

Forest Grove

West
Linn

Oregon
City

Lake
Oswego

Camas

Cornelius

Estacada

Fairview

Gladstone

Happy 
Valley

Milwaukie

Newberg

Sherwood

Tigard

Troutdale

Tualatin

Washougal

Wilsonville

Beaverton
Gresham

Hillsboro

Portland

Vancouver

Forest Grove

West
Linn

Oregon
City

Lake
Oswego

Recommended by transportation agencies, the financially constrained projects are the highest 
priority projects given limited transportation funding and qualify for regional, state and federal 
funding. This list of projects includes projects with dedicated funding and projects that can be 
implemented with the funds the region currently expects to have available through 2045.

These projects have been prioritized into two investment time frames: 
2023-2030 and 2031-2045.
For more information and to access an interactive online map, visit h�ps://arcg.is/09LHnu

2023 Regional Transportation Plan
Financially Constrained projects 2023-2045

Source: 2023 RTP
Capital projects in the 2023 Regional Transportation Plan range from $2 million to$6 billion     

06/28/23

The costs are for capital projects only and do not include transit service operations or costs to operate and 
       maintain the regional transportation system.

Metropolitan Planning Area

Interstate Bridge
Replacement

$1 - $10 M
$10 - $24 M
$25 - $99 M
$100 M - $1 B
Over $1 B

Biking and walking

Transit capital

Throughways

Freight access

Information and
technology   

Roads and bridges 

2023-2030 2031-2045

= 1 project

TOTAL NUMBER OF PROJECTS:  709
COST OF PROJECTS:  $25.5 billion

0 2 4 Miles

12079

12269

11977 12284

12018

12299

12232

12086

11779

12243

11468
11475

10760

11932

11381

11931

12090

10087

10866

12068

12106

12059

12193
10035

11301

11607

11622

12251

11187

12074

11617

12252

10128

12318

10464

10389

10394

1222511297

10386

10401

11300

10466

11848

11299

10593

10591

11577

10159

10354

11967

11813

10234

10206

12123 12122

10701

11966

12110

10811

10003

10097

11542

12108

11452

11454

11271

10041

12320

12319

12198

10522

10421

10468

10471

10069
11074

11683

10512

10527

10492

10203

10465

12214

12317

11993

12217

11824

12237

11396

11613

11171

11936

11186

12206

10029

10050

10124

1004710120

11545

11501

11506

12265

10022

11499

11500

11755

11748

10148
11546

11827

10043

11991

11764

11555

12201

10133
11990

10092

12200

11776

12067
12058

12066

12069

12065

12061

12001

11431

12057

11578

11229

10611

11089

12149
12151

12150

11384

10567

11489

11427

11408

11402

11404

10744

11998

11480
10577

12179

11739
10595

12180

11481

10743

12181

12184

11484

10716
10717

10691
11989

10738 11428

10612

11419

11430

11911

10560

11394

11239

11988
11441 11925

12062

11245

10585
10586

10548

11459

10609

10610
10819

10823

10613

10614

12132

10618

12137

10579

12140

11276

11890

11906

12188

10784

11464

10569

10575

10563
11165

10578

11249

10571
11166 11451

11476

10549

11466

11163 11905

11471

10589

11644

11642

11643

11806
11796

10219

11940

12238

12230 12218

11821

10180
10301

10188

12091

10280

11825

10205

10204

12231

1181811869
11984

11820

10279

11816

11351

11135

10076

10070

11947

11756

11754

12103

11810

10127

10119

11891
10144

11772

10014

10018

12205

11830

11420

11692

12168

12044

10706

11223

12003

10545

10805

12148

11814

11850

11808

11865

11792

11815

10266

11804

11831

11829

1181710273

10186

11782
10237

11788

11767

1167011668

12300

12292

12152

11803

12171

10846

11646

11950

11220

11948

11961

11852

10346

11837

11632

10338

10376

11864

11812

10373

11491

11974

11791

10312

11609

10009

10669

12064

10663

12063

11833

11937

11943 12244

10382

11462

12088

10682

11921

12154

10692

11962

11753

11243

11942

1077311973

11907

11971

12107

12155

12156

12128

12052

11487

10588

12249

10000

10000

10166

10243

10244

10268

10272
10274

10286
10287

10327

10331

10337

10375

10469

10498

10498

10674

10802

11045

11197

11537

11537
11537

11539

11780

11787

11789

11800

11801

11805

11807

11828

11851

11877

11896 12009

12073

12100

12234

11465

11737

11738

11886

10607

12209

12133

12182

12312

12024

10988

10855

11331

12087

11599

12283

11621

12271

12211

11127

12221

11343

11933

12258

11531

10605
10608 11922

10849

11316

12131
10922

11176
10867

10033

10890
11082

10094

11540

11541

10026

12071

11586

10388

10399 12223

12222 10385

12030

10437
12109

10151

10806

12075

10646

10810

12101

10102

11624

11533

10096

11535
10095

11954

10099

10434

11676

12219

12262

10454

10425

10533

12220

1204211762

12095

12304

1184910198

11823

11860

10318

11612

11935

11081

11522

11494

11350

12089

11184

12195

11504

11503
12203

10129

12264

11183

11904

11305

11304

10271
11862

12305
11777

11554 12199
12196

10156
11773

11775

11946

11272

10853

11914

11915
11919

10718 10745
11426

10699

11440
12032

11458

11917

11275
11277

11388

10818

12104

11918

10825

11477

10564
11916

12187

11246

10838

10821

1195910250

11843

12311

12321

10311

10315

10307

11786
11854

12212

12213

12207

10284

11996

10330

10447

11845

10766 11346
11217

10302

12183

10565

10755

12192

11463

12053

11842

10584

10592

11470

12267

10321

10546

12266

12261

11581

11233

11096

11525

12202

10220

10440

12186

12189

12099

11742

11969

12204

11520

10024

10309

11826

10707

12127

11847

10299

10341

11858

10259

10779

10319

1164710320

10232

11856

11855

11242

10101

11758

11747

12029

10123

11746

10664

12125

12043

11405

12121

12035

12034

12027

11844

11888

11211

11589

11900

11811
12135

12136

12004

11641

11640

10340

12293

11602

12033

12322
10112

12028
11319

10436

12301

11834 11868

11674
11673

11684

12046

10670

11920

11892

11893

11752

10553

11170

12138

12142
12144

11386

10620

12157

12129

10054

10164

10182

10328

10336

10473 10511

11182

11207

11208

11320

11375

11380

11390

11514

11570

11661
11667

11741

1176111783

11797

11840

11841

11841
11841

11841

11841

11841
11841

11841
11841

11841

11846

11859

12120
12120

12120

12120

12197
12197

12197
12197

11766

10362

11422

11169

11763
11774

10441

12167

12170

12173

12253

Walking + Biking

Investment 
Categories

Transit Capital

Roads + Bridges

Throughways

Freight  Access

I-5 IBR Program

Info + Technology

294 projects

202 projects

119 projects

68 projects

19 projects

$3 – $10MUnder $3M
Project cost 
[year-of-expenditure $]

$10 – $25M $25 – $100M $100M – $1B Over $1B

$6B

$1.3B

$1.2B

I-5 Interstate 
Bridge 
Replacement 
Program

I-5 Rose 
Quarter 
Project: 
($338M) + 
($975M)

I-205 
Widening & 
Toll Project:  
($95M) + 
($1.2B)



13Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan  |  EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

The 2023 RTP includes over $68 billion in 
transportation investments. 
This spending represents 771 projects (58 operations and maintenance projects and 713 capital 
projects) expected to happen between now and 2045. Capital projects make up 37 percent of 
the total constrained project list (see next page). Operations and maintenance comprise the 
remaining 63 percent. Spending figures are in year-of-expenditure (YOE) dollars. 

NOTES: 

1. Year of Expenditure $ represent current 
year costs inflated to a projected cost for 
the year of expenditure.

2. Totals and percentages may not add up 
due to rounding.

3. Road and bridge projects include street 
reconstructions, new street connections 
and widening, and throughway 
overcrossings with designs that support 
walking and biking to provide mobility 
and access for all modes of travel.

4. Freight access projects improve 
access and mobility for national and 
international rail, air and marine freight 
to reach destinations within the region’s 
industrial areas and to the regional 
throughway system.

5. City/county totals do not sum to regional 
totals because many RTP projects cross 
county lines. Where this is the case, 
the entire project cost is included in 
the totals for each county in which it is 
located.

6. The I-5 Interstate Bridge Replacement 
(IBR) Program is reported separately 
due to the overall cost and mix of 
investments that would be constructed 
as part of the project. The project would 
replace I-5/Columbia River bridges, add 
auxiliary lanes and improve interchanges 
on I-5, extend light rail transit from Expo 
Center to Vancouver, WA, add walking 
and biking facilities and implement 
variable rate tolling.

2023 RTP spending by investment category

$68.5B
TOTAL RTP PROJECT 
SPENDING

Transit Service  
+ Operations  33%
Transit Maintenance  7%
Throughway + Road +  
Bridge Maintenance  23%

$43.0B
OPERATIONS +  
MAINTENANCE   
SPENDING 

Walking + Biking  4%  

Transit Capital  4%  

Roads + Bridges   11% 

Throughways  8%
I-5 IBR Program  9% 

Freight Access  <1% 

Info + Technology  <1%

CAPITAL PROJECT  
SPENDING

$25.5B



14 Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan  |  EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

6/27/2023

  DRAFT CONSTRAINED PROJECT LIST   

Number and cost of capital projects 
by investment category
Road and transit operations and maintenance costs are not presented 
here. For more information about the projects and the 2023 Regional 
Transportation Plan visit: oregonmetro.gov/rtp.

Walking + 
Biking

302 projects

Transit  
Capital

43 projects

Roads + 
Bridges

279 projects

Through- 
ways

23 projects

I-5 IBR  
Program

1 project

Freight  
Access

14 projects

Info +  
Technology

47 projects

$3.1B $2.7B $7.5B $5.3B $6.0B

$381M
$573M

Project  
costs
[YOE$]

294 projects

202 projects

119 projects

68 projects

19 projects

$3M – $10MLess than $3M $10M – $25M $25M – $100M $100M – $1B More than $1B

I-5 Interstate Bridge 
Replacement Program

$6B

I-5 Rose Quarter Project: 
development and 
right-of-way ($338M) + 
construction ($975M)

$1.3B

I-205 Widening and Toll 
Project: development 
and right-of-way ($95M) 
+ construction ($1.2B)

$1.2B

Total project costs by investment category 
[in year-of-expenditure $]

Number and cost of RTP capital projects by investment category 
Approximately half of the capital projects (by number)—and 22% of capital 
spending—support walking, biking and transit. 

6/27/2023

  DRAFT CONSTRAINED PROJECT LIST   

Number and cost of capital projects 
by investment category
Road and transit operations and maintenance costs are not presented 
here. For more information about the projects and the 2023 Regional 
Transportation Plan visit: oregonmetro.gov/rtp.

Walking + 
Biking

302 projects

Transit  
Capital

43 projects

Roads + 
Bridges

279 projects

Through- 
ways

23 projects

I-5 IBR  
Program

1 project

Freight  
Access

14 projects

Info +  
Technology

47 projects

$3.1B $2.7B $7.5B $5.3B $6.0B

$381M
$573M

Project  
costs
[YOE$]

294 projects

202 projects

119 projects

68 projects

19 projects

$3M – $10MLess than $3M $10M – $25M $25M – $100M $100M – $1B More than $1B

I-5 Interstate Bridge 
Replacement Program

$6B

I-5 Rose Quarter Project: 
development and 
right-of-way ($338M) + 
construction ($975M)

$1.3B

I-205 Widening and Toll 
Project: development 
and right-of-way ($95M) 
+ construction ($1.2B)

$1.2B

Total project costs by investment category 
[in year-of-expenditure $]

Number and cost range of RTP capital projects by investment category 
Approximately half of the capital projects cost less than $10M, approximately 
half cost between $10M and $1B, and the “big three” projects—the I-5 
Interstate Bridge Replacement Program, the I-5 Rose Quarter Project, and the 
I-205 Widening and Toll Project—each cost more than $1B.

Capital projects by the 
numbers
While almost two thirds of RTP spending is devoted to 
maintaining and operating the existing transportation 
system, more than $25 billion is expected to be available to 
build 709 new projects between 2023 and 2045. The 
following charts describe how the RTP capital spending is 
allocated among different project types, sizes, and 
nominating agencies. 

$68.5B
TOTAL RTP 
PROJECT 

SPENDING

$43.0B
OPERATIONS +  
MAINTENANCE   
SPENDING 

CAPITAL PROJECT  
SPENDING

$25.5B

For more detailed information on the following major capital 
projects, see Chapter 8 of the RTP or the project websites: 

• Interstate 5 Bridge Replacement (IBR) Project 
• Sunrise Project and Sunrise Community Visioning Project 
• Southwest Corridor Project 
• I-5 Rose Quarter Improvement Project 
• I-205 Abernethy Bridge and Phase 1A Construction 
• I-205 Toll Project 
• I-5 & I-205 Regional Mobility Pricing Project 
• I-5 Boone Bridge Replacement 
• Earthquake Ready Burnside Bridge 
• 82nd Avenue Transit Project 
• Tualatin Valley Highway Transit and Development Project 

https://www.interstatebridge.org/
https://www.clackamas.us/transportation/sunrise-visioning
https://trimet.org/swcorridor/
https://www.i5rosequarter.org/
https://www.i205corridor.org/
https://www.oregon.gov/ODOT/tolling/Pages/I-205-Tolling.aspx
https://www.oregon.gov/ODOT/tolling/Pages/I-5-Tolling.aspx
https://www.oregon.gov/odot/Projects/Project%20Documents/BooneBridge_ExecutiveSummaryReport_small.pdf
https://www.multco.us/earthquake-ready-burnside-bridge
https://www.oregonmetro.gov/public-projects/82nd-avenue-transit-project
https://www.oregonmetro.gov/public-projects/tualatin-valley-highway-transit-project


15Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan  |  EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

YA
M

HI
LL

 C
O.

CL
AC

KA
M

AS
 C

O.

YAMHILL CO.M
ARIO N CO.

CLACKAMAS CO.

MARION CO.

CLACKAMAS CO.

MULTNOMAH CO.

CLARK CO.MULTNOMAH CO.

MULTNOMAH
CO.

W
ASHINGTON CO.

SW
Hall Blvd

NE Sandy Blvd

NE Lombard St

SW Farm
ington Rd

N Lombard St

NE
 82

nd
 A

ve

NE Marine Dr

SE Powell Blvd

SE Stark St

SE Foster Rd

N Marine Dr

SW
Barbur Blvd

SW
Staffo

rd
Rd

NW
St Helens Rd

NECornell Rd

B 
St

S Springwater Rd

SM
acAdam

Ave

SE
 12

2n
d 

Av
e

NE Arndt Rd

S

Beavercreek

Rd

NE Airport Way

NW
Co

rn
eli

us
Pa

ss
Rd

S Henrici Rd

SW
S pringHill Rd

NE 58th St

SW
Riv

er
Rd

SW Unger Rd

SE
 24

2n
d 

Av
e

SW Bald Peak Rd

S Redland Rd

NE

Wilsonv ille Rd

NE North Valley Rd

Camas

Canby

Cornelius

Estacada

Forest
Grove

Gladstone

Happy Valley

Lake Oswego

Milwaukie

Newberg
Oregon City

Portland

Sherwood

Tigard

Troutdale

Tualatin

Vancouver

West
Linn

Wilsonville

0 5 10 Miles 6/28/2023

Interstate Bridge Replacement and Throughways Projects
Financially Constrained Projects Urban Growth Boundary

County Boundary

Equity Focus Area

Throughways! !

2031-
2045

2023-
2030 Project Type

! Interstate Bridge
Replacement



16 Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan  |  EXECUTIVE SUMMARY



17Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan  |  EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

OUTCOMES OF THE PLAN 

How does the RTP address the region's goals?
The financially constrained project list in the 2023 Regional 
Transportation Plan was analyzed to understand the plan's impact on 
regional goals related to mobility, safety, equity, climate and economy. 

Projects in the RTP have been proposed and selected using an outcomes-based approach, 
which uses measurable objectives and performance targets. Targets are used to evaluate 
performance over time and to monitor how the transportation system is performing 
between plan updates, which occur every five years. 

The RTP uses several different performance measures to capture the region’s progress in 
each of the goal areas and compares the results to targets that are established through the 
state and federal rules that guide the RTP. The system analysis uses Metro’s travel model 
and other analytical tools. The analysis accounts not only for the projects and policies in 
the RTP, but also for factors such as projected population and job growth. 

The system analysis results are described alongside key takeaways from the high-level 
project list assessment. This assessment considered whether individual planned projects 
have certain features that support RTP goals. 

Note: Unless otherwise noted, data from the following charts and figures is from the Metro 
Research Center.



18 Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan  |  EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Mobility
The RTP aims to provide people 
and businesses with affordable, 
convenient, sustainable, and 
safe connections to destinations. 
The RTP has many different 
performance measures related 
to mobility. For some of these 
measures the RTP meets 
performance targets, and for other 
measures it falls short.

The RTP increases transit and multimodal 
travel, but does not meet the region’s 
targets to triple transit, walking and 
bicycling mode share. 

 
 
 

Metro’s travel models forecast that the 
investments in the RTP help to increase the 
share of trips that people make by taking 
transit, walking and biking, but only by 
small amounts. Transit mode share is 
forecasted to grow by 1.3 percent between 
2020 and 2045. This is a relative increase of 
more than 30 percent, which is significant, 
but still short of adopted targets. Walking 
and bicycling mode shares increase by much 
smaller amounts than transit mode shares. 

The RTP generally improves access to jobs. 

Generally, the investments in the RTP help 
keep both roads and transit vehicles moving 
more efficiently, which increases access to 
jobs. The percentage of the region’s jobs that 
are accessible by transit increases between 
2020 and 2030 and then starts to decline 
between 2030 and 2045. Increasing 
congestion near some job centers appears to 

contribute to declining motor vehicle access 
to jobs in the later years of the plan. 

Driving currently offers much better 
access to jobs than transit does, and the 
RTP does not change this even though it 
improves access to jobs via transit. 

The RTP improves access to jobs via transit 
more than it does access to jobs via driving. 
However, driving currently offers access to 
five to ten times as many destinations as 
transit, depending on when and where you 
are traveling. The RTP does not change the 
fact that driving offers much better access 
than transit in greater Portland. In order to 
give people the ability to choose from a 
variety of seamless and well-connected 
travel options and services that easily get 
them where they need to go, transit needs to 
offer the same level of access as driving. 
Providing equal access via transit and 
driving is an aspirational goal for the greater 
Portland region – and almost any other U.S. 

Transit mode share
Pedestrian mode share
Bicycle mode share

2045 target2045 result

Regional jobs  
accessible by transit

Regional jobs  
accessible by driving

2045 target2045 result

Job accessibility  
by transit vs. by driving

2045 target2045 result



19Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan  |  EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

city – due to a decades-long history of 
auto-oriented development. But closing the 
gap between transit and driving access has 
far-reaching benefits for the region. 

None of the region’s transportation 
networks are complete, but the motor 
vehicle network is much closer than 
others. 

The RTP mobility goal supports completing 
planned motor vehicle, transit, pedestrian, 
bicycle and trail networks. None of these 
networks are complete, but the motor 
vehicle network, which will be 99 percent 
complete in 2045 when other networks are 
only 58 to 73 percent complete, is much 
closer than the other networks. Completing 
all networks in the RTP is important to 
meeting goals, but the fact that the motor 
vehicle network is so much more complete 
than others contributes to the challenge of 
providing a variety of seamless and 
connected travel choices.  Additional work is 
being completed by Metro staff to develop 
approaches for defining system 
completeness for transportation system 

management and operations (TSMO) 
network and transportation demand 
management programs.

The region has been prioritizing 
completing pedestrian and bicycle 
facilities near transit, and the RTP 
upholds this priority. 

The pedestrian and bicycle networks are 
currently more complete near transit than 
in other locations in the region, and though 
the RTP does slightly less to complete these 
networks near transit than in other parts of 

the region, they will still be more complete 
in 2045. 

The RTP meets the throughway reliability 
thresholds for throughways with traffic 
signals, but not for some limited-access 
throughways. The plan is expected to 
maintain current levels of reliability. 

The throughway performance measure and 
thresholds aim to identify future 
transportation needs on the region’s 
throughways using travel speed as a proxy 
for reliability. 

The draft policy proposes a minimum 
throughway performance threshold of no 
more than four hours per weekday with 
travel speeds below 35 miles per hour on 
"controlled access freeways" (i.e., I-5, I-84, 
I-205, I-405, US 26 and OR 217) or 20 miles per 
hour on non-freeway throughways with 
traffic signals (i.e., OR 99E, US 30, OR 212). If 

Completion of 
Motor vehicle network
Transit network
Pedestrian network
Bicycle network
Trail network

2045 target2045 result

Completion of 
Pedestrian network 
near transit
Bicycle network 
near transit

2045 target2045 result

How does the RTP invest in mobility?
Almost all of the RTP projects include design elements that support travel by walking, rolling, biking or 
transit (■). However, slightly under a third of the RTP capital spending goes toward projects that close 
gaps in regional transportation networks (■). Increasing this share could help make better progress 
toward completing the transportation system. 

Percent of capital spending that invests in:

that include priority elements (ADA-, pedestrian-, 
bicycle-, or transit-supportive design)

that complete gaps in transportation networks

that complete gaps in transportation networks and 
include priority elements

PROJ EC T 
LI S T2030 

PROJ EC T 
LI S T2045 

95% 30%

30%

90% 28%

28%



20 Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan  |  EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

W
illa

m
e
t t e

R
i v e r

Tigard

Beaverton

Camas

Vancouver

Gresham

W

il la

m
et
teRiver

W
i l l

am
e t t e

R iv
er

Wi l lamet t e
R iver

T u
al
a t
in

R
iv e

r

YA
M

HI
LL

 C
O.

CL
AC

KA
M

AS
 C

O.

YAM
HILL CO.

M
ARION CO.

YAMHILL CO.

WASHINGTON CO.

CLACKAMAS CO.

MULTNOMAH CO.

CLA
CK

AM
AS

CO
.

W
AS

HI
NG

TO
N CO.

CLARK CO.
MULTNOMAH CO.

MULTNOMAH
CO.

W
ASHINGTON CO.

SW HallBlvd

NE Sandy Blvd

NE Lombard St

Willamette Dr

SW
Farmington Rd

N Lombard St

NE
 82

nd
 A

ve

NE
 18

1st
 A

ve

NE Marine Dr

NE
 12

2n
d 

Av
e

McLoughlin

Blvd
SE Powell Blvd

NW
Gl

en
co

e R
d

SE Stark St

NW Cornell Rd

SE Foster Rd

N Marine Dr

SE 82nd Ave

SW

Wilsonville
Rd

E Burnside St

SW Barbur Blvd

N
Co l um

bia Blvd

SW
Sta

ffo

rd Rd

NE Broadway
SW Barnes Rd

NW St Helens Rd

SW BorlandRd

N 
Co

lle
ge

 St
NECornel l Rd

SW Scholls Ferr y Rd

B 
St

Front St

NW
 M

ain
 St

SE Division St

S Springwater Rd

SM
acAdam

Ave

W Powell Blvd

SW Tualatin Sherwood Rd
E S

t

SE OrientDr

A Ave

N 
1st

 A
ve

NW
Co

rn
eli

us
Pa

ss
Rd

S Henrici Rd

Baseline St

SW
S pringHill Rd

SW
25

7th
Ave

NE
Ev

er
et

tSt

NE 58th St

SE River Rd

SW

River Rd

NE
 11

7t
h 

Av
e

SW Unger Rd

SE
 24

2n
d 

Av
e

Willamet te Falls Dr

SW Bald Peak Rd

S Redland Rd

S C
lac

kamas Riv er Dr

NE North Valley Rd

Forest
Grove

Hillsboro

Wilsonville

Tigard

Oregon City

Lake
Oswego

Beaverton
Happy Valley

Gresham

Camas

Vancouver

Portland

Metro Data Resource Center              drc@oregonmetro.gov
Sou rce :  M etro  Reg i on a l  Travel  D em an d  M odel

Hours per weekday below minimum speed
Meets policy (<4 hours per day)
Does not meet policy (>4-7 hours per day)
Does not meet policy (more than 7 hours per day)
Urban Growth Boundary
County Boundary
Employment/Industrial
Central city, Regional center, Town center

7/3/2023

Throughway Speed Reliability Performance
2045 Constrainedaverage speeds fall below the applicable 

speed threshold for more than four total 
hours in a day, a system failure is indicated at 
that location and a transportation need exists.

All signalized throughways in the region are 
projected to meet this threshold, but a 
portion of the limited-access throughways 
are not. In spite of the fact that some 
throughways do not meet regional mobility 
thresholds, the RTP generally maintains 
current levels of reliability through 2045, 
with some notable exceptions along OR 217, 
US 26, and I-84. 

Reliability is generally projected to improve 
between now and 2030 as the region invests 
in projects that improve reliability, including 
strategic projects to address bottlenecks, 
pricing strategies, and multimodal 
investments such as high capacity transit, 
completing gaps in walking, biking and 
roadway networks and system management 
strategies that help to slow growth in travel 
on the region’s throughway system. 
Reliability then declines back to 2020 levels 
in 2045 due to continued population and 
employment growth.

The RTP investments help to preserve future 
throughway capacity for longer distance 
movement of goods, services and people, and 
enhance access to the region’s industrial 
areas, ports and intermodal facilities. 
However, further evaluation of future 
pricing strategies is needed to better 

understand their effect on the region’s 
parallel arterials, low-income households, 
and land use patterns to ensure that any 
unintended consequences are identified and 
addressed in design and implementation. 
Future corridor-level evaluation is also 
needed to address deficiencies and specific 
investment needs identified in this analysis. 

See Chapter 7 to see how throughway 
reliability changes over time under the RTP 
and locations that do not meet the 
throughway reliability thresholds. See 
Chapter 3 of the 2023 for the updated 
Regional Mobility Policy.

Click here to submit your comment on the 
updated Regional Mobility Policy 

https://www.oregonmetro.gov/public-projects/2023-regional-transportation-plan/public-comment
https://www.oregonmetro.gov/public-projects/2023-regional-transportation-plan/public-comment


21Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan  |  EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Safety
The region is not on track to meet 
its target of reducing fatal and 
serious injury crashes to zero by 
2035. By every safety measure that 
the RTP tracks, the greater 
Portland region’s streets are getting 
less safe. The RTP is not 
maintaining progress toward the 
2035 Vision Zero goal. 

The region’s approach to safety
In 2018, the Metro Council and Joint Policy 
Advisory Committee on Transportation 
adopted a target to reach zero traffic deaths 
and serious injuries by 2035. To achieve this 
goal, Metro and the region’s transportation 
agencies employ a Safe System approach. 
The Safe System approach aims to prevent 
the most serious crashes by holistically 
considering street design, speeds, people’s 
behavior, and vehicles. Transportation 
agencies in the region use proven safety 
countermeasures to reduce roadway 
fatalities and serious injuries, including 

speed management, medians, crosswalk 
visibility enhancements, bicycle lanes, 
sidewalks, and more. 

The guiding principles of the Safe System 
approach acknowledge that people will make 
mistakes and may have road crashes—but 
the system should be designed so that those 
crashes will not result in death or serious 
injury. 

Adopted RTP policies identify strategies and 
actions for regional partners to improve traffic 
and personal safety on the region’s roadways. 
Actions include improving arterials with 
complete streets designs, managing speeds 
for safety, investing in Safe Routes 
to Schools and increasing access to transit. 

Regional safety trends 
Research on where crashes are occurring in 
the region and who is affected by different 
types of crashes helps to explain and 
contextualize the analysis results. Key 
findings include:  

• Pedestrians experience a 
disproportionately high number of 
traffic deaths. 

• Traffic fatalities are decreasing among 
bicyclists. 

• A majority of serious crashes and bike/
pedestrian crashes occur in equity focus 
areas.

• Speed, alcohol, and/or drugs continue to 
be the most common contributing 
factors in severe and fatal crashes in the 
region. 

• Serious crashes, and particularly fatal 
pedestrian crashes, are increasing both 
in the greater Portland region and 
nationally. The growing popularity of 
SUVs and other heavier and larger 
models of passenger vehicles is 
contributing to these trends; by 2025, 
light-trucks, SUVs, vans and pickups are 
estimated to make up 78 percent of sales. 
Research indicates that crashes 
involving SUVs and similar weight 
vehicles are more likely to be serious and 
to injure or kill pedestrians and 
bicyclists. 

https://highways.dot.gov/safety/proven-safety-countermeasures
https://highways.dot.gov/safety/proven-safety-countermeasures


22 Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan  |  EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Targets and trends for annual traffic fatalities 
and serious injuries by transportation mode, 
2009-2020 regionwide

38%
of people who 
die in crashes are 
pedestrians

Being a woman and a visible Muslim 
makes it hard and unsafe. I have been 
harassed several times. We cannot 
control other people. I appreciate there 
are security officers on MAX, though.”  
UNITE OREGON PARTICIPANT 

“There needs to be a focus on making 
sure that safety is a priority before 
any further development.”  
CENTRO CULTURAL PARTICIPANT

How does the RTP invest in safety?
More than two thirds of capital funding in the RTP goes to projects that partner agencies identified as 
safety projects (■), and roughly half of the total capital budget goes toward projects that are on the 
high-injury network (■), which includes the relatively small share of roads and intersections where most of 
the serious crashes in the region occur. A smaller share of the near-term (2023-30) RTP spending is 
devoted to safety projects than of the total budget, which suggests that there may be additional 
opportunities to prioritize near-term investments in safety.

69% 37%

27%

78% 35%

25%

Percent of capital spending that invests in projects:

that help reduce serious traffic crashes or address other 
safety issues

located on high injury corridors or intersections

on high injury corridors or intersections that help reduce 
serious traffic crashes and address other safety issues

PROJ EC T 
LI S T2030 

PROJ EC T 
LI S T2045 

Percentage of all traffic crashes and traffic fatalities by mode, 2016-2020

 Motor Vehicle  Pedestrian  Bicycle  Motorcycle

All traffic 
crashes

Fatalities

2% 2% 2%
69%

41% 38% 5% 16%

Motor Vehicle

20
10

20
20

20
30

20
35

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

Av
er

ag
e 

fa
ta

lit
ie

s 
pe

r y
ea

r

Year

Trend

Annual 
fatalities and 
serious injuries

Target

Annual 
fatalities and 
serious injuries

Pedestrian

Trend

Target

0

50

100

150

200

Av
er

ag
e 

fa
ta

lit
ie

s 
pe

r y
ea

r

20
10

20
20

20
30

20
35

Year

Bicycle

Trend

Annual 
fatalities and 
serious injuries

Target

0

20

40

60

Av
er

ag
e 

fa
ta

lit
ie

s 
pe

r y
ea

r

20
10

20
20

20
30

20
35

Year

Motor vehicle

Pedestrian

Bicycle



23Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan  |  EXECUTIVE SUMMARY



24 Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan  |  EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Equity
The region’s goals are only met 
when everyone shares in the 
benefits. While the RTP seeks to 
invest equitably, these investments 
do not undo longstanding 
transportation inequities in safety 
and access to jobs. 

The RTP prioritizes "transportation 
investments that eliminate transportation-
related disparities and barriers for 
marginalized communities, with a focus on 
communities of color and people with low 
incomes.” Metro has engaged marginalized 
communities across the region to better 
understand their transportation needs. These 
communities have emphasized the need 
for fast, frequent, affordable, and reliable 
transit connections to key destinations, and 
safer walking and biking infrastructure, 
particularly near transit stops.

Many of the equity performance measures 
describe conditions in Equity Focus Areas 
(EFAs) (see map on next page), which are 
places with double the average regional 
density of people of color, people with low 
incomes, and/or people with limited English 
proficiency. 

The region’s bicycle and pedestrian 
networks are currently more complete in 
some EFAs and the RTP continues to 
invest in completing those networks. 

However, recent data show that these 
areas continue to experience three times 
the number of crashes that involve people 
walking and biking – who are particularly 
vulnerable to death and injury during 
crashes – and almost twice as many fatal and 
serious injury crashes as other parts of the 
region. 

 
 

People living in some EFAs currently have 
significantly better access to jobs via 
transit and driving than people living in 
non-EFAs. 

The RTP continues to improve access to jobs 
in these communities relative to others. 
However, despite continued efforts to grow 
transit service during this and previous RTP 
cycles, driving in general continues to offer 
much more efficient and convenient access 
to jobs than transit does. The system 
analysis shows that in 2045, 40 percent of 
regional jobs will be accessible by driving 
from an EFA, while only 11 percent of 
regional jobs will be accessible by transit.

Both community feedback and research 
emphasize that people of color and people 
with low incomes are more likely to rely on 
transit. An equitable transportation system, 
therefore, is one in which transit offers the 
same level of access to jobs as driving. 



25Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan  |  EXECUTIVE SUMMARY



26 Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan  |  EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Crashes and equity
Safety is a critical issue for marginalized 
travelers. The RTP aims to reduce crashes in 
equity focus areas to at or below the levels 
observed in other communities. A majority (65 
percent) of fatal and severe injury crashes—and 
75 percent of those crashes that involve 
pedestrians and bicyclists—are in EFAs. 
Addressing high-crash locations in these areas 
makes the transportation system safer for all 
users and makes the region more equitable.

 Bicyclist fatalities and severe injuries  
 Pedestrian fatalities and severe injuries  
 All fatalities and severe injuries

Equity 
Focus Areas

Non-Equity 
Focus Areas

Percentage of average annual traffic fatalities 
and severe injuries in EFAs and non-EFAs

System completeness by network type and geography
The RTP prioritizes completing the bicycle and pedestrian system in equity focus areas to provide safe 
streets for the most vulnerable travelers. The active transportation network is generally more complete in 
EFAs than in other communities, because they are often located in older, more walkable neighborhoods. 
However, significant portions of the network in EFAs still need to be completed for everyone in the region 
to benefit from high-quality walking and biking connections, so Metro continues to invest in these areas at 
a higher rate than other parts of the region.

25

50

75

100

25

50

75

100

Pe
rc

en
t n

et
w

or
k 

co
m

pl
et

io
n

Pe
rc

en
t n

et
w

or
k 

co
m

pl
et

io
n

2020 2030 2045
Year

2030 20452020
Year

 Pedestrian network    Bicycle network    Trail network 
 Pedestrian network near transit   Bicycle network near transit  Trail network near transit

in Equity Focus Areas in non-Equity Focus Areas

How does the RTP invest in equity?
Roughly a third of RTP spending invests in project categories that underserved people have identified as 
priorities (■), and three quarters of overall spending invests in equity focus areas (■). The share of 
spending that invests in equity focus areas is lower in the near term than in the long term.

69% 37%

27%

78% 35%

25%

Percent of capital spending that invests in:

an Equity Focus Area

a project category that underserved people have 
identified as a priority (bike, pedestrian or transit)

bike, pedestrian or transit projects that are in an 
Equity Focus Area

PROJ EC T 
LI S T2030 

PROJ EC T 
LI S T2045 

“For me, equitable transportation,  
no matter your socio-economic 
status, where you live, its all the same 
and equal. Just being inclusive with 
everyone. You can get from point A  
to point B without worrying a lot.”  
THE STREET TRUST PARTICIPANT



27Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan  |  EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Economy
RTP supports the economy by 
filling gaps in the transportation 
network and by designing the 
system for all modes of travel.

The transportation system plays a critical 
role in connecting workers to jobs, 
connecting employers to the talent that they 
need and moving goods around the region. 
Shifts in the economy often lead to changes 
in how people and goods travel through the 
region. The RTP supports the region’s 
economy by improving connections to jobs 
and responding to changing transportation 
patterns in the region.

The RTP achieves mixed results on 
regional economic goals. 

The RTP aims to decrease driving and 
transit travel times along regional mobility 
corridors. It does reduce transit travel 
times along the corridors that connect the 
region’s centers, but driving times along 
these corridors increase in the later years 
of the plan due to increased congestion. 
However, travel times increase at a much 

slower pace than the region’s population and 
employment growth (less than 4 percent 
increase by 2045, compared to 29 percent 
and 23 percent growth, respectively). This 
suggests that investments in the RTP help 
traffic move more efficiently along these 
corridors than it would otherwise given the 
pressure that new growth and new trips put 
on the transportation system. 

The RTP must complete the bicycle and 
pedestrian networks in the communities 
where jobs are located in order to help 
workers take advantage of the faster and 
more frequent transit connections that the 
RTP provides. The bicycle and pedestrian 
network is already more complete than 
average in centers, station communities and 
other mixed-use areas where many of the 
region’s office, service and other jobs are 
located. The RTP continues to prioritize 
investment in these areas. However, the 

% CHANGE IN AVERAGE OFF-PEAK / PEAK 
TRAVEL TIMES 2045 vs 2020 

Driving  +3.7% / +3.8%
Transit  –3.4% / –1.6%

“People live in rural areas where 
things are less expensive. There's 
people in rural areas of Forest Grove 
that don't have access to public 
transportation but prefer this 
because it is a lot cheaper. I'm 
thinking about all of these families 
that have to move on the outskirts of 
town to be able to afford a living.” 
CENTRO CULTURAL PARTICIPANT



28 Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan  |  EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

pedestrian and bicycle networks— 
particularly the former—are not nearly as 
complete in employment and industrial 
areas that are home to many of the region’s 
manufacturing and transportation jobs. 
Many businesses in these areas need freight 
access and ample floor space for 
manufacturing or warehousing, which can 
pose challenges to creating convenient and 
safe walking and biking environments. 
Completing these networks, however, can 
help transit riders safely and conveniently 
complete the last mile of their commutes. 

NETWORK COMPLETION IN CENTERS, STATION 
COMMUNITIES & MIXED USE AREAS

Pedestrian
Bicycle

NETWORK COMPLETION IN EMPLOYMENT  
& INDUSTRIAL AREAS

Pedestrian
Bicycle

2045 target2045 result

2045 target2045 result

How does the RTP invest in the economy?
The RTP invests heavily in projects that are located both in planned job centers (■) and in the places 
where jobs are currently concentrated (■), supporting current and planned growth.

Percent of capital spending that invests in projects:

that are located in an economic development 
priority area

located in areas with above-average job activity

located in economic development priority areas 
with above-average job activity

PROJECT 
LIST2030 

PROJECT 
LIST2045 

95% 30%

30%

90% 28%

28%

PROJECT SPOTLIGHT 

Terminal 6 Modernization

Port of Portland  
Terminal 6 in the City of Portland

The Terminal 6 Modernization project, or 
STRONGER T6, will improve and expand 
Terminal 6 — Oregon’s only marine 
shipping terminal for agricultural 
exporters. This project exemplifies the 
region’s commitment to investing in 
economic growth by focusing on priority 
areas for development and areas with 
higher-than-average job activity. This $42 
million initiative led by the Port of Portland 
involves pavement improvements to Yards 
604, 605, 606, and 607; electrical system 
upgrades; and a new stormwater 
collection system that reduces the flow of 
pollutants into the Columbia River. By 
bringing the pavement and electrical 
systems to a state of good repair, the 
project will increase cargo storage, make 
operations safer and more 
environmentally friendly, reduce terminal 
operating costs, and decrease emissions 
from electricity generation. With these 
strategic investments, the RTP invests in 
critical transportation infrastructure that 
supports the needs of businesses, 
workers, and future economic 
development.

More information about the project is 
available here .

https://prod.portofportland.com/Newsroom/Port-of-Portland-Receives-Grants-for-Terminal-6-Modernization


29Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan  |  EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Climate + Resilience
Improving transit and active 
transportation connections to 
destinations helps to achieve climate 
goals—especially when accompanied 
by programs that manage demand 
for driving.

The transportation sector is the largest 
contributor to greenhouse gas (GHG) 
emissions in Oregon. It is therefore a key 
focus of the state and region’s greenhouse gas 
reduction efforts. 

The 2023 RTP update aims to meet climate 
targets that ensure the region helps Oregon 
reach its  ambitious goals to cut transportation 
emissions. The RTP takes into account how 
significant changes like new tolls on the 
region’s throughways and changing transit 
ridership patterns will affect progress toward 
these targets. This work builds on the region’s 
Climate Smart Strategy, which establishes a 
toolkit of high- and medium-impact strategies 
to reduce regional greenhouse gas emissions. 

“We’ve seen droughts all over the 
United States, flooding. Even here in 
Oregon, we’ve had crazy heat waves 
and fires. Those definitely affected my 
life. So doing our best to make 
Clackamas County contribute 
towards less emissions and, 
therefore, less climate change is 
definitely something I want to do 
while I’m living here.”  
CLACKAMAS COUNTY YOUTH RESIDENT

“It seems like there’s going to be 
growing inequity for people who don’t 
have the money to buy an electric car. 
Use this plan to push agencies to 
convert faster, but the worry is that if 
it’s not done equitably, then that cost 
will be pushed to the most vulnerable 
people.”  
NEXT UP PARTICIPANT 

Climate Smart high- and moderate-impact 
climate pollution reduction strategies

▶ High GHG Reduction Impact

Coordinate Transportation 
and  Community Design 

Invest in Transit

Support Clean Vehicles 
and Fuels

Implement Pricing

Invest in System Management 
and Operations

▶  Medium GHG Reduction Impact

Invest in Active Transportation

Invest in Travel Information 
and Incentives



30 Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan  |  EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Vehicle miles traveled trends and 
reduction strategies
Vehicle miles traveled (VMT) per capita 
measures how many miles the average 
person in the Portland region drives each 
day. Per capita VMT in the region has been 
significantly lower than the national average 
since 1997. Over the past 25 years, there 
has been a general downward trend, with 
a few exceptions during economic booms. 
However, between 2010 and early 2020 there 
was little or no decline in VMT per capita. 

In an era when high housing costs make 
it challenging for many people to live in 
transportation-rich neighborhoods, the 
region may need to take new approaches 
(such as congestion pricing) or prioritize 
high-impact strategies (such as expanding 
frequent transit, creating more affordable 
housing in regional centers, and increasing 
the use of parking pricing parking) to 
meet ambitious greenhouse gas and VMT 
reduction targets. 

The 2023 RTP update is the first to include 
significant roadway pricing, both to manage 
demand and help finance new transportation 
projects. RTP projects include variable tolls 
on most of the I-5 and I-205 corridors within 
the region. Together, these pricing programs 
will have a significant impact on the region's 
ability to meet its climate goals. 

Throughway Pricing in the RTP 
Tolls will be collected both on the I-5 Bridge and 
I-205 Toll Projects (red dots) and in Regional 
Mobility Pricing Project corridors (orange lines).

INTERSTATE 
BRIDGE 

REPLACEMENT 
PROGRAM

I-205 TOLL 
PROJECT

RTP climate and air quality performance
The RTP uses three performance measures to 
analyze the plan’s impact on climate and air 
quality: 

• Greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions per 
capita

• Vehicle miles traveled (VMT) per capita

• Criteria pollutant emissions

The system analysis shows a 22-40 percent 
reduction in per capita GHG emissions, and a 
22-40 percent reduction in per capita vehicle 
miles traveled (both relative to 2005 levels; 
see chart on next page). The system analysis 
also shows a significant reduction in air toxic 
emissions relative to 2020, including an 84 
percent reduction in diesel particulates.

RTP CLIMATE + AIR QUALITY RESULTS:  
KEY METRICS

22-
40%

per capita GHG 
reduction (vs. 2005)*  

22-
40%

per capita VMT 
reduction (vs. 2005)*

65-
84%

criteria pollutant emission 
reduction (vs. 2020)

*Range reflects RTP investments, throughway pricing, 
as well as additional pricing and revenue mechanisms 
included in the Statewide Transportation Strategy (see 
chart on next page).



31Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan  |  EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Daily VMT per capita by Scenario 
relative to Regional Climate Target
The RTP meets state-mandated regional 
climate targets by implementing the 
projects and programs in the constrained 
RTP project list in combination with state-
led actions identified in the Oregon 
Statewide Transportation Strategy (STS) . 
There are multiple paths to meeting regional 
climate targets through a combination of 
increased pricing and other climate 
strategies including demand management, 
system management, and increased 
investment in alternatives to driving. 

How does the RTP invest in climate?
Roughly 30 percent of total RTP capital spending goes toward high- or 
moderate-impact climate pollution reduction strategies (■), with a higher 
share of these investments in the near term (32 percent) than in the long term 
(24 percent). 

How does the RTP invest in resilience?
Almost three quarters of total RTP capital spending goes toward projects 
that are located on Regional Emergency Transportation Routes or Statewide 
Seismic Lifeline Routes (■). See project map on next page.

PROJ EC T 
LI S T2030 

PROJ EC T 
LI S T2045 

32%

26%

PROJ EC T 
LI S T2030 

PROJ EC T 
LI S T2045 

72%

71%

Percent of capital spending 
invests in projects that are 
high- or moderate-impact 
climate pollution reduction 
strategies

Percent of capital spending 
invests in projects that are 
located on emergency/
seismic routes

2023 RTP + Adopted Plans 
Scenario
Includes all RTP investments 
and throughway pricing, as well 
as currently adopted plans and 
policies assumed in the STS.

Target Scenario
Includes RTP investments and 
throughway pricing as well as 
well as the amount of additional 
pricing and revenue mechanisms 
from the STS that are necessary 
to meet regional climate targets.

2023 RTP + Statewide 
Transportation Strategy Scenario
Includes RTP investments and 
throughway pricing, as well as all 
additional pricing and revenue 
mechanisms included in the STS. 

10

12

14

16

2005 2020 2045

2045 Target
(30% below 2005)

Pe
r C

ap
ita

 D
ai

ly
 V

eh
ic

le
 M

ile
s 

Tr
av

el
ed

Years

https://www.oregon.gov/ODOT/Planning/Pages/STS.aspx
https://www.oregon.gov/ODOT/Planning/Pages/STS.aspx


32 Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan  |  EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

PROJECT SPOTLIGHT 

Earthquake Ready Burnside 
Bridge

Burnside Bridge over the 
Willamette River in the  
City of Portland

The Earthquake Ready Burnside Bridge 
project makes a key transportation link in 
the region more resilient, safe, and 
sustainable. The Burnside Bridge is a 
Regional Emergency Transportation 
Route and a regionally established 
lifeline route that connects the east and 
west sides of the region. Under this 
project, Multnomah County and the City 
of Portland will rebuild the bridge as a 
seismically resilient structure, while also 
improving transit, walking, and bicycling 
travel options. 

By reinforcing this vital transportation 
route with multi-modal infrastructure, 
the $895M project ensures efficient 
emergency response capabilities during 
earthquakes or other disasters, while 
also contributing to the region’s targets 
of reducing vehicle miles traveled (VMT) 
and associated greenhouse gas 
emissions by creating more space for 
transit, bicycling and walking on the 
bridge.  

More information about the project is 
available here .

RTP investments in disaster preparedness
Several major projects in the RTP are planned to improve the region's readiness for major natural 
disasters, including earthquake-ready bridges across the Willamette (Abernethy Bridge and Earthquake 
Ready Burnside Bridge) and Columbia (Interstate Bridge Replacement Program) rivers, and improvements 
along Regional Emergency Transportation Routes and Statewide Seismic Lifeline Routes. These 
investments will help ensure that essential infrastructure will be here to serve us for generations, no 
matter what happens. 

https://www.multco.us/earthquake-ready-burnside-bridge


33Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan  |  EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

FUNDING OUTLOOK

How will greater Portland pay for transportation investments?
The 2023 Regional Transportation Plan shows that more investment 
and funding are needed to build, operate and maintain the regional 
transportation system for all modes of travel.

HB 2017 Keep Oregon Moving provided a 
significant investment in transportation. 
However, as the region looks to balance 
transportation spending over the next two 
decades, a robust evaluation of revenue 
collection and allocation strategies will be 
critical to future policy success.

Building a safe, reliable and sustainable 
transportation system requires steady, 
long-term investment. We don’t have the 
resources to invest at the levels needed to 
address all of the challenges facing our 
region and achieve our shared vision for the 
transportation system. For example, the 
region needs to complete gaps in transit, 
walking and biking networks to expand 
affordable travel options, yet active 
transportation currently lacks dedicated 
funding at all levels of government. The 
transit system relies heavily on payroll 
taxes to fund operations, yet the region’s 
demand for frequent and reliable transit 
service exceeds the capacity of local payroll 
taxes to support it.

At the same time, innovation in 
transportation technologies have opened 
new opportunities to close the funding gap. 

An emerging source of transportation 
revenue may be in tolling and other pricing 
strategies. In 2021, Metro completed the 
Regional Congestion Pricing Study (RCPS) . 
The RCPS conducted in-depth analysis to 
test four pricing strategies including 
congestion pricing, cordon pricing, parking 
pricing and mileage-based fees. The results 
of this study showed promise for vehicle 
pricing strategies, and will be an important 
factor influencing the region’s funding 
outlook and making the most of past 
investments in the transportation system.

In October 2021, the City of Portland’s Pricing 
Options for Equitable Mobility (POEM) Task 
Force  explored pricing options on parking, 
cordon pricing, and highway tolling. The 
Equity and Mobility Advisory Committee 
(EMAC)  advises the Oregon Department of 
Transportation (ODOT) and the Oregon 
Transportation Commission (OTC) on 
development of an easy-to-use, accessible 
and equitable tolling program in the greater 
Portland region pricing. 

Each of these efforts have recognized the 
need to ensure unintended impacts on 
people with low-incomes, land use and the 

transportation system are identified and 
addressed in design and implementation.

Policies in Chapter 3 of the 2023 RTP may help 
guide how revenues from potential tolling 
and congestion pricing will be spent. 

In the past five years, nearly $3 billion 
has been invested in the regional 
transportation system. Of the 1,123 
projects listed in the 2018 RTP, 170 have 
been built or will be completed by 2024. 
These projects include: 

City of Portland
• Blumenauer Bridge
• Rivergate Rail Overcrossing
• Division Transit Project

Washington County
• Roy Rogers Road
• Blanton Street Extension
• A Better Red (MAX Red Line)

Clackamas County
• Molalla Avenue Bike and Pedestrian 

Improvements
• Mt. Scott Blvd/King Rd Improvements
• I-205 Northbound Auxiliary Lane

Multnomah County (non-PDX)
• 238th Dr Freight and Multimodal Project 
• Division Street Bike and Pedestrian 

Improvements

https://www.oregonmetro.gov/regional-congestion-pricing-study
https://www.portland.gov/transportation/planning/pricing-options-equitable-mobility-poem
https://www.portland.gov/transportation/planning/pricing-options-equitable-mobility-poem
https://www.portland.gov/transportation/planning/pricing-options-equitable-mobility-poem
https://www.oregon.gov/odot/tolling/pages/advisory-committee.aspx
https://www.oregon.gov/odot/tolling/pages/advisory-committee.aspx


34 Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan  |  EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Transportation revenues are collected from a variety of sources, which are distributed through complex processes before 
being available to transportation agencies in the greater Portland region to build projects in the RTP, and to maintain and 
operate the existing transportation system. 
The collection of transportation revenues occurs across multiple levels of government and from a wide range of sources. Revenues then flow through a 
variety of programs, redistributions, and formulae before being invested in the greater Portland region’s local and regional transportation networks. Metro 
worked in cooperation with staff from ODOT, TriMet, SMART, cities, counties, and a Tribal government to develop the revenue forecast for the 2023 RTP.  
Described in Chapter 5, the region estimates more than $68 billion can be reasonably expected to be available during the life of the plan (2023-2045).



35Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan  |  EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

IMPLEMENTATION STRATEGIES

The Strategy for Regional High Capacity Transit 
Investment
High capacity transit is public transportation 
that moves a lot of people quickly and often. 
From the region’s first MAX light rail 
project—the Blue Line to Gresham in the 
1980s—right up to the recent opening of the 
region’s first FX rapid bus line on Division 
Street in 2022, our region has delivered a high 
capacity transit system that now provides 
tens of millions of rides each year. It is the 
backbone of our region’s transportation 
system, connecting Portland’s central city 
and regional growth centers where the 
greatest number of people live, work and 
play. 

Why invest in high capacity transit? 
The region cannot meet shared ambitious 
climate, safety, equity, or urban land use 
goals or realize the compact, urban land uses 
that partners have long planned for together 
without deep investments in high capacity 
transit. These types of investments provide: 

• More capacity to get people to where 
they need to go more safely, comfortably 
and actively, improving quality of life;

• Fast and reliable connections between 
regional and town housing and job 
centers, major destinations and 
community places, supporting vibrant 
communities;

• More reliability for moving people and 
goods between hubs of commerce, 
supporting a strong economy;

• A more affordable alternative to driving 
better serving people traveling from 
marginalized communities who rely on 
transit, creating a more equitable 
transportation system; and

• More efficient use of land and public 
facilities and services and less 
greenhouse gas and pollutant emissions, 
protecting farms and forests and 
marginalized communities most 
impacted by air quality.

High Capacity Transit...

Click here to submit 
your comment on the 
High Capacity Transit 
Strategy

https://www.oregonmetro.gov/public-projects/2023-regional-transportation-plan/public-comment


36 Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan  |  EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

high-quality, frequent transit service to 
continue growing and thriving. With a 
renewed blueprint for investment that will 
help greater Portland be competitive for 
Federal funding, our region is ready to put 
the pipeline to work in building the next 50 
years of critical transit projects.

Working to make the vision a reality is 
something that requires action from all 
regional partners. High capacity 
investments take existing strong transit 

The 2023 High Capacity Transit Strategy 
takes into account how greater Portland has 
grown, how communities and their needs 
have changed and how transit and travel are 
different (after COVID-19 and with new rapid 
bus) to create a network vision for the 
future. That vision identifies the region’s 
most pressing needs for high capacity 
transit investments, creating a pipeline 
prioritizing the most heavily traveled urban 
corridors with concentrations of housing 
and jobs and equity focus areas that need 

connections to the next level in accessibility 
and priority on the roadway, while shining a 
light on the corridor it travels to improve 
safety, access and livability for current and 
future riders. Supportive improvements are 
key to creating an environment that 
encourages current and future ridership 
while meeting regional objectives around 
equity and affordability. Such improvements 
are essential to complete before building the 
high capacity project for investments to be 
successful and reach their fullest potential.

Regional High Capacity 
Transit Vision

EXISTING HCT NETWORK

TIER 1: NEAR-TERM CORRIDORS
C7 TV Highway
C16 82nd Avenue
C28 Montgomery Park Streetcar
C29 Southwest Corridor
C30 Interstate Bridge Replacement

TIER 2: NEXT PHASE CORRIDORS
C14 Central City Tunnel
C19 Portland to Gresham via Burnside
C20 St. Johns to Milwaukie via Cesar Chavez
C21 Hayden Island to Downtown Portland via MLK
C23 Bethany to Beaverton via Farmington/SW 185th
C24 Swan Island to Parkrose via Killingsworth
C25 Beaverton to Portland via Bvrtn-Hillsdale Hwy

TIER 3: DEVELOPING CORRIDORS
C11 NW Lovejoy to Hollywood via Broadway/Weidler
C1 Portland to Gresham in the vicinity of Powell 
C5 Sunset Transit Center to Hillsboro via Hwy 26/Evergreen
C17S Oregon City to Downtown Portland via Hwy 43
C4 Beaverton - Tigard - Lake Oswego - Milwaukie - Clackamas Town Center
C27 Park Ave MAX Station to Oregon City in the vicinity of McLoughlin
C6 Beaverton - Tigard - Tualatin - Oregon City
C22S PCC Sylvania to Downtown Portland via Capitol Hwy
C18E Hollywood to Troutdale

TIER 4: VISION CORRIDORS
C8 Gateway to Clark County in the vicinity of I-205
C10 Gresham to Troutdale LRT extension
C12 Clackamas Town Center to Happy Valley
C15 Happy Valley to Columbia Corridor via Pleasant Valley
C26 Clackamas Town Center to Oregon City
C2 Tigard to Sherwood via Hwy 99W
C9 Hillsboro to Forest Grove LRT extension
C3 Beaverton to Wilsonville in the vicinity of WES

Tier 1 corridors are on the 2023 
Regional Transportation Plan 
constrained project list with the 
exception of the SW corridor 
construction phase, pending 
sufficient funding. Tier 2 corridors 
are identified as additional 
strategic investments.



37Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan  |  EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Additional 
Implementation 
Strategies and Plans
The Regional Transportation Plan is 
supported through a variety of adopted 
strategies and modal plans. Some 
strategies provide guidance for a 
specific mode of transportation, such as 
active transportation and freight. Other 
strategies focus on approaches to 
achieving specific goals, such as Climate 
Smart Strategy and the Regional 
Transportation Safety Strategy. These 
strategies are updated periodically with 
and in between Regional Transportation 
Plan updates. This section provides 
summaries of each strategy with web 
links to the complete strategy 
documents. 

Emerging Technology 
Strategy (December 
2018) 

The Emerging Technology 
Strategy examines the 
effects of current 
technologies and developing 
ones, such as rideshare and 
bikeshare service and the 

first generation of driverless cars. Emerging 
technology strategies call for public agencies in 
the region to: help make emerging technologies 
accessible to all; use technology to support 
equitable, shared, and active travel choices; and 
advance the public interest through innovation. 

Regional Freight Strategy 
(December 2018) 
Updated in 2018, the 
Regional Freight Strategy 
provides a vision, policies 
and investments that 
support the greater Portland 
region’s role as the trade 
gateway for the state of 

Oregon and many southwest Washington 
businesses. Freight policies seek to improve safety 
and better manage roads that provide critical 
access to and connections between industrial 
centers, ports, rail yards, shipping facilities and the 
Interstate and state highway system. During the 
development of the 2023 Regional Transportation 
Plan, a Regional Freight Delay and Commodities 
Movement Study explored impacts of the 
pandemic and the growth in e-commerce and 
examined commodity movement in the region. 

Regional Transit Strategy 
(December 2018) 

First adopted in 2018, the 
Regional Transit Strategy 
defines a vision, policies and 
investments needed to help 
make the region’s transit 
system frequent, 
convenient, accessible and 

affordable for everyone. The Strategy includes the 
Enhanced Transit Concept (ETC) that features spot 
treatments, such as bus only lanes and transit 
priority signals at intersections, to improve speed 
and reliability in the region’s most congested 
frequent service bus or streetcar lines. ETC is now 
known as “Better Bus.”

Regional Transportation 
Safety Strategy 
(December 2018) 
First adopted in 2018, the 
Regional Transportation 
Safety Strategy includes the 
ambitious safety goal of 
Vision Zero. Metro’s target is 
zero traffic-related deaths 

and life-changing injuries in the greater Portland 
by 2035. The strategy includes new regional 
transportation safety and security policies and 
updated actions to address the contributing 
factors in fatal and lifechanging traffic crashes 
identified for the greater Portland region.

http://oregonmetro.gov/emergingtechnology
https://www.oregonmetro.gov/emerging-technology-strategy
http://oregonmetro.gov/emergingtechnology
https://www.oregonmetro.gov/regional-freight-plan
https://www.oregonmetro.gov/regional-freight-plan
http://www.oregonmetro.gov/transit
http://www.oregonmetro.gov/transit
http://oregonmetro.gov/safety
http://oregonmetro.gov/safety
http://oregonmetro.gov/safety
https://www.oregonmetro.gov/emerging-technology-strategy
https://www.oregonmetro.gov/regional-freight-plan
http://www.oregonmetro.gov/transit
http://oregonmetro.gov/safety


38 Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan  |  EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Regional Travel Options 
Strategy (May 2018) 
The Regional Travel Options 
Strategy maps out a plan for 
reducing reliance on driving 
alone through employer 
outreach programs, traveler 
education and incentives for 
using alternatives to driving. 

This strategy offers policy direction that 
established the regional Safe Routes to School 
program. The strategy also provides guidance on 
adapting to new technologies and prioritizing 
projects and programs that address inequities. 

Climate Smart Strategy 
(December 2014) 

The Climate Smart Strategy 
defines policies, strategies 
and supporting actions that 
can be taken by the state, 
Metro, cities, counties, 
transit agencies and others 
to support the region’s 

efforts to integrate land use and transportation 
decisions to reduce greenhouse gas emissions 
while making our transportation system safer, 
healthier and more reliable. The strategy responds 
to a state mandate to reduce per capita 
greenhouse gas emissions from cars and small 
trucks by 2050.  The Climate Smart Strategy and 
related policies were adopted in the 2018 Regional 
Transportation Plan. Implementation of the 
strategy and progress toward the state-mandated 
greenhouse gas emissions reduction targets is 
reviewed and reported as part of each update to 
the RTP. 

Coordinated 
Transportation Plan for 
Seniors and People with 
Disabilities (TriMet; June 
2020) 

Prepared by TriMet, the 
coordinated transportation 
plan defines priorities and 
actions to support a cost-

effective, efficient and high-quality transportation 
system that serves the needs of seniors and 
persons with disabilities. It identifies current and 
future needs, calling for investments and actions 
to help ensure people have access to medical care 
and other essential services. The plan recognizes 
seniors will represent the fastest growing segment 
of our population in years to come and defines a 
continuum of services that takes into account 
people’s abilities as they transition through various 
stages of age and ability. The next update is due in 
2024. 

Regional Active 
Transportation Plan (July 
2014) 
The Regional Active 
Transportation Plan defines 
a vision and policies that will 
make it easier to walk, ride a 
bike and access transit to 
work, school, parks and 

other destinations throughout the region.

Transit Oriented 
Development Program 
Strategic Plan (2023) 
Updated in 2023, the 
strategy sets new goals 
around affordability, climate 
and racial equity, and 
explores ways to leverage 
additional funding to 

increase the program’s impact over time. Land 
acquisition is also identified as a key part of the 
region’s anti-displacement toolkit, and the 
strategic plan sets a direction to pursue greater 
impacts through community-led development 
partnerships on publicly acquired land.

Transportation System 
Management and 
Operations Strategy 
(January 2022) 
The Transportation System 
Management and 
Operations (TSMO) 
Strategy defines an 
approach to optimizing the 

existing transportation system by improving 
business practices and collaboration, 
encouraging behavior changes through travel 
demand management and using technology to 
operate the system. Updated in 2021, the strategy 
includes both goals and objectives that aim to 
correct past disparities and undue burdens 
experienced by Black, Indigenous, people of color 
and people with low incomes. The strategy 
includes an equity tree to guide TSMO decision 
making in the greater Portland region that leads 
to well-defined problems, solutions and 
accountability. 

https://www.oregonmetro.gov/regional-travel-options-strategic-plan
http://oregonmetro.gov/traveloptionsstrategy
https://www.oregonmetro.gov/climate-smart-strategy
http://oregonmetro.gov/climatesmart
https://trimet.org/meetings/stfac/pdfs/ctp.pdf
https://trimet.org/meetings/stfac/pdfs/ctp.pdf
https://trimet.org/meetings/stfac/pdfs/ctp.pdf
https://trimet.org/meetings/stfac/pdfs/ctp.pdf
https://trimet.org/meetings/stfac/pdfs/ctp.pdf
https://www.oregonmetro.gov/regional-active-transportation-plan
https://www.oregonmetro.gov/regional-active-transportation-plan
http://oregonmetro.gov/activetransportationplan
http://oregonmetro.gov/tod
http://oregonmetro.gov/tod
http://oregonmetro.gov/tod
http://oregonmetro.gov/tsmo
https://www.oregonmetro.gov/public-projects/regional-tsmo-strategy
http://oregonmetro.gov/tsmo
http://oregonmetro.gov/tsmo
https://www.oregonmetro.gov/regional-travel-options-strategic-plan
https://www.oregonmetro.gov/climate-smart-strategy
https://trimet.org/meetings/stfac/pdfs/ctp.pdf
https://www.oregonmetro.gov/regional-active-transportation-plan
https://www.oregonmetro.gov/tools-partners/grants-and-resources/transit-oriented-development-program
https://www.oregonmetro.gov/public-projects/regional-tsmo-strategy


39Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan  |  EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

LOCAL AND REGIONAL PLANNING AND PROGRAMS

Moving forward together
It will take collaboration and 
innovation from community, 
agency staff, businesses and 
decision-makers to ensure that 
the region’s transportation 
investments respond to urgent 
needs of greater Portland’s growing 
and changing communities.

The region must take additional steps to 
address a wide range of planning, 
programmatic and project activities that 
will support the greater Portland region in 
implementing the Regional Transportation 
Plan. 

The RTP sets the course for near-term 
planning and programs, projects and data 
development. Many of the priorities 
expressed by the public and decision 

makers, that could not be fully addressed 
within the 2023 RTP update, will be 
advanced through the upcoming work 
described in Chapter 8 of the RTP. 

Local planning 
Local planning efforts that help implement 
the Regional Transportation Plan, include 
updates to the local transportation system 
plans, concept plans for designated urban 
reserves and topical, modal or subarea plans 
needed for consistency with the RTP or to 
address specific local or subarea 
transportation needs or emerging issues. 

Local plans and projects are developed and 
updated to meet local transportation needs 
consistent with local land use plans and to 
implement the RTP. A schedule for local 
transportation system plan updates is 
available at www.oregonmetro.gov/tsp 

ODOT will be funding transportation 
system plan updates around the region to 
implement the Climate Friendly and 
Equitable Communities Rule (CFEC). 

Metro’s regional programs 
Metro and regional partners work together 
to support many of the regional strategies 
with programs including:

• The Regional Safety Street for All Program

• Regional Active Transportation Program

• Regional Freight Program

• Regional Transit Program

• Transportation System Management and 
Operations Program

• Regional Travel Options (RTO) and Safe 
Routes to School Programs

http://www.oregonmetro.gov/tsp


40 Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan  |  EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

A number of other programs also advance 
the Regional Transportation Plan vision and 
goals, including:

• Air Quality and Climate Change 
Monitoring Program

• Better Bus

• Civil Right and Environmental Justice 
Program 

• Designing Livable Streets and Trails 
Program 

• Regional Congestion Pricing Program 

• Regional Transit-Oriented Development 
Program 

Regionwide planning
The following planning processes are 
upcoming or ongoing, and also advance the 
RTP vision and goals:

• Regional Mobility Policy Implementation 
Action Plan (Metro and ODOT with 
agency partners) (2024-25)

• Transit Planning (Trimet and SMART) 
(annual service planning)

• Connecting First and Last Mile: Accessing 
Mobility through Transit Study (Metro 
with agency partners) (2024-25)

• Steel Bridge Transit Bottleneck Study 
(ODOT, City of Portland, Portland 
Streetcar, Inc., FTA) (2023-2045)

• Cascadia Corridor Ultra-High-Speed 
Ground Transportation Project Planning 
(WSDOT with agency partners) (2023-2028)

• Equitable Development Strategies for 
transit investment corridors (Metro with 
agency partners and community 
organizations) (ongoing)

• Workforce Diversification in Regional 
Transportation Infrastructure Projects 
(Metro with agency partners, construction 
industry and community organizations) 
(2024)

• Funding Strategy for Regional Bridges 
(Counties and agency partners) (2024-28) 

• Emergency Transportation Routes 
Project Phase 2 (Metro and Regional 
Disaster Preparedness Organization and 
agency partners) (2024-26)

• Regional Freight Rail Study (Metro and 
agency partners) (2024-26)

• Regional Transportation Functional Plan 
Update (Metro and agency partners) 
(2024-25)

• 2040 Refresh Coordination (Metro and 
agency partners) (TBD pending further 
direction from Metro Council)

• Columbia Connects (Oregon Metro and 
Southwest Washington Regional 
Transportation Council, agency partners 
and economic development organizations) 
(2023-24)

• Corridor Refinement Planning (Agency 
partners) (ongoing)

Click here to weigh in on priorities for future 
transportation planning 

https://www.oregonmetro.gov/regional-leadership/diversity-equity-and-inclusion/know-your-rights-1
https://www.oregonmetro.gov/regional-leadership/diversity-equity-and-inclusion/know-your-rights-1
https://www.oregonmetro.gov/regional-leadership/diversity-equity-and-inclusion/know-your-rights-1
https://www.oregonmetro.gov/tools-partners/guides-and-tools/guidelines-designing-livable-streets-and-trails
https://www.oregonmetro.gov/tools-partners/guides-and-tools/guidelines-designing-livable-streets-and-trails
https://www.oregonmetro.gov/regional-congestion-pricing-study
https://www.oregonmetro.gov/tools-partners/grants-and-resources/transit-oriented-development-program
https://www.oregonmetro.gov/tools-partners/grants-and-resources/transit-oriented-development-program
https://www.oregonmetro.gov/public-comment
https://www.oregonmetro.gov/public-comment


41Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan  |  EXECUTIVE SUMMARY



84

5

205

5

26

3

5

4
6

1

2

H I L L S B O R O

W I L S O N V I L L E

G R E S H A M

V A N C O U V E R

P O R T L A N D

If you picnic at Blue Lake or take your kids to the 
Oregon Zoo, enjoy symphonies at the Schnitz or auto 
shows at the convention center, put out your trash or 
drive your car – we’ve already crossed paths.

So, hello. We’re Metro – nice to meet you.
In a metropolitan area as big as Portland, we can do a 
lot of things better together. Join us to help the 
region prepare for a happy, healthy future.

Metro Council President
Lynn Peterson

Metro Councilors
Ashton Simpson, District 1 
Christine Lewis, District 2 
Gerritt Rosenthal, District 3 
Juan Carlos Gonzalez, District 4 
Mary Nolan, District 5 
Duncan Hwang, District 6

Auditor
Brian Evans

Stay in touch with news, stories and things to do.
oregonmetro.gov

Follow oregonmetro



 
 
 
 

MTAC Meeting Minutes from May 17, 2023 Page 1 
 
 
 
 

Meeting: Metro Technical Advisory Committee (MTAC) meeting  

Date/time: Wednesday May 17, 2023 | 9:00 a.m. to 12:00 p.m. 
Place: Virtual video conference call meeting via Zoom 

Members Attending    Affiliate 
Eryn Kehe, Chair     Metro 
Carol Chesarek     Multnomah County Community Member 
Tom Armstrong     Largest City in the Region: Portland 
Terra Wilcoxson     Largest City in Multnomah County: Gresham 
Aquilla Hurd-Ravich    Second Largest City in Clackamas County: Oregon City 
Laura Terway     Clackamas County: Other Cities, City of Happy Valley 
Katherine Kelly     City of Vancouver 
Jamie Stasny     Clackamas County 
Adam Barber     Multnomah County 
Gary Albrecht     Clark County 
Laura Kelly     Department Land Conservation and Development 
Manuel Contreras, Jr.    Clackamas Water Environmental Services 
Gery Keck     Tualatin Hills Park & Recreation District 
Cindy Detchon     North Clackamas School District 
Tom Bouillion     Port of Portland 
Tara O’Brien     TriMet 
Bret Marchant     Greater Portland, Inc. 
Nora Apter     Oregon Environmental Council 
Rachel Loftin     Community Partners for Affordable Housing 
Preston Korst     Home Builders Association of Metropolitan Portland 
Erik Cole     Schnitzer Properties & Revitalize Portland Coalition 
Mike O’Brien     Mayer/Reed, Inc. 
Andrea Hamberg     Multnomah County Public Health & Urban Forum 
 
Alternate Members Attending   Affiliate 
Colin Cooper     Largest City in Washington County: Hillsboro 
Dan Rutzick     Largest City in Washington County: Hillsboro 
Jean Senechal Biggs    Second Largest City in Washington County: Beaverton 
Brian Martin     Second Largest City in Washington County: Beaverton 
Martha Fritzie     Clackamas County 
Theresa Cherniak    Washington County 
Glen Bolen     Oregon Department of Transportation 
Kelly Reid     Oregon Department of Land Conservation & Dev.  
Jerry Johnson     Johnson Economics, LLC 
Craig Sheahan     David Evans & Associates, Inc. 
Brendon Haggerty    Public Health & Urban Forum, Multnomah Co. 
Ryan Ames     Public Health & Urban Forum, Washington Co. 
 
 



MTAC Meeting Minutes from May 17, 2023 Page 2 
 
 
 
 

Guests Attending    Affiliate 
Joseph Edge     Clackamas County Community Member (incoming) 
Victoria (Vee) Paykar    Multnomah Co. Community Alt. Member (incoming) 
Faun Hosey     Washington Co. Community Alt. Member (incoming) 
Jessica Pelz     Washington County Member (incoming) 
Barbara Fryer     City of Cornelius 
Becky Hewitt     ECONorthwest 
Bruce Coleman     City of Sherwood 
Bryan Robb     Washington County 
Camden McKone 
Cassera Phipps     Clean Water Services, Water & Sewer Alt. Member (in) 
Cody Meyer     Oregon Department of Land Conservation & Dev. 
Elin Michel-Midelfort    Metropolitan Land Group 
Ethan Stuckmayer    Oregon Department of Land Conservation & Dev. 
Greg Malinowski 
Guy Benn     TriMet 
John Charles     Cascade Policy Institute 
Karen Buehrig     Clackamas County 
Kevin Young     Oregon Department of Land Conservation & Dev. 
Mari Valencia Aguilar    Oregon Department of Land Conservation & Dev. 
Marc Farrar     Metropolitan Land Group 
Max Nonnamaker    Multnomah County 
Schuyler Warren     City of Tigard 
Sean Edging     3 J Consulting 
2 unidentified phone callers 
 
Metro Staff Attending 
Al Mowbray, Ally Holmqvist, Cindy Pederson, Clint Chiavarini, Daniel Audelo, Eliot Rose, Eryn Kehe, 
Glen Hamburg, John Mermin, Kim Ellis, Laura Combs, Marie Miller, Matt Bihn, Matthew Hampton, 
Melissa Arnold, Ted Reid, Thaya Patton 
 
Call to Order, Quorum Declaration and Introductions 
Chair Eryn Kehe called the meeting to order at 9:00 a.m.  A quorum was declared.  Introductions were 
made.  Zoom logistics and meeting features were reviewed for online raised hands, renaming yourself, 
finding attendees and participants, and chat area for messaging and sharing links. 
 
Comments from the Chair and Committee Members 

• Updates from committee members around the Region (all) Chair Kehe announced the recent 
MTAC community member recruitment provided a large pool of applicants. Following 
interviews, nominations to fill these positions on MTAC have been submitted to MPAC for 
approval. Their terms will begin July 1. 

 
Public Communications on Agenda Items none received 
 
Consideration of MTAC minutes March 15, 2023 meeting 
Approval of the March 15, 2023 MTAC meeting minutes was given by the committee by majority vote 
with no corrections. Three abstentions: Terra Wilcoxson, Glen Bolen, Gery Keck. 



MTAC Meeting Minutes from May 17, 2023 Page 3 
 
 
 
 

2024 Urban Growth Management Decision: middle housing potential (Ted Reid, Metro/ Becky Hewitt, 
ECONorthwest) Ted Reid began the presentation, noting the work program that leads to Metro’s Urban 
Growth Management Decision will be reported on and discussed which ends with the final decision by 
the end of December 2024. Becky Hewitt was introduced from EcoNorthwest who presented on middle 
housing potential in the region to help us understand the growth capacity over the next 20 years. 
 
Becky Hewitt provided an overview on updates to development capacity and the supply model of 
middle housing potential in the region. Changes in zoning potential in response to HB 2001 (2019) 
showed many Metro jurisdictions went beyond minimum requirements. Local decisions about 
regulating detached middle housing matter to the market including allowed number of detached plexes 
and cottage sizes.  
 
Information on what makes middle housing infill/redevelopment feasible was given. Adding middle 
housing in existing neighborhoods can happen in multiple ways: Redevelopment- Low-value structure 
compared to (re)development potential, Infill- enough room to build around existing structure or 
Conversion- Structure can be retrofitted to add units. The model captures redevelopment and infill on 
sites large enough to be part of the Metro Buildable Land Inventory. 
 
An overview of Metro’s approach to estimating Middle Housing Capacity was given. Middle housing 
types were described. Examples of other estimates of Middle Housing Capacity was described. Why 
developers include middle housing in greenfield areas was described. They capture different market 
segments, offer lower price points, where financially viable, and increase sales volume. 
 
Middle Housing Pricing & Rents was summarized: 

• Market data on middle housing is limited 
• Housing type is not identified in detail in sales listings, and is not categorized consistently 
• Rent data is aggregated most consistently and broadly for larger, professionally managed 

apartment buildings, with limited data for smaller rental properties 
• There is little new middle housing development compared to other housing types, especially 

outside the City of Portland 
• Small multifamily development, townhouses, and compact detached housing can offer a proxy 
• New construction tends to be expensive, but middle housing may be less expensive 
• New Middle Housing/Small Multifamily pricing examples for rent were given. 

 
Take aways from the analysis: 

• Middle housing broadly allowed in existing and new neighborhoods ~20-30 du/ac 
• Many jurisdictions go beyond minimum requirements 
• Many allow housing types that resemble single-unit detached 
• Prior analysis suggests substantial middle housing development potential: 
• 1-10% of existing homes may be financially feasible to redevelopment middle housing, and 

others may allow for infill while retaining the existing unit 
• 25-50% of housing on vacant land in low-density residential areas could develop as middle 

housing 



MTAC Meeting Minutes from May 17, 2023 Page 4 
 
 
 
 

• New middle housing likely affordable at 80-120% of AMI in many cases (except large luxury 
units) 

• Markets in transition (moderate value existing homes, but growing demand for housing) may 
have greatest potential for infill/redevelopment 

 
Comments from the committee: 

• Joseph Edge asked is the BLI formula based on redevelopment potential for single-detached 
dwellings, or based on the ability to divide a lot to create new parcels that meet the average lot 
size? Clint Chiavarini noted they are based on both, depending on the redevelopment stream in 
the BLI, if something is already there based on overall property value and redevelopment 
planned and zoning capacity. Larger lots look at average minimum lot size that would be 
required and divides that against the constrained portion of the lot. A link to further 
information was shared: 
https://www.oregonmetro.gov/sites/default/files/2018/12/03/Appendix2-
BuildableLandsInventory_12032018.pdf  

• Colin Cooper noted per square foot cost/rent price would be important to do an apples to 
apples comparison. Jerry Johnson noted the location pricing is also an important variable. How 
are middle housing units prices relative to other options with the same locational 
characteristics.  

• Kevin Young asked if the thinking that this analysis might be provided as "quantifiable 
validation" to assume a greater than 3% efficiency, per ORS 197.296(6)(b)? Ted Reid noted 
we're not quite there yet in terms of knowing what all of this adds up to, but the idea is that 
the modeling can give us a sense of feasibility. 

• Jessica Pelz asked for clarification on if you mean the analysis is based on the title 11 
comprehensive plans for areas already added to the UGB vs title 11 concept plans? Mr. Reid 
noted I believe that when concept plans were referenced, they meant areas previously added 
to the UGB that do not yet have urban zoning (as opposed to urban reserve concept planning, 
which we don't count as capacity since they are not yet in the UGB).  
 
Ms. Hewitt note it is a challenge to find the balance between market demands and land 
requirements for development. Housing infrastructure costs are spread between housing types 
and feasibility factors. Jerry Johnson added the funding solution for these communities, 
including SDC formulas, can have a significant impact on the final mix determination. 

 
• Greg Malinowski noted one of the issues in the past is many concept plans are brought forth by 

folks who do high end ($1M, to 2$M homes) They tend to suggest that ground they have under 
option, is lower density, so how do you work Middle housing into concept plans? Chair Kehe 
noted one example is in Tigard. The River Terrace II concept plan works in middle housing. This 
area recently came into the UGB. 

• Andrea Hamberg noted it was very hopeful about the possibility of supporting the creation of 
more affordable housing, especially as number of units increase. I'd like to see more focus on 
development which adds 4+ units to available parcels. 

https://www.oregonmetro.gov/sites/default/files/2018/12/03/Appendix2-BuildableLandsInventory_12032018.pdf
https://www.oregonmetro.gov/sites/default/files/2018/12/03/Appendix2-BuildableLandsInventory_12032018.pdf


MTAC Meeting Minutes from May 17, 2023 Page 5 
 
 
 
 

• Rachel Loftin asked when doing the analysis, how much consideration was given to permitting 
time frames and holding costs with the jurisdictions. Mr. Johnson noted the modeling provides 
this information which is relevant to development planning and costs. 
 

High Capacity Transit Strategy Update: Draft Report (Ally Holmqvist, Metro) With the pipeline of 
corridor investments for the region established, this presentation with the final milestone for the High 
Capacity Transit Strategy looked backward to document how we got there and forward to create the 
roadmap for putting the pipeline to use in implementing the vision. Described in the presentation was 
the work done to finalize the corridor investment priorities, outlined the actions and recommendations 
included in the draft report document, and reviewed next steps for the report and for the strategy as 
the update merges with the 2023 RTP Update process. 
 
The report made the following recommendations moving corridors forward: 
Tier 4 Future Corridors 
• Develop land use and transit-oriented development plans for corridors & centers. 
• Reassess against the readiness criteria to identify additional areas of action. 
• Establish project champions, partnerships and political leadership. 
Tier 3 Developing Corridors 
Tier 4 actions + 
• Update TSPs: functional class, design standards, HCT designation 
• Update land use plans to focus growth and density in key corridors. 
• Work with community to develop corridor problem statements, identify needs/constraints, and look 
for opportunities (e.g., anti-displacement). 
• Build a coalition of stakeholders to support continued corridor work. 
Tier 2 Emerging Regional Priority Corridors 
Tier 3 actions + 
• Align high density designations and zones with corridors and consider transit supportive development 
code changes. 
• Begin refinement planning, coordinate on improvements beyond the project, and establish a shared 
vision. Begin alternatives analysis and pre-NEPA. 
• Begin conceptual design, clarify cost, and identify funding commitments. 
• Begin establishing the stakeholder coalition supporting corridor planning work. 
 
Comments from the committee: 

• Sean Edging noted it'd be great to see some numbers on passenger capacity and how that 
compares to equivalent auto infrastructure (e.g., number of lanes to move the same capacity). 
My advice from the housing perspective - transit follows density. Serving a wide area of low 
density development requires the transit network to forego the things that make transit 
function well - frequency, reliability, and speed. The best way to address this and make transit 
function is ensure you are getting as many people as possible on transit corridors. 

• Andrea Hamberg noted transit density and street network connectivity are both really 
important for optimizing physical activity and reducing chronic disease. Where does street 
connectivity planning take place for the tier 3 & 4 corridor areas? Ms. Holmqvist note these 
include the six key areas that support transit environment and discuss street connectivity and 



MTAC Meeting Minutes from May 17, 2023 Page 6 
 
 
 
 

access t transit to make it easy to get to transit which are safe and reliable connections to 
transit. This is part of the recommendations access to transit brought into tier 3 & 4.  More 
specific details are in the report. 

• Jamie Stasny noted concerns with the HCT plan that intends to create a pipeline for the 
backbone of our transit system. However, people living in the SE section of the map area won’t 
have access to that backbone. We need coverage and service. This plan appears to duplicate 
other transit lines before it starts to list supporting access to transit service and coverage in 
other areas.  How can we work with everyone to make a better transit future for this area and 
create viable transit options to driving? 
 
Ms. Holmqvist noted some regional balance considerations were where most needs are for 
connections in the region now and moving forward via 2040 planning and changes in travel 
patterns. Readiness access elements in the region show need to strengthen connections via 
transit modes with priorities. The market expectations haven’t shown as much increase yet. We 
are looking at other types of improvements near-term for readiness criteria for future 
investments and priorities. It was noted partnerships and coalitions to build upon for future 
growth is important in the long-term. 

• Colin Cooper commented on the letter the mayor of Hillsboro sent to Metro regarding 
prioritization of tiers and desire to seek additional consideration of tiers with TV Highway and 
SW Corridor. It was noted job centers in these corridors are continuing to grow. 

• Vee Paykar noted in chat, sorry I missed the key term from the first question - was it transit 
connectivity? My question is related: Are intersections identified as "high crash intersections" 
along these transit corridors, being prioritized to fix safety issues ASAP so people feel more 
comfortable (or not risking their lives) accessing transit via walking/rolling/biking? 

• Schuyler Warren noted, right - Transit-Supportive Development, the analog to Transit-Oriented 
Development. TOD follows fixed-route service and fills in density around it. TSD leads fixed-
route service and provides the density and destinations that make transit service fiscally 
sustainable. 

• Glen Bolen added TriMet's Pedestrian Plan analyzed all of the pedestrian projects from 
everyone's TSPs. It then ranked them within each jurisdiction based on Safety, Equity and 
Demand. 

• Kim Ellis added yes, high crash corridors and intersections are identified as priorities for 
investment in the RTP, particularly in the near term. 

• Tara O’Brien noted access to transit was one of the many factors analyzed at looking at 
readiness and suitability to future HCT in terms of sidewalk gaps and high crash corridors and 
when people could access in these existing locations. In terms of prioritizing HCT where access 
was more built-out that was part of the analysis but the RTP analysis gets more into how well 
we are meeting our goals. 

 
There was a meeting break for 8 minutes. 
 
TriMet’s Transit Oriented Development (TOD) Regional TOD Plan (Guy Benn, TriMet) Mr. Benn 
explained that Transit Oriented Development (TOD) is the creation of compact, walkable, pedestrian-
oriented mixed use communities centered around high quality transportation systems to facilitate 



MTAC Meeting Minutes from May 17, 2023 Page 7 
 
 
 
 

shorter trips, better lifestyles, and a more efficient use of resources. A brief history of TOD in Portland 
and project examples was shown. A regional TOD plan builds on the TOD guidelines, gives transparency 
to the program and process, outlines engagement guidelines, site inventory, evaluation and 
prioritization framework, implementation framework, and provides clarity, continuity, and structure for 
all stakeholders in a way that supports equitable TOD. 
 
The plan contents and chapters were described. Community-Focused TOD projects were shown. The 
presentation ended with acknowledgements from agency, jurisdictions and stakeholders’ contributions 
to the plan. 
 
Comments from the committee: 

• Jamie Stasny had questions around the methodology of the plan and asked if this was 
considered comprehensive if working with other partners. It was noted Clackamas County 
works with service providers such as SMART where they recently received a TOD earmark that 
doesn’t show up in this plan. Mr. Benn noted the TOD projects are a collaborative effort with 
agencies. The TriMet plan is more patterned as a business plan, avoiding individual sites but 
using case studies. TriMet is working with C-Tran and the City of Wilsonville on a shared parking 
agreement and were part of the project assessment proposal on the site. The website shows 
detailed information on projects underway or planned for the future. 
 
Ms. Stasny noted it would be helpful to show a comprehensive plan that lists project in a way 
that can show how we’re doing and where to make improvements. It sounds that more 
opportunities are available to showcase the projects in regional development. Mr. Benn noted 
the dynamics of development and being careful not to raise expectations with required 
changes. The website is the best way to show what’s under development in pre-planning and 
future planning. Part of the sub-regional planning work is going towards corridors and site that 
could be useful for identifying TOD development. 

 
• Andrea Hamberg noted two things: 1) We'd like to see you including metrics to assess impacts 

to air quality, walkability, and traffic safety on the transportation side so that we can maximize 
public health benefits of TOD. 2) We're also interested in understanding how you're 
considering gentrification-displacement potential prior to development and what methods you 
would/will use to mitigate risk. 
 
Mr. Benn noted our data-based screening that we use to prioritize TOD sites looks at all of 
these metrics (walkability, air quality, traffic safety) in its assessment of sites. The dynamic 
screening allows us to filter results if a particular element is disproportionally impacting the 
score for a TOD site. The model is designed to identify the TOD projects that will have the 
biggest positive impact on the community, which includes public health and environmental 
benefits. We also assess all sites using the Regional Social Vulnerability Index so we can identify 
displacement and gentrification risks. We have minimum thresholds for affordable housing on 
TriMet sites that are made available for residential development, but it's worth noting that in 
the last 5-years we have dramatically exceeded this threshold with 66% of the 718 housing 



MTAC Meeting Minutes from May 17, 2023 Page 8 
 
 
 
 

units delivered being protected affordable unit (477 in total). There are also an additional 224 
affordable units under development at Hollywood. 

 
• Joseph Edge noted the TriMet park & ride at the Park Ave MAX station is slated for expansion; 

shouldn't we look at that for a TOD project? Mr. Benn noted the Park Ave parking garage is 
being expanded using residual funding from the Orange Line (PMLRT) construction project. 
Before the pandemic, this garage was full by 7.30 am every morning and still has high usage 
which we are forecasting will increase. We are looking at supporting TOD at Park Ave and have 
had several conversations with the adjacent Elks Lodge about additional development on its 
site, but nothing is currently planned at the moment. Should the Elks advance with 
development, TriMet has was to support this by providing a connection to the MAX station 
through the green space immediately west of the garage. 

 
2023 Regional Transportation Plan (RTP): Draft System Analysis Results (Eliot Rose, Metro) Draft 
results were presented from the 2023 Regional Transportation Plan (RTP) system analysis. The system 
analysis was conducted on the draft financially constrained project list. The analysis helps to 
understand and demonstrate the RTP’s impact on meeting regional goals related to mobility, safety, 
equity, climate and economy. The RTP uses several different performance measures to capture the 
region’s progress in each of these goal areas and compares the results to targets that are established 
through the state and federal rules that govern the RTP or that are included in policies adopted by the 
Joint Policy Advisory Committee on Transportation (JPACT) and the Metro Council. 
 
Highlighted draft results per regional goal: 
Mobility – Almost all of the RTP projects include design elements that support travel by transit, foot or 
bike. However, slightly under a third of the RTP spending goes toward projects that close gaps 
Opportunity for improvement: Increase the share of RTP capital spending dedicated to projects that 
help fill regional network gaps (currently 29%). 
Safety – The region is not on track to meet its target of reducing fatal and serious injury crashes to zero 
by 2035. 
Opportunity for improvement: Accelerate projects on the high injury network and ensure that projects 
on this network include safety features. 
Equity – The RTP achieves mixed results on equity – it invests equitably, but these investments do not 
lead to more equitable outcomes, nor do they undo longstanding transportation inequities in safety 
and access to jobs. 
Opportunity for improvement: Accelerate projects that invest in EFAs – and particularly in transit 
access, transit service, and safe, complete streets. 
Economy – The RTP achieves mixed results on regional economic goals. It reduces transit travel times 
along the corridors that connect the region’s centers, but driving times along these corridors increase, 
particularly in 2045, due to increased congestion. Even with the investments planned in the RTP, the 
pedestrian and bicycle networks – particularly the former – are not nearly as complete in employment 
and industrial areas that are home to many of the region’s manufacturing and transportation jobs as it 
is in the rest of the region. 
Opportunity for improvement: Consider a variety of investments to increase access to employment and 
industrial areas. 



MTAC Meeting Minutes from May 17, 2023 Page 9 
 
 
 
 

Climate – The factors in analyzing climate are variable with transit service, parking pricing, land use, 
demand management, and planned lane miles that provide estimated results to measure assumptions 
for obtaining climate goals. 
Opportunity for improvement: Proactively plan for the implementation of new transportation revenue 
sources. 
 
It was noted there are further analysis still underway: 
• Travel speed reliability on throughways 
• Freight-related measures 
• Criteria pollutants and air toxics 
• Households near transit / active transportation facilities 
• Impact of tolling on system performance 
• Transit system performance 
 
Comments from the committee: 

• Jamie Stasny noted the graph results reported on climate scenarios toward reaching the 2045 
targets. Clarification was asked on these lines. Mr. Rose noted some of the additional 
mechanisms being contemplated to add transportation revenues are toll pricing, road user 
charges, changes to how the gas tax is levied, and change to how insurance is paid for vehicles. 
These considerations are still being discussed with state plans. 
 
It was noted the analysis looks at pricing options but doesn’t show analysis on how different 
transportation investments could reduce climate impacts more clearly tied to situations and 
circumstances.  Is data on this planned? Mr. Rose noted that given the work put into the RTP 
project list and that the RTP needs to be a fiscally constrained plan it’s late in the game to 
explore changes in the project list that aren’t feasible.  
 
Kim Ellis noted we know from the Climate Smart Strategies what will get the best results from 
investments from the context in the RTP. Results show we can’t just get there from 
investments alone. Other policies will need to be thought about as a region and likely include 
some form of pricing. Ms. Stasny added it feels like we’re putting all our eggs in the pricing 
basket. It was suggested to figure out a way to articulate other opportunities to meet these 
goals in addition to what has been analyzed to date. 

 
• Manny Contreras commented on the equity focus with the Federal bipartisan investment funds 

adding to statewide wastewater services that will increase, develop and expand services as 
needed. Data on these issues that could be shared between agencies and create a line of 
communication would be welcome. 

• Rachel Loftin noted pricing looking at transportation investments, but how much of this will be 
able to be written off for those in low-income. In particular, affordable housing and transit 
connections. Mr. Rose noted the pricing mechanisms that are specified did not go into that 
level of analysis but appreciate the different ways these investments and plans impact or 
system. We have an equitable financing study and did look at different ways that impact 



MTAC Meeting Minutes from May 17, 2023 Page 10 
 
 
 
 

driving. Ms. Loftin suggested looking at the long-term impacts for communities to understand 
where families are outpriced for affordable housing. 

• Glen Bolen noted ODOT’s tolling equitable advisory group committee that provides input and 
data on equity issues. A program that was based on income was developed but sadly most in 
the areas of the program did not take advantage of it.  Better marketing is planned. 

• Joseph Edge asked can we start showing Total VMT alongside VMT per capita? Mr. Eliot noted 
the reason we focus on per capita is because those targets from the state are discussed and 
framed for the RTP. We can share both sets of data and welcome further inputs and feedback 
on the draft plan. 

 
Adjournment 
There being no further business, meeting was adjourned by Chair Kehe at 11:54 a.m. 
Respectfully submitted, 
Marie Miller, MTAC Recorder 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



MTAC Meeting Minutes from May 17, 2023 Page 11 
 
 
 
 

Attachments to the Public Record, MTAC meeting May 17, 2023 
 

 
Item 

DOCUMENT TYPE DOCUMENT  
DATE 

 
DOCUMENT DESCRIPTION 

 
DOCUMENT NO. 

1 Agenda 5/17/2023 5/17/2023 MTAC Meeting  Agenda 051723M-01 

2 MTAC Work 
Program 5/10/2023 MTAC Work Program as of 5/10/2023 051723M-02 

3 Minutes 3/15/2023 Draft minutes from March 15, 2023 MTAC meeting 051723M-03 

4 Presentation 5/17/2023 Metro Residential Readiness Middle Housing Potential 051723M-04 

5 Memo 5/10/2023 

TO: Metro Technical Advisory Committee Members and 
interested parties 
From: Ally Holmqvist, Senior Transportation Planner 
RE: High Capacity Transit Strategy Update: Report and 
Recommendations 

051723M-05 

6 Attachment 1 N/A 
HIGH CAPACITY TRANSIT STRATEGY UPDATE 
Key Meeting Dates and Engagement Activities for Project 
Milestones 

051723M-06 

7 Attachment 2 4/19/2023 
Recap on HCT Vision and tiering, overview of Draft HCT 
Strategy Update report, next steps for the project and 
interaction with the ongoing RTP update 

051723M-07 

8 Attachment 3 4/26/2023 HIGH CAPACITY TRANSIT Strategy Update 051723M-08 

9 Attachment 4 April 2023 DRAFT High Capacity Transit Strategy Update 051723M-09 

10 Attachment 5 April 2023 

Public and stakeholder engagement and consultation 
summary 
High Capacity Transit Strategy Update 2023 Regional 
Transportation Plan 

051723M-10 

11 Report Plan Spring 2023 TriMet TRANSIT-ORIENTED DEVELOPMENT PLAN 051723M-11 

12 Presentation 5/17/2023 Transit-Oriented Development 
TriMet Regional TOD Plan 051723M-12 

13 Memo 5/17/2023 

TO: MTAC and interested parties 
From: Eliot Rose, Senior Transportation Planner 
RE: Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan system 
analysis results 

051723M-13 

14 Handout 5/11/2023 Briefing Book for JPACT and Metro Council 
for workshop on May 11, 2023 051723M-14 

15 Fact Sheet Feb. 2023 2023 Regional Transportation Plan 051723M-15 



MTAC Meeting Minutes from May 17, 2023 Page 12 
 
 
 
 

 
Item 

DOCUMENT TYPE DOCUMENT  
DATE 

 
DOCUMENT DESCRIPTION 

 
DOCUMENT NO. 

16 Report 5/5/2023 2023 Regional Transportation Plan 
Draft System Analysis Findings 051723M-16 

17 Fact sheets N/A 2023 Regional Transportation Plan Update needs 
assessments 051723M-17 

18 Handout May 2023 2023 Regional Transportation Plan 
Draft project list overview and maps 051723M-18 

19 Handout May 4, 2023 
2023 Regional Transportation Plan 
Community input on investment priorities – 
Preliminary summary 

051723M-19 

20 Presentation May 17, 2023 Metro Residential Readiness Middle Housing Potential, 
final 051723M-20 

21 Presentation May 17, 2023 HCT Strategy Update: Report & Actions 051723M-21 

22 Presentation May 17, 2023 2023 draft RTP system analysis results 051723M-22 

 
 



Draft Public 
Engagement Plan

2024 Urban Growth Management Decision 

July 2023 



TABLE OF CONTENTS 

Introduction…………………………………………………………………………………………………………….………………….1 

Urban growth management decision-making framework…………………………………………………………......1 

Public engagement goals and objectives …………………………………………..…………………………………….…....2 

Public engagement approach……………………………………………………………………………………………………….3 

Engagement activities……………………………………………………………………………………………………………..…..4 

Project timeline………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………...10 

Engagement roles and responsibilities……………………………………………………………………………………….12 



2024 UGM Decision Public Engagement Plan| June 2023 1 

INTRODUCTION 

Regional readiness for population, housing, and job growth 

The Metro Council is required under state law to adopt – by the end of 2024 – an assessment of the 
region’s capacity to accommodate the next twenty years of housing and job growth inside the urban 
growth boundary (UGB). This engagement plan outlines the spectrum of activities that will inform 
the Council’s decision, from formal Metro Council and advisory committee meetings to 
presentations to outside organizations and outreach to local jurisdictions. 

Metro seeks to improve its growth management practices every time it undertakes this cyclical 
process. As always, Metro will strive to improve the data analysis that informs decision makers. 
Likewise, Metro will continue its emphasis on land readiness to ensure that decisions emphasize 
the governance, market, and infrastructure conditions that must be present to produce housing and 
jobs. This process will differ from past decisions by applying a greater focus on the housing needs of 
all income groups, particularly households with lower incomes. This focus on affordability advances 
shared goals of increasing housing production for those that have the fewest choices. 

The engagement approach during this project will encompass a variety of audiences with a priority 
to increase the transparency of the inputs and assumptions that make up the urban growth report. 
Traditionally, the general public has not shown much interest in this process. We don’t know 
whether the information has appeared too complex, or the proposed expansions do not seem 
personally relevant. Regardless, a goal for this project is to simplify the key messages to increase 
awareness and understanding of the decision-making process and highlight the relevant 
opportunities for input. 

URBAN GROWTH MANAGEMENT DECISION-MAKING FRAMEWORK 

Metro has a statutory responsibility to manage the UGB for the Metro region. Its existing decision-
making framework is shown below.  



2024 UGM Decision Public Engagement Plan| June 2023 2 

The decision-making framework includes the Metro Council and three advisory committees (MPAC, 
MTAC, CORE) that will review, provide input and in some cases make recommendations on the 
development of the urban growth report. Integral to this decision-making process are timely 
opportunities for partners and the public to provide meaningful input to the Metro Council and the 
technical and policy advisory committees prior to key decision milestones. 

Metro’s Committee on Racial Equity (CORE) advises Metro Council and staff on the implementation 
of the Strategic Plan to Advance Racial Equity, Diversity, and Inclusion. CORE will provide input at 
key points in the urban growth management decision-making process. CORE’s input will be shared 
with Metro’s other advisory committees for consideration. The Metro Policy Advisory Committee 
(MPAC) advises and makes recommendations to the Metro Council on growth management and 
land use issues at the policy level, and the Metro Technical Advisory Committee (MTAC) provides 
input to MPAC at the technical level. 

Metro staff, including the Chief Operating Officer, will receive feedback from the stakeholder 
roundtable, youth cohort, and land use technical advisory group and share this information with 
the Metro advisory groups with regularly scheduled update presentations. These groups will be 
described in the Engagement Activities section of the document. 

PUBLIC ENGAGEMENT GOALS & OBJECTIVES 

The plan is in alignment with Metro’s agency wide Strategic Plan to Advance Racial Equity, 
Diversity and Inclusion, and the Planning, Development and Research Departmental Strategy for 
Achieving Racial Equity. A youth cohort will be convened with diverse membership and 
representation across all three Metro counties. The stakeholder roundtable membership will reflect 
a range of voices, variety of experiences and perspectives, and regional representation.  



2024 UGM Decision Public Engagement Plan| June 2023  3 

 

 
The desired outcome of the engagement is to: 
• Increase transparency of the assumptions and inputs of the analyses in the Urban Growth 

Report 

• Expand outreach to a broader range of stakeholders and perspectives, including youth 

• Simplify key messages for presentations and communication to a variety of audiences 

• Capture feedback from across the region in advance of key milestones and share input with 
decisionmakers  

• Increase communication and coordination with local jurisdictions to improve readiness of city 
proposals for expansion 

 
The information gathered from engagement activities will be shared with decision-makers to 
ensure they have opportunity to contemplate and fully consider public input.  
 

PUBLIC ENGAGEMENT APPROACH 

Increase transparency of the decision-making process, assumptions, and analysis inputs 

Advisory groups will serve as the primary engagement mechanisms for collaboration and 
consensus building for this UGM process. In addition to these groups, engagement with other 
interested individuals, communities and organizations will be an important element of the 
engagement strategy. 
 
• Provide information to the public about urban growth management and its function in clear, 

engaging, and simplified ways 

• Encourage public access to review city expansion proposals with opportunities to submit 
public comments 

• Demystify the urban growth management decision-making process, correct common 
misunderstandings about the role of Metro and the UGB, and increase access to the 
background analysis and data that make up the Urban Growth Report 

• Emphasize the Urban Growth Report (UGR) as a decision-support tool: The draft UGR that staff 
will release in the summer of 2024 will not be a conclusive determination of regional need for 
land. The draft UGR will provide high quality, peer-reviewed analysis that will serve as a 
decision support tool for policy makers 

• Focus on readiness: Focus policy discussions on the readiness of cities to urbanize possible 
expansion areas (concept planned Urban Reserves) 

• Deepen understanding of and access to Council decision-making process 



2024 UGM Decision Public Engagement Plan| June 2023  4 

 

o The Council’s decision will include a regional housing needs analysis. That analysis 
will inform a subsequent Regional Housing Coordination Strategy that Metro is 
required to complete by the end of 2025.  

• Expand awareness of potential equity impacts 

 

ENGAGEMENT ACTIVITIES 

Summary 

Group 
Level of engagement 
(inform, consult, involve, 
collaborate, empower) 

Discussion format and purpose 

MPAC Involve Monthly or bimonthly updates; 
advice given to Council 

MTAC Consult Monthly meetings; feedback 
given to MPAC 

CORE Involve 4-6 meetings over the course of 
the project; feedback given to 
staff and Council 

Metro Council Decision-maker Bi-monthly work sessions; 
feedback given to staff; receive 
feedback from advisory 
committees; listening role on 
stakeholder roundtable; 
decision makers 

Stakeholder roundtable Involve Monthly or bi-monthly meetings 
to provide input and feedback 
on urban growth report 
analyses; feedback given to staff 

Youth cohort Involve 8 meetings; feedback shared 
with staff, MPAC, and Council 

Land use technical advisory group Involve/Collaborate Collaboration and technical 
advice given to staff 

Metro cities and counties Involve Direct communication with 
Metro staff and Councilors 



2024 UGM Decision Public Engagement Plan| June 2023  5 

 

through proposal process, 
surveys, interviews, and visits 

General public Inform and consult Outreach via Metro website, 
social media, and open invites to 
public meetings 

 

Metro advisory group meetings 

MPAC 

The Metro Policy Advisory Committee (MPAC) will be engaged in policy discussions like those that 
the Council engages in throughout the process. MPAC will be asked for its advice to the Metro 
Council in late summer 2024. MPAC’s advice will focus on policy options for increasing the region’s 
readiness for housing and employment growth and the merits of any city proposals for handling 
some of that growth through concept planned UGB expansions. 

MTAC 

The Metro Technical Advisory Committee (MTAC) will provide advice on technical aspects as 
needed. Local jurisdiction staff review of the buildable land inventory will be essential and Metro 
will reconvene the ad-hoc Land Use Technical Advisory Group, which has overlap with MTAC 
membership for this purpose. MTAC will also be asked to review of any city proposals for UGB 
expansions. Lastly, MPAC may request MTAC’s technical advice on topics. 

CORE 

Metro’s Committee on Racial Equity’s (CORE) advice will be sought on the formation of a diverse 
youth cohort to both learn about and advise on Metro’s growth management approach. After 
additional discussion with CORE, staff will identify the appropriate timing of further engagement 
with the committee over the course of this work program. CORE has, in particular, expressed an 
interest in reviewing city proposals for UGB expansions. 

Metro Council meetings 

Leading up to the Council’s decision in late 2024, policy makers will engage in discussions of a 
variety of growth and development trends as well as reviewing any UGB expansion proposals 
submitted by cities. Policy maker discussions will focus on development readiness, additional 
actions that may be needed to increase housing production and economic growth inside existing 
urban areas, and specific city proposals for addressing housing and employment needs in UGB 
expansion areas. Metro Councilors will engage directly with their local elected counterparts 
throughout this process. Metro Councilors will also be invited to observe stakeholder roundtable 
discussions. 



2024 UGM Decision Public Engagement Plan| June 2023  6 

 

Stakeholder roundtable 

For the 2024 urban growth management decision, Metro staff will convene a stakeholder 
roundtable to inform the content of the 2024 UGR through contributing their perspectives on the 
content and analyses. To facilitate stakeholder roundtable discussions, staff will convene the group 
throughout this process, bringing forward summaries of ongoing work around growth trends and 
other relevant topics.  

Stakeholder roundtable discussions and perspectives will be reflected in the 2024 UGR and the 
Metro COO will consider the group’s feedback on a variety of topics when preparing 
recommendations for the Metro Council. To provide that feedback, the committee will have regular 
opportunities to familiarize itself with ongoing work and peer review processes. Committee 
representatives will be asked to summarize the group’s discussions at Metro Policy Advisory 
Committee (MPAC) and Metro Council meetings. 

Staff will consider the group’s feedback when preparing a recommendation for the Metro Council 
UGB decision. 

 

 



2024 UGM Decision Public Engagement Plan| June 2023  7 

 

Youth cohort  

In addition to the stakeholder roundtable, staff will convene a youth cohort with the intention of 
providing leadership opportunities and seeking a younger generation’s perspective on long-range 
planning related topics. The youth cohort will support integration and growing familiarity with 
ongoing planning work and increase representation in the UGM decision-making process. Input and 
recommendations from the youth cohort will be shared with Metro Council, MPAC, and CORE. 

 

 

Technical peer review groups 

Several technical peer review groups will be engaged in the development of the 2024 UGR. Those 
will include: 

Regional Forecast: a peer review group consisting of economists and demographers will review 
regional forecast methods and results. 

Buildable land inventory: the Land Use Technical Advisory Group, consisting of local jurisdiction 
planning staff and other development specialists will review buildable land inventory and growth 



2024 UGM Decision Public Engagement Plan| June 2023  8 

 

capacity estimation methods and results. The draft inventory will also be made available for review 
by all local jurisdictions. 

Additional interest group presentations 

As different components of the project are completed, Metro staff will provide update presentations 
to various jurisdictions, professional associations, and other interest groups.  Examples of these 
groups include County planning directors, Greater Portland Inc, Economic Development Local 
Practitioners, and the Commercial Association of Brokers. 

These presentations will occur at various times leading up to the conclusion of the project. Metro 
staff will compile a final summary list of these presentations and audiences as part of the urban 
growth report engagement section.  

Local jurisdiction engagement 

As described in this engagement summary, this decision-making process is centered on city 
readiness. As such, there will be a heavy emphasis on the merits of city proposals for concept 
planned UGB expansions.  

Metro staff, Councilors, and the Chief Operating Officer will conduct outreach to local elected 
officials and planning staff to understand plans for growth, challenges in their communities, and 
resource needs. These conversations will increase transparency and communication between 
Metro and local jurisdictions and help Metro to anticipate forthcoming expansion proposals. 
Additionally, this information will be used to update and improve the 2040 planning and 
development grants program to better meet the discussed needs. 

Cities will be responsible for leading local engagement on concept planning Urban Reserve areas. 
Public engagement is a required component of developing and submitting a concept plan for a 
proposed expansion area. The concept plans for proposed expansion areas will be released as 
appendices to the Urban Growth Report and made available for region-wide public feedback. 

Local jurisdiction staff will also have opportunities to provide peer review of the buildable land 
inventory. 

Public communication 

The public will have access to the progress of the urban growth report and accompanying analyses 
throughout the project as the Metro project page is periodically updated.   

Metro website and news articles 

The UGM project page could include a variety of elements to present the analyses and background 
information in a simplified, clear, engaging way. The purpose is to provide robust data and a 
comprehensive analysis of the region and its needs in a compelling format that invites greater 
understanding of the decision-making process and opportunities for feedback. Examples of 
potential web features include:  



2024 UGM Decision Public Engagement Plan| June 2023  9 

 

• Interactive map 

• Urban Growth Boundary myth vs. reality “quiz” 

• Quick learning guides about UGR components 

• “What’s in a BLI?” 

• Displacement analysis 

• Our region in numbers 

• Guide for submitting comments about the UGR 

Social media 

Metro’s social media channels, primarily Instagram, can be used to present key graphics to reach a 
broad audience and direct them to learn more about urban growth management and clarify 
common misconceptions or misunderstandings about this work. The goal of this outreach is to be 
eye-catching and accessible. Social media posts could include: 

• UGB comic 

• Youth cohort field trip footage 

• Slideshow explainers of different analyses or interesting findings 

• Time capsule series – look through UGB decisions of the past – “where are they now” 

Public hearings 

Most Metro advisory committee meetings during this process are open to the public. The most 
formal opportunity for testimony is the official public hearing in September 2024 to discuss the 
COO recommendations. However, beyond this opportunity, the public may participate in additional 
meetings through listening in to the presentations and are welcome to send comments and 
questions to the project team. The website will be kept current to provide information about 
relevant public meetings.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



2024 UGM Decision Public Engagement Plan| June 2023  10 

 

PROJECT TIMELINE 

 

Detailed engagement timeline 

Summer 2023: Convene stakeholder roundtable; Convene Land Use Technical Advisory Group to 
provide advice on methods for determining the buildable land inventory 

Fall/winter 2023: Convene youth cohort; Local jurisdiction review of preliminary buildable 
land inventory results 

December 1, 2023: Cities submit letters of interest for UGB expansions 

Winter 2023/2024: Peer review of regional population, household, and employment forecast 

April 5, 2024:  City proposals for UGB expansions due 

June 28, 2024:  Release draft UGR and appendices 

June 28, 2024:  Public comment period open for the UGR and city expansion proposals 

July 9, 2024:  Council work session discussion of draft UGR 

July 17, 2024:  MTAC discussion of draft UGR  

July (TBD), 2024: Stakeholder roundtable discussion of draft UGR  

July 18, 2024:  CORE discussion of draft UGR  



2024 UGM Decision Public Engagement Plan| June 2023  11 

 

July 24, 2024:  MPAC discussion of draft UGR; request any MTAC advice 

July 31, 2024:  Public comment period for the UGR and city expansion proposals ends 

August 23, 2024: Release COO recommendation 

September 3, 2024: Council work session on COO recommendations 

September 11, 2024: MPAC discusses recommendations to Council; request any final MTAC advice  

September 18, 2024: MTAC advice to MPAC, if requested 

September 19, 2024: CORE recommendation to Council 

September 21, 2024: Council holds public hearing on COO recommendations 

September 25, 2024: MPAC recommendation to Council 

October 1, 2024: Council provides direction to staff at work session 

Oct-Nov, 2024:  Complete various required notice procedures 

November 28, 2024: Council first reading of ordinance; public hearing 

December 12, 2024: Council second reading of ordinance; decision 

  



2024 UGM Decision Public Engagement Plan| June 2023  12 

 

ENGAGEMENT ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES 

Policy partnerships: Council, MPAC, CORE 

• Provide leadership and policy direction to 
staff 

• Build partnerships and collaborate 
• Engage partners and the public 
• Incorporate input from partners, advisory 

groups, and the public 

Community partnerships: Stakeholder 
roundtable, youth cohort, interest groups, 
public 

• Provide community values, needs and 
priorities 

• Provide youth lived experience and 
perspective 

• Provide ideas and solutions 
• Provide input and feedback to Metro staff 

and decision-makers 

Technical partnerships: MTAC, land use 
technical advisory group 

• Implement policy direction to update urban 
growth report 

• Provide technical expertise 
• Keep decision-makers informed of progress 
• Incorporate input from partners and the 

public 
• Make recommendations to decision-makers 
Technical support: Metro staff, EcoNorthwest, 
Johnson Economics 

• Implement policy direction to update plan 
• Provide technical expertise 
• Keep decision-makers informed of progress 
• Incorporate input from partners and the 

public 
• Make recommendations to decision-makers 

and advisory groups 
 



 

 

 
 
Date: July 12, 2023 

To: Metro Technical Advisory Committee (MTAC) and interested parties 

From: Kim Ellis, RTP Project Manager 

Subject: 2023 Regional Transportation Plan – Schedule and Adoption Package 

PURPOSE 

Provide an overview of how the 2023 Regional Transportation Plan and 2023 High Capacity Transit 
Strategy will be adopted.  

BACKGROUND 
The greater Portland region’s economic prosperity and quality of life depend on a transportation 
system that provides every person and business in the region with equitable access to safe, reliable, 
healthy and affordable travel options. Through the 2023 RTP update, the Metro Council is working 
with leaders and communities throughout the region to plan the transportation system of the 
future by updating the region's shared transportation vision and investment strategy for the next 
22 years.  

Shown in Figure 1, the region is entering the final adoption phase for the 2023 Regional 
Transportation Plan (RTP) and 2023 High Capacity Transit (HCT) Strategy.  

 

A final 45-day public comment opportunity began on Monday, July 10 and ends on Friday, August 
25, 2023 at 5 PM. The Metro Council will hold a public hearing on July 27 as part of the comment 
period. Metro staff will formally consult with federally-recognized tribes and federal, state, regional 
and resource agencies. Comments may be also be submitted through an online survey, using an 
online comment form, and by email, letters, and phone. Following the comment period, Metro staff 
will prepare a Final Public Comment Report that includes survey results, online feedback and 
copies of all emails, letters, and transcriptions of voicemails received during the formal comment 
period as well as consultation meeting summaries and transcriptions of verbal testimony provided 
during the public hearing. 



2023 REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION PLAN – SCHEDULE AND ADOPTION PACKAGE 7/12/23 

 2 

Metro staff will propose recommended actions to respond to substantive public comments1 
received by August 4 for discussion by the Metro Technical Advisory Committee (MTAC) and the 
Transportation Policy Alternatives Committee (TPAC) at the joint workshop on August 16. The 
recommended actions will include amendments to the public review draft RTP and HCT Strategy, 
recommendations for no change with an explanation as to why no change is recommended, and 
recommendations for future work.  

Metro staff will propose additional recommended actions to respond to comments received 
between August 5 and 25 for consideration by MTAC and TPAC during regular committee meetings 
and workshops in September and October.  At their September meetings, MTAC and TPAC will be 
requested to identify topics for discussion by the Metro Policy Advisory Committee (MPAC) and the 
Joint Policy Advisory Committee on Transportation (JPACT) in September and October.  In addition, 
the Metro Council is scheduled to hold a legislative hearing on September 28 as part of the first read 
of the ordinance adopting the 2023 RTP. 

On October 25, MPAC will be asked to make a recommendation to the Metro Council on adoption of 
the 2023 RTP and 2023 HCT Strategy, including the recommended actions. On November 3, TPAC 
will be asked to make a recommendation to JPACT. On November 16, JPACT will be asked to 
consider TPAC’s recommendation and make a recommendation to the Metro Council on adoption of 
the 2023 RTP and 2023 HCT Strategy, including the recommended actions. On November 30, the 
Metro Council is scheduled to hold a final legislative hearing and consider final action on the 
recommendations from MPAC and JPACT. The 2023 RTP becomes effective immediately upon 
adoption by the Metro Council. In early 2024, the adopted plan and findings will be submitted to the 
Land Conservation and Development Commission (LCDC) and Department of Land Conservation 
and Development (DLCD) for review and acknowledgement of consistency with statewide planning 
goals and administrative rules.  

Adoption of the 2023 Regional Transportation Plan 

The RTP is a component of the Regional Framework Plan, which is a governing document for the 
greater Portland region that carries the force and effect of law. First adopted in 1997, the RFP 
identifies regional policies to implement the 2040 Growth Concept, including regional 
transportation.2 

 When the Metro Council adopts amendments to the RTP or other components of the Regional 
Framework Plan, it is adopting legislation that must be adopted by ordinance in order to create 
legally binding requirements on local governments in the region. The RTP will also be adopted as 
the federally-recognized metropolitan transportation plan for the region under federal law and the 
regional transportation system plan for the region under state law.  

The ordinance number, draft title and a list of proposed exhibits is provided for reference: 

Ordinance No. 23-1496 For the Purpose of Amending the 2023 Regional Transportation 
Plan to Comply With Federal and State Law (draft title) 

• Exhibit A – Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan and 
Appendices. This exhibit includes the draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan and 
appendices, including the financially constrained project list.  Amendments to the 
RTP document and appendices are documented in Exhibit C, but will not be 
incorporated in Exhibit A until after adoption by JPACT and the Metro Council. 

 
1 Substantive comments are comments that proposed specific changes or raise specific issues or concerns. 

2 https://www.oregonmetro.gov/regional-framework-plan 
 
 

https://www.oregonmetro.gov/regional-framework-plan


2023 REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION PLAN – SCHEDULE AND ADOPTION PACKAGE 7/12/23 

 3 

• Exhibit B – Regional Framework Plan Amendments. This exhibit amends the 
existing Chapter 2 of the Regional Framework Plan with the new goals and 
objectives included in Chapter 2 of the 2023 Regional Transportation Plan.  

• Exhibit C – Summary of Comments Received and Recommended Actions. This 
exhibit documents substantive comments received and recommended actions, 
including amendments to Exhibit A. 

• Exhibit D – Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law. This exhibit includes legal 
findings that demonstrate consistency of the RTP with federal, state and regional 
requirements. This exhibit will be developed by the Office of Metro Attorney. 

Adoption of the 2023 High Capacity Transit Strategy 

The RTP is supported by several modal and topical strategies, including the Regional High Capacity 
Transit Strategy, that are primarily guidance documents that provide a vision, policies and 
recommendations for the region that support implementation of the RTP. The HCT Strategy is 
proposed for adoption by resolution, like other strategies have been adopted, because much of each 
strategy consists of recommendations that do not impose binding obligations on local governments. 
However, key elements from each of the strategies that will create binding obligations on local 
governments are incorporated into the 2023 RTP, including: recommended transit network 
concepts, system maps that define functional classifications for transit, and policies for transit. 
Adoption of the HCT Strategy by resolution expresses the intent of the Metro Council to support and 
implement the strategy, and is appropriate for strategies that provide guidance and policy 
direction.  

The resolution number and draft title is provided for reference: 

Resolution No. 23-5348 For the Purpose of Adopting the 2023 Regional High Capacity 
Transit Strategy (draft title) 

• Exhibit A – Public Review Draft 2023 Regional High Capacity Transit Strategy. 
This exhibit includes the draft 2023 Regional High Capacity Transit Strategy.  
Amendments to the HCT are documented in Exhibit B, but will not be incorporated 
in Exhibit A until after adoption by JPACT and the Metro Council. 

• Exhibit B – Summary of Comments Received and Recommended Actions. This 
exhibit documents substantive comments and recommended actions, including 
amendments to Exhibit A. 

NEXT STEPS 
A schedule of remaining Council and regional advisory committee discussions and final actions is 
attached for reference along with an overview of the RTP chapters and supporting appendices. 

Public review drafts of the RTP and HCT Strategy are posted on the 2023 RTP at 
www.oregonmetro.gov/rtp. The public comment will close at 5 p.m. on August 25.  

Metro staff will propose amendments to respond to public comments received by August 13 for 
discussion by MTAC and TPAC at the joint workshop on August 29. The draft legislation and 
respective staff reports will be available for review in early September. 

 

/Attachment 

Attachment 1. 2023 RTP Update Schedule and Key Dates (6/29/23) 

Attachment 2. 2023 RTP Chapters and Appendices Overview 

http://www.oregonmetro.gov/rtp


oregonmetro.gov/rtp        6/29/23 

2023 REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION PLAN UPDATE 

Key Dates for Finalizing the 2023 Regional Transportation Plan and 
2023 High Capacity Transit Strategy for Adoption 

June to November 2023 
Dates are subject to change.  

 
 

 
Note: Under Federal law, the current Regional Transportation Plan expires on Dec. 6, 2023. 
 

June 6/2 TPAC • Action: Make recommendation to JPACT on release of 
draft 2023 RTP, project list and draft HCT Strategy for 
public review (Resolution No. 23-5343) 

6/13 Metro Council • Discuss TPAC recommendation to JPACT and next steps 

6/15 JPACT • Action: Make recommendation to Metro Council on 
release of draft 2023 RTP, project list and draft HCT 
Strategy for public review (Resolution No. 23-5343) 

6/15 CORE • Overview of Council and JPACT roles, what we learned 
through community engagement and the equity-based 
analysis, and receive feedback on ways for the RTP and 
process to further advance racial equity 

6/21 TPAC 
Workshop 

• Discuss RTP System Analysis – transit, tolling and 
climate analysis 

6/23 Notice  • Notice of public comment period 

6/28 MPAC • Public comment period announcement  (Metro Council 
update) 

6/29 Metro Council • Action on JPACT recommendation (Res. No. 23-5343) 

https://www.oregonmetro.gov/public-projects/2023-regional-transportation-plan


2023 RTP Update: Key Dates for Finalizing the 2023 RTP      6/29/23 
and 2023 HCT Strategy for Adoption - June to November 2023 
 

Items in italics are tentative 2 

July 7/7 TPAC • Public comment period announcement (comment from 
the chair) 

• Overview of Fall adoption package (Ordinance, 
Resolution & Exhibits) 

• Discuss draft RTP Ch. 8 and identify topics for JPACT 
discussion 

7/10  45-day public comment period begins: 

• online survey 

• online comment form 

• email, letters and phone 

• public hearing on 7/27/23 

• individual consultation meetings with Tribes 

• joint consultation meetings of 
federal/state/regional/resource agencies 

• county-level coordinating committee briefings 

• Metro Council and regional advisory committee 
discussions  

7/12 TPAC 
Workshop 

• Discuss RTP mobility policy measures: 

• Throughway reliability travel speed analysis findings 

• TDM/TSMO system completion 

• TSMO Key Corridors 

7/19 MTAC • Overview of draft RTP and public comment period 
announcement and Fall adoption package (Ordinance, 
Resolution & Exhibits) 

• Discuss draft RTP Ch. 8 and identify topics for MPAC 
discussion 

7/20 JPACT • Overview of draft RTP and public comment period 
announcement  (comments from the Chair) 

• Discuss freight delay and commodity movement study 
findings 

7/20 CORE • RTP public comment period announcement  (Metro 
Council updates) 

7/27 Metro Council • Public hearing on draft 2023 RTP, project list and draft 
HCT Strategy 

August 8/4 TPAC • Discuss freight delay and commodity movement study 
findings 

• 2023 RTP: Regional Mobility Policy Measures 
(VMT/capita and throughway reliability) 

• Discuss draft RTP Ch. 8 and/or RTP policies, if needed 

8/16 TPAC/MTAC 
Workshop 

• Discuss RTP mobility policy and VMT/capita analysis 

• Overview of public comments received to date 

8/23 DLCD • Submit Notice of Post Acknowledgement Plan 
Amendment (PAPA) – 35 days prior to first read 

8/25  • 45-day public comment period ends at 5 PM 

  



2023 RTP Update: Key Dates for Finalizing the 2023 RTP      6/29/23 
and 2023 HCT Strategy for Adoption - June to November 2023 
 

Items in italics are tentative 3 

September 9/1 TPAC • Draft adoption legislation and overview of public 
comments received and draft Metro staff 
recommended actions in response to public comments 

• Discuss draft RTP Ch. 8 and/or RTP policies, if needed 

• Discuss freight delay and commodity movement study 
draft findings 

9/12 Metro Council 
(requested) 

• Discuss draft RTP Ch.8 (Implementation) and RTP Ch. 3 
draft (pricing policies) 

9/13 TPAC 
Workshop 

• Discuss public comments received and draft Metro staff 
recommended actions in response to public comments 

• Identify policy topics for JPACT discussion 

9/20 MTAC • Draft adoption legislation 

• Discuss public comments received and draft Metro staff 
recommended actions in response to public comments 

• Identify topics for MPAC discussion 

9/21 JPACT • Overview of adoption package (Ordinance, Resolution & 
Exhibits) 

• Overview of public comments received and draft Metro 
staff recommended actions in response to public 
comments, and policy topics identified by TPAC for 
JPACT discussion 

• Discuss draft Ch.8 (Implementation) and Ch. 3 draft 
(pricing policies) 

9/21 CORE 
(requested) 

• Overview of public comments received and draft Metro 
staff recommended actions in response to public 
comments 

• Discuss draft Ch.8 (Implementation) equity-related 
future work 

9/27 MPAC • Overview of adoption package (Ordinance, Resolution & 
Exhibits) 

• Overview of public comments received and draft Metro 
staff recommended actions in response to public 
comments and policy topics identified by MTAC for 
MPAC discussion 

• Discuss draft Ch.8 (Implementation) and Ch. 3 draft 
(pricing policies) 

9/28 Metro Council • Public hearing (first evidentiary hearing/first read) on 
Ordinance 23-1496 

October 10/6 TPAC • Discuss draft Metro staff recommended actions in 
response to public comments and identify draft 
recommended actions for JPACT discussion 

10/18 MTAC • Make final recommendation to MPAC on adoption of 
2023 RTP (Ordinance 23-1496) and 2023 HCT Strategy 
(Resolution No. 23-5348), and recommended actions in 
response to public comments  

10/19 JPACT • Discuss draft TPAC recommended actions in response to 
public comments (focus on actions identified by TPAC 



2023 RTP Update: Key Dates for Finalizing the 2023 RTP      6/29/23 
and 2023 HCT Strategy for Adoption - June to November 2023 
 

Items in italics are tentative 4 

for JPACT discussion) 

10/25 MPAC • Make final recommendation to Metro Council on 
adoption of 2023 RTP (Ordinance 23-1496) and 2023 
HCT Strategy (Resolution No. 23-5348), and 
recommended actions in response to public comments 

November 11/3 TPAC • Make final recommendation to JPACT on adoption of 
2023 RTP (Ordinance 23-1496) and 2023 HCT Strategy 
(Resolution No. 23-5348), and recommended actions in 
response to public comments 

11/7 Metro Council • Discuss MPAC recommendation and TPAC 
recommendation to JPACT on adoption of 2023 RTP 
(Ordinance 23-1496) and 2023 HCT Strategy (Resolution 
No. 23-5348), and recommended actions in response to 
public comments 

11/16 JPACT • Make final recommendation to Metro Council on 
adoption of 2023 RTP (Ordinance 23-1496) and 2023 
HCT Strategy (Resolution No. 23-5348), and 
recommended actions in response to public comments 

11/30 Metro Council • Public hearing and consider final action on adoption of 
2023 RTP (Ordinance 23-1496) and 2023 HCT Strategy 
(Resolution No. 23-5348), and recommended actions in 
response to public comments 

 
 
 



6/29/23 

 1 

 

2023 REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION PLAN | TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 

Executive Summary 
This section provides an overview of the plan, how it was developed, key trends and challenges it will 
address and the outcomes it will deliver. The executive summary will be produced as a standalone 
document for the public review draft plan. 

Chapter 1 | Toward a Connected Region 
This chapter introduces the greater Portland region and Metro’s role in transportation planning, how the 
plan addresses regional, state and federal requirements, its relationship to other adopted plans and 
strategies, and the public process that shaped development of the plan. 

Chapter 2 | Our Shared Vision and Goals for Transportation  
This chapter presents the plan’s aspirational vision for the region’s transportation system. The vision is 
further described through goals, objectives and performance targets that reflect the values and desired 
outcomes expressed by the public, policymakers and community and business leaders engaged in 
development of the plan. This outcomes-based policy framework guides future planning and investment 
decisions as well as monitoring plan implementation. 

Chapter 3 | Transportation System Policies to Achieve Our Vision 
This chapter defines overarching policies for safety, equity, climate, mobility and pricing as well as the 
vision and policies for the modal networks of the regional transportation system – motor vehicle, transit, 
freight, bike and pedestrian - and for transportation system management and operations (TSMO) and 
transportation demand management (TDM). The policies will help the region make progress toward the 
plan’s vision and goals and implementation of the 2040 Growth Concept and Climate Smart Strategy. 
Together the policies will guide the development and implementation of the regional transportation 
system, informing transportation planning and investment decisions made by the Joint Policy Advisory 
Committee on Transportation (JPACT) and the Metro Council. 

Chapter 4 | Our Growing and Changing Region 
This chapter provides a snapshot of current regional growth trends and existing conditions and outlines 
key transportation challenges the plan will address and opportunities for building a regional 
transportation system that reflects our values and vision for the future. 

Chapter 5 | Our Transportation Funding Outlook 
This chapter provides an overview of local, state and federal funding expected to be available to pay for 
needed investments. 

Chapter 6 | Regional Programs and Projects to Achieve Our Vision 
This chapter describes how the region plans to invest in the transportation system, with expected funding.   

Chapter 7 | Measuring Outcomes  
This chapter reports on the expected system performance of the region’s investment priorities and 
documents whether the region achieves regional performance targets in 2045. 

Chapter 8 | Moving Forward Together  
This chapter describes ongoing and future efforts to implement the RTP, consistent with federal, state and 
regional requirements. The chaper summarizes ongoing regional programs, regional and state planning 
efforts and major project development activities underway in the region, and data and research activities 
to support Metro’s performance-planning responsibilities and plan implementation.  

Glossary 

Common Acronyms 

 
  



6/29/23 

 2 

APPENDICES 
Appendix A Constrained Priorities  – Near-term Constrained Project List (2023 to 2030); Long-

term Constrained Project List (2031 to 2045) 
Appendix B Unconstrained Priorities – 2031 to 2045 Strategic Project List 
Appendix C Federal Air Quality Attainment Status Certification Letter (effective Oct. 2, 2017) 
Appendix D Public and Stakeholder Engagement and Consultation Summary 

Note: This appendix is under development and will be included in final RTP 
Appendices. 

Appendix E not assigned 
Appendix F   Environmental Assessment and Potential Mitigation Strategies 
Appendix G Coordinated Transportation Plan for Seniors and People with Disabilities (adopted 

in June 2020 by the TriMet Board) 
Appendix H  Financial Strategy Documentation 
Appendix I Performance Evaluation Documentation 
Appendix J Climate Smart Strategy Implementation and Monitoring 
Appendix K Performance Targets 
Appendix L  Federal Performance-Based Planning and Congestion Management Process 

Documentation 
Appendix M Regional Analysis Documentation 
Appendix N Southwest Corridor Project Locally Preferred Alternative (adopted Dec. 6, 2018) 
Appendix O Earthquake Ready Burnside Bridge Preferred Alternative (adopted March 16, 

2023) 
Appendix P East Metro Connections Plan (adopted in June 2013) 
Appendix Q Sunrise Project Locally Preferred Alternative (adopted in July 2009) 
Appendix R I-5/99W Connector Study Recommendations (adopted in Feb. 2009 by Project 

Steering Committee) 
Appendix S I-5/Columbia River Bridge Replacement Locally Preferred Alternative (adopted in 

July 2008)  
Appendix T  Clackamas to Columbia Corridor Plan (adopted in 2020) 
Appendix U Summary of Comments Received and Recommended Actions 

Note: This appendix will be developed following the final public comment period 
and included in final RTP Appendices. 

 
LIST OF TOPICAL AND MODAL STRATEGIES AND PLANS* 
           Adoption date 
Regional Transportation System Management and Operations Strategy    Jan. 6, 2022 
Regional Transportation Safety Strategy       Dec. 6, 2018 
Regional Emerging Technology Strategy       Dec. 6, 2018 
Regional Freight Strategy        Dec. 6, 2018 
Regional Transit Strategy        Dec. 6, 2018 
Regional Travel Options Strategy       May 24, 2018 
Climate Smart Strategy (incorporated in the RTP in Dec. 2018)    Dec. 18, 2014 
Regional Active Transportation Plan       July 17, 2014 
 
* All strategies and plans were adopted by the Metro Council and Joint Policy Advisory 
Committee on Transportation (JPACT). 



 
 
 
 
Date: July 12, 2023 

To: Metro Technical Advisory Committee (MTAC) and interested parties 

From: Kim Ellis, RTP Project Manager, and John Mermin, Senior Transportation Planner 

Subject: 2023 Regional Transportation Plan (RTP) – Chapter 8 – RTP Implementation 

 
PURPOSE 
The purpose of this memo is to describe a process for reviewing and updating Chapter 8 prior to 
adoption of the 2023 Regional Transportation Plan (RTP). At the meeting, Metro staff will present 
an overview of Chapter 8 of the RTP, recommended future planning work and initial feedback 
provided by the Transportation Policy Alternatives Committee on July 7, 2023. 
 
QUESTIONS FOR MTAC DISCUSSION ON JULY 19 

• Questions about RTP process or Chapter 8? 

• Feedback regarding future implementation? 

• Feedback on topics for further discussion in August and September? 

 
BACKGROUND 
Chapter 8 “Moving Forward Together” outlines future studies and other work needed to advance 
implementation of the RTP or resolve issues that could not be fully addressed during the update. 
The chapter is organized into sections describing regional programs, region-wide planning efforts, 
corridor refinement planning, major project development and data/tools development.   
 
A section-by-section summary of key updates incorporated in Chapter 8 of the draft 2023 RTP 
follows.  
 
Draft 2023 RTP Implementation Chapter (Chapter 8) 
 
Section 1. Introduction 

• Minor text edits 
 

Section 2. Planning and Programs 
• Updated descriptions of planning and programs recommended in the near-term 

to advance implementation of the RTP and address unresolved issues identified 
through 2023 RTP update. 

• Completed efforts have been removed and several new efforts have been added, 
including: 

Regional Programs 
o Regional Transit Program 
o Better Bus Program 
o Regional Congestion Pricing Program 
 



Memo to MTAC and interested parties  7/12/23 
2023 Regional Transportation Plan (RTP) – Chapter 8 – RTP Implementation  

 2 

Regionwide Planning 
o Connecting First and Last Mile: Accessing Mobility through Transit 

Study 
o Cascadia Corridor Ultra-High-Speed Ground Transportation Project 

Planning 
o Equitable Development Strategies 
o Workforce Diversification in Regional Transportation Infrastructure 

Projects 
o Columbia Connects 

 
Section 3. Projects 

• Updated descriptions of major project development efforts.  
• Several new major project development efforts have been added, including: 

o I-205 Toll Project (includes widening and seismic improvements) 
o I-5 & I-205 Regional Mobility Pricing Project 
o I-5 Boone Bridge Replacement 
o Earthquake Ready Burnside Bridge 
o Tualatin Valley Highway Transit and Development Project 
o 82nd Avenue Transit Project 

 
Section 4. Data and Tools 

• Updated descriptions of data and tool development.  
• Two new data analysis tools have been added:  

o Social Vulnerability Explorer 
o VisionEval (VE-RSPM) Climate Monitoring Tool 

 
Process to update Chapter 8 
Resolution No. 23-5343 supports releasing the Draft RTP for public review and directs staff to 
revise Chapter 8 in response to public comments and policy discussion. Additionally, staff has 
provided a placeholder for the narratives in the Corridor Refinement Planning section (8.2.4) of the 
public review draft stating that the section will be “updated this Summer and informed by analysis of 
the RTP project list using the newly updated regional mobility policy.” 
 
MTAC will have an opportunity at the July 19 and Sept. 20 meetings to discuss Chapter 8 and 
identify topics for discussion by the Metro Policy Advisory Committee (MPAC).  
 
Thus far, the need to clarify future pricing-related implementation work has been flagged for 
discussion by the Metro Council, JPACT and MPAC in September. The current discussion of pricing 
within Chapter 8 is located within the narratives for the Regional Congestion Pricing Program 
(section 8.2.2.13) and the I-5 & I-205 Regional Mobility Pricing Project (8.3.1.7). 
 
Additionally, all jurisdictions, members of the public and community-based organizations are 
encouraged to send Metro formal comments describing any recommended changes to Chapter 8 
during the public comment period (July 10-August 25, 2023). Metro staff will respond to all 
substantive comments provided during the public comment period and share these responses with 
TPAC in September for discussion and to identify topics for JPACT discussion.  
 
  



Memo to MTAC and interested parties  7/12/23 
2023 Regional Transportation Plan (RTP) – Chapter 8 – RTP Implementation  

 3 

Next Steps 
• July 19 MTAC - Discussion of Chapter 8 
• August 4 TPAC - Discussion of Chapter 8 (if needed) 
• September 1 TPAC - Discussion of Chapter 8 (if needed) 
• September 12 (requested) Metro Council - Discussion of Chapter 8 
• September 13 TPAC workshop – Discussion of Metro staff recommended actions in 

response to public comments, including requesting changes to Chapter 8; identify topics for 
JPACT discussion 

• September 20 MTAC – Discussion of Metro staff recommended actions in response to public 
comments, including requesting changes to Chapter 8; identify topics for MPAC discussion 

• September 21 JPACT - Discussion of Chapter 8 and public comments on draft RTP and draft 
HCT Strategy 

• September 27 MPAC – Discussion of Chapter 8 and public comments on draft RTP and draft 
HCT Strategy 
 

Please contact kim.ellis@oregonmetro.gov  and John.Mermin@oregonmetro.gov with any questions 
or concerns. 
 
/attachment  
 
Attachment 1. Public Draft RTP Chapter 8 – July10, 2023  

mailto:kim.ellis@oregonmetro.gov
mailto:John.Mermin@oregonmetro.gov


 

 

Chapter 8  
Moving Forward Together 

2023 Regional Transportation Plan 
July 10,2023 Public Review Draft  



 

 

 

This page intentionally left blank. 

  



 

  

Table of Contents 

Chapter 8 .............................................................................................................................. 1 

8.0 Purpose ........................................................................................................................ 8-1 

Chapter organization ................................................................................................................ 8-1 

8.1 INTRODUCTION ........................................................................................................ 8-3 

Connecting Our Shared Values and Vision for the Future: Setting a Course for 

Transportation .......................................................................................................................... 8-3 

8.2.1 Local Implementation .................................................................................................. 8-7 

8.2.2 Metro’s Regional Programs.......................................................................................... 8-7 

8.2.2.1  Civil Rights and Environmental Justice program ............................................... 8-8 

8.2.2.2  Regional Safe Streets for All Program ............................................................... 8-9 

8.2.2.3  Regional Active Transportation Program ........................................................ 8-10 

8.2.2.4  Regional Freight Program ................................................................................ 8-10 

8.2.2.5        Regional Transit Program ................................................................................ 8-10 

8.2.2.6  Transportation System Management and Operations (TSMO) Program ....... 8-11 

8.2.2.7  Regional Travel Options (RTO) and Safe Routes to School Programs ............. 8-12 

8.2.2.8 Air Quality and Climate Change Monitoring Program ..................................... 8-13 

8.2.2.9 Designing Livable Streets and Trails Program .................................................. 8-13 

8.2.2.10 Regional Transit-Oriented Development Program .......................................... 8-14 

8.2.2.11 Investment Areas Program .............................................................................. 8-14 

8.2.2.12 Better Bus Program .......................................................................................... 8-15 

8.2.2.13     Regional Congestion Pricing Program .............................................................. 8-15 

8.2.3 Region-wide Planning ................................................................................................ 8-16 

8.2.3.1  Regional Mobility Policy Implementation Action Plan .................................... 8-17 



 

 

 

8.2.3.2  Transit Planning ............................................................................................... 8-18 

8.2.3.3        Connecting First and Last Mile: Accessing Mobility through Transit Study .... 8-18 

8.2.3.4  Steel Bridge Transit Bottleneck Study ............................................................. 8-19 

8.2.3.5  Cascadia Corridor Ultra-High-Speed Ground Transportation Project Planning8-21 

8.2.3.6   Equitable Development Strategies .................................................................. 8-21 

8.2.3.7  Workforce Diversification in Regional Transportation Infrastructure Projects8-22 

8.2.3.8  Funding Strategy for Regional Bridges ............................................................ 8-24 

8.2.3.9  Emergency Transportation Routes Project Phase 2 ........................................ 8-25 

8.2.3.10 Regional Freight Rail Study............................................................................... 8-26 

8.2.3.11 Regional Transportation Functional Plan Update ............................................ 8-27 

8.2.3.12 2040 Refresh Coordination .............................................................................. 8-28 

8.2.3.13 Columbia Connects........................................................................................... 8-29 

8.2.4 Corridor Refinement Planning ................................................................................... 8-29 

8.2.4.1  Tigard to Wilsonville (Mobility Corridor 3)...................................................... 8-35 

8.2.4.2  Portland Central City Loop (Mobility Corridor 4) ............................................ 8-38 

8.2.4.3 Clark County to I-5 via Gateway, Oregon City and Tualatin (Mobility Corridors 

7, 8 and 10) ........................................................................................................................ 8-41 

8.2.4.4  Beaverton to Forest Grove (Mobility Corridors 14 and 15) ............................ 8-43 

8.2.4.5  Powell-Division Corridor: Portland Central City to Lents Town Center and Lents 

Town Center to Gresham Regional Center (Mobility Corridors 19 and 20) ......................... 49 

8.2.4.6  Hillsboro to Portland (Mobility Corridors 13 and 14) ..................................... 8-51 

8.3 Projects .................................................................................................................. 8-56 

8.3.1 Major Project Development....................................................................................... 8-56 

8.3.1.1 Interstate 5 Replacement (IBR) Program (previously Columbia River Crossing 

Project) 8-59 



 

  

8.3.1.2  Sunrise Project and Sunrise Community Visioning Project ............................. 8-62 

8.3.1.3  Southwest Corridor Transit Project ................................................................. 8-63 

8.3.1.4  I-5 Rose Quarter Improvement Project ........................................................... 8-65 

8.3.1.5  I-205 Abernethy Bridge and Phase 1A Construction .......................................... 68 

8.3.1.6 I-205 Toll Project (Includes Widening and Seismic Improvements) ................... 69 

8.3.1.7    I-5 & I-205 Regional Mobility Pricing Project ................................................... 8-70 

8.3.1.8  I-5 Boone Bridge Replacement……………………………………………………………………..73 

8.3.1.9       Earthquake Ready Burnside Bridge……………………………………………………………….75 

8.3.1.10   Tualatin Valley Highway Transit and Development Project ............................. 8-75 

8.3.1.11    82nd Avenue Transit Project ............................................................................ 8-76 

8.3.2 Metropolitan Transportation Improvement Program ............................................... 8-79 

8.3.2.1 MTIP responsibilities and oversight ................................................................. 8-80 

8.3.2.2 The role of the MTIP in regional planning........................................................ 8-80 

8.3.2.3  Demonstrating consistency prior to implementation...................................... 8-81 

8.3.2.4 Demonstrating fiscal constraint ....................................................................... 8-83 

8.3.2.5 Demonstrating support toward achievement of performance targets ........... 8-84 

8.3.2.6 Public involvement expectations and process for demonstrating consistency8-86 

8.3.2.7 Developing the MTIP ........................................................................................ 8-87 

8.4 Data and tools ............................................................................................................... 89 

8.4.1 Performance-based planning and programming .......................................................... 89 

8.4.2 Data Collection and Coordination ................................................................................. 89 

8.4.2.1  Growth Data ..................................................................................................... 8-89 

8.4.2.2  Travel Activity Data .......................................................................................... 8-89 

8.4.2.3  Transportation Safety Data ................................................................................. 90 



 

 

 

8.4.2.4  Multi-Modal Network Data .............................................................................. 8-90 

8.4.2.5  Multi-Modal Network Data .............................................................................. 8-90 

8.4.3 Analysis Tool Maintenance and Enhancement .......................................................... 8-90 

8.4.3.1  Growth Forecast ............................................................................................... 8-90 

8.4.3.2  Growth Forecast Tools ..................................................................................... 8-91 

8.4.3.3 Regional Transportation Model Tools ............................................................ 8-912 

8.4.4 Analysis Tool Development ........................................................................................ 8-91 

8.4.4.1  Regional Activity-Based Model ........................................................................ 8-91 

8.4.4.2  Regional Freight Model .................................................................................... 8-92 

8.4.4.3  Housing and Transportation Expenditure Tool ......................................................... 8-92 

8.4.4.4  Economic Value Atlas Decision-Support Mapping Tool ...................................... 93 

8.4.4.5  Displacement Monitoring Tool ........................................................................ 8-93 

8.4.4.6  Crash Prediction Modeling Tool ...................................................................... 8-94 

8.4.4.7  Social Vulnerability Explorer ............................................................................ 8-94 

8.4.4.8  VisionEval (VE-RSPM) Climate Monitoring Tool .............................................. 8-95 

8.4.5 Monitoring and Reporting Tools ................................................................................ 8-95 

8.4.5.1  Monitoring Data and Information Systems ........................................................ 96 

8.4.5.2  Congestion Management Process Data Collection and Monitoring ................ 8-96 

8.4.5.3 Performance monitoring measures and targets ................................................. 98 

 

FIGURES 

Figure 8.1 2040 Growth Concept (2020) ..................................................................................... 8-3   

Figure 8.2 How A Mobility Corridor Strategy Is Developed and Implemented ......................... 8-33 



 

  

Figure 8.3 Illustrative Map of Mobility Corridors in the Portland Metropolitan Region ........... 8-35 

Figure 8.4 Regional Mobility Corridors Recommended for Future Refinement Planning ........ 8-36 

Figure 8.5 Interstate Bridge Replacement Program .................................................................. 8-60 

Figure 8.6 I-5 Rose Quarter Improvement Project Location ..................................................... 8-66 

Figure 8.7 I-5 Rose Quarter Improvement Project Features ..................................................... 8-68 

Figure 8.8 I-205 South Widening and Seismic Improvements Project Area Map ..................... 8-69 

Figure 8.9 I-205 Toll Project Area Map  ..................................................................................... 8-70 

Figure 8.10 Regional Mobility Pricing Project Extents  .............................................................. 8-72 

Figure 8.11 Earthquake Ready Burnside Bridge Proposed Typical Cross Section  .................... 8-75 

Figure 8.12 82nd Ave Transit Corridor ............................................................................................ 8-80 

TABLES 

Table 8.1 Overview of Region-wide Planning Activities ............................................................ 8-16 

Table 8.2 Overview of Completed Region-wide planning (From 2018 RTP Chapter 8) ............ 8-17 

Table 8.3. Willamette River Bridges in the Metropolitan Planning Area .................................. 8-25 

Table 8.4 Mobility Corridors Recommended for Future Corridor Refinement Planning .......... 8-34 

Table 8.5 Progress (as of 2023) on Major Project Development ............................................... 8-58 

Table 8.6. Key Elements of the Region’s Congestion Management Process (CMP) .................. 8-98 

 



 

 

 

This page intentionally left blank. 

 



 

Chapter 8 Moving Forward Together 8-1 
Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan | July 10, 2023 

8.0 PURPOSE 

Metro is the metropolitan planning organization (MPO) 

designated by Congress and the State of Oregon, for the 

Oregon portion of the Portland-Vancouver urbanized 

area, serving 1.7 million people living in the region’s 24 

cities and three counties. As the MPO, Metro formally 

updates the Regional Transportation Plan every five 

years in cooperation and coordination with the Oregon 

Department of Transportation and the region's cities, 

counties and transit agencies.  

The Regional Transportation Plan is a blueprint that 

guides investments for all forms of travel throughout 

greater Portland – driving, taking transit, biking and walking – and the movement of 

goods and services. The plan identifies current and future transportation needs, 

investments needed to meet those needs, and what funds the region expects to have 

available over the next 22 years to make those investments a reality. 

Updates to the plan and subsequent implementation must meet federal requirements and 

state policies and regulations contained in Oregon’s Transportation Planning Rule (which 

implements Statewide Planning Goal 12), and Oregon’s Metropolitan Greenhouse Gas 

Emissions Reduction Targets Rule. The plan also implements regional policies contained 

in Metro’s Regional Framework Plan. In combination, these requirements call for 

development of a multimodal transportation system plan that is integrated with and 

supports implementation of adopted local and regional land use plans including the 2040 

Growth Concept and Climate Smart Strategy. 

Chapter organization 

This chapter summarizes future work to implement the RTP, consistent with federal, state 

and regional requirements. The chapter is organized as follows: 

8.1 Introduction: This section summarizes the purpose and content of the chapter. 

8.2 Planning and programs: This section summarizes local, regional and state 

planning and programs that advance implementation of the plan. 

8.3 Projects: This section summarizes major project development activities in the 

region and the allocation of federal transportation funds to implement projects in 

the RTP. 

8.4 Data and tools: This section summarizes data and research activities to address 

existing and emerging planning and policy priorities and innovative practices in 

Learn more about the 2023 

Regional Transportation Plan at 

oregonmetro.gov/rtp 



 

8-2 Chapter 8 Moving Forward Together  
 Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan | July 10, 2023 

transportation planning and analysis and ensure that the region has the resources 

to fulfill its transportation performance measurement and reporting 

responsibilities. 



 

Chapter 8 Moving Forward Together 8-3 
Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan | July 10, 2023 

8.1 INTRODUCTION 

Connecting Our Shared Values and Vision for the Future: Setting a Course for 

Transportation 

Metro worked with federal, state and local government partners, federally-recognized 

Tribal governments as well as community members, community-based organizations, and 

businesses to develop the 2023 Regional Transportation Plan. The result of that work is a 

set of regionally identified goals and policies that guide our transportation planning and 

investment decisions overall, strategies to help meet those goals and policies, a shared 

understanding about existing financial resources, and a recommended set of projects that 

make progress addressing the region’s significant and growing transportation needs and 

challenges. The goals, policies, projects and strategies in this plan also address federal, 

state and regional planning requirements based on our shared values and the outcomes 

we are trying to achieve as a region, including implementation of the 2040 Growth 

Concept. 

Figure 8.1 2040 Growth Concept (2020) 

 

The 2023 Regional Transportation Plan is a key tool for implementing the 2040 Growth 

Concept and the Climate Smart Strategy– our region’s foundation for climate action.  



 

8-4 Chapter 8 Moving Forward Together  
 Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan | July 10, 2023 

The plan sets an updated course for future transportation planning and investment 

decisions and continued implementation of the 2040 Growth Concept – the region’s 

adopted land use and transportation strategy for managing growth and building climate-

friendly and equitable communities and a strong economy.  

Dramatic changes have unfolded since the RTP was last updated five years ago, many 

documented in the Emerging Transportation Trends Study1. As greater Portland 

continues to emerge from the disruptions of the pandemic and respond to other urgent 

trends and challenges, this update provides an 

opportunity for all levels of government to work 

together to deliver a better transportation future.  

The plan takes into account the changing 

circumstances and challenges facing our growing 

region and addresses them directly, adopting new 

approaches for addressing mobility and prioritizing 

investments to advance transportation equity, 

climate, safety, mobility and economic goals. Central 

to this plan are innovative approaches to connect 

community land use aspirations and transportation 

investments and use of regional mobility corridor 

strategies to comprehensively address our growing 

transportation needs while protecting public and 

environmental health. Each mobility corridor 

strategy is uniquely tailored by optimizing operations 

on existing throughways, and arterial streets that also 

serve as transit and freight routes, completing gaps in 

biking and waking connections and strategically 

expanding the transit and roadway system. 

This RTP incorporates a new regional mobility policy 

focused on the policy outcomes of equity, options, safety, reliability, efficiency and access.  

It includes performance targets focused on reducing vehicle miles traveled per capita, 

building a complete and interconnected system, and reliability of throughways using 

travel speed.  

Through its policies, projects and strategies, the RTP aims to attract jobs and diverse 

housing to our region’s downtown centers, main streets and employment areas. It seeks 

 

1 https://www.oregonmetro.gov/public-projects/2023-regional-transportation-plan/research 
 

The plan will be implemented 

through a variety of policies, 

projects, strategies and actions 

at the local, regional, state and 

federal levels. 

https://www.oregonmetro.gov/public-projects/2023-regional-transportation-plan/research


 

Chapter 8 Moving Forward Together 8-5 
Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan | July 10, 2023 

to increase the use of public transit, bicycling and walking, and reduce the amount of 

miles that our region’s residents, employers and visitors need to drive in order to get 

around. It also seeks to increase the safety, reliability and efficiency of the roadway and 

transit systems for all travelers. When we measure our performance, we find we have 

some successes, but overall the RTP falls short of meeting several performance targets set 

forth in Chapter 7. 

To make more progress toward the goals and objectives of the plan, the region must take 

additional steps together and individually to address a wide range of planning, 

programmatic and project activities that will make it easier to implement adopted 

policies, projects and strategies. This chapter outlines those activities. 

The plan will be implemented through a variety of strategies and actions at the local, 

regional, state and federal levels. The various jurisdictions in the region are expected to 

pursue policies, projects and strategies that contribute to meeting the agreed upon goals, 

objectives and policies of this RTP.  

Implementation of this plan will require a cooperative effort by all jurisdictions 

responsible for transportation planning in the region, and will involve: 

• Adoption of regional policies and strategies in local plans, including functional 

classifications for all modes and land use and transportation needs and agreed upon 

solutions identified in each mobility corridor strategy. 

• A concerted regional effort to secure needed funding to build planned transportation 

investments needed to serve our growing and changing region. 

• Focusing investments and system management strategies to support implementation 

of the 2040 Growth Concept and preserve the function of the region’s mobility 

corridors in order to ensure that our land use and transportation policies are mutually 

supportive and make it easier for people to live and move around our region. 

• Ongoing monitoring for consistency of changes to local transportation system plans 

(TSPs) and local Comprehensive Plans and land use designations with the RTP and 

other agency plans, including the Oregon Department of Transportation's new Oregon 

Transportation Plan, planned update to the Oregon Highway Plan and four-year State 

Transportation Improvement Program (STIP), the Oregon Department of Land 

Conservation and Development’s Transportation Planning Rule (TPR), the Oregon 

Metropolitan Greenhouse Gas Emissions Reduction Rule, the Climate-Friendly and 

Equity Communities (CFEC) Program and TriMet’s Transit Implementation Plan (TIP). 

The Regional Transportation Plan is a living document and will continue to evolve and be 

updated on a regular basis to address existing and emerging issues. Metro will continue to 



 

8-6 Chapter 8 Moving Forward Together  
 Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan | July 10, 2023 

engage and collaborate with regional partners and stakeholders on all topics and provide 

support to ensure successful implementation of this plan. 

  



 

Chapter 8 Moving Forward Together 8-7 
Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan | July 10, 2023 

8.2 PLANNING AND PROGRAMS 

This section summarizes local, regional and state planning and programs that advance 

implementation of the plan and 2040 Growth Concept. 

8.2.1 Local Implementation 

Local planning efforts which help implement the Regional Transportation Plan, include 

updates to the local transportation system plans, concept plans for designated urban 

reserves and topical, modal or subarea plans needed for consistency with the RTP or to 

address specific local or subarea transportation needs or emerging issues.  

Local plans and projects are developed and updated to meet local transportation needs 

consistent with local land use plans and to implement the RTP and Regional 

Transportation Functional Plan (RTFP) as well as local needs and priorities. The RTFP 

directs how city and county plans will implement the RTP through their respective 

comprehensive plans, local transportation system plans (TSPs) and land use regulations. 

All of the actions included in the RTFP will help the region proactively address climate 

change, improve access and mobility and support other desired outcomes.  

The TPR includes provisions for local TSPs to be updated within one year of adoption of 

the updated RTP, but allows for the RTP to determine a schedule for local plan 

compliance. A schedule for local transportation system plan updates is available at 

www.oregonmetro.gov/tsp. The local plan updates are phased appropriately to support 

local desires for completing plan updates in a timely manner, in coordination with other 

planning efforts and to take advantage of state and regional funding opportunities. ODOT 

will be funding TSP updates around the region to implement the Climate Friendly and 

Equitable Communities Rule (CFEC).  

In addition, the Portland metropolitan region has emerging communities- areas that have 

been brought into the urban growth boundary since 1998, that have 2040 land use 

designations, and that lack adequate transportation and transit infrastructure and 

financing mechanisms. Additional work is needed to define the needs of emerging 

communities and strategies needed to facilitate development in these areas, consistent 

with the 2040 Growth Concept. 

8.2.2 Metro’s Regional Programs 

Metro is responsible for several on-going regional programs that provide a combination 

of grants, technical assistance and planning to support local jurisdictions in implementing 

the 2040 Growth Concept and RTP. Modal experts provide expertise and support on 

freight, bicycle, pedestrian, motor vehicle, transit, Intelligent Transportation Systems 



 

8-8 Chapter 8 Moving Forward Together  
 Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan | July 10, 2023 

(ITS) and operations planning, and topic experts provide support on climate change, 

equity, safety, street design, safe routes to school, resilience, transportation funding, 

brownfields, equitable housing and transit-oriented development. Metro’s Regional 

Flexible Funds provide programmatic funding to help support that technical assistance, 

and capital funds to support implementation. The region’s 2040 Grant Program supports 

planning processes to align land use and transportation goals, and the Equitable Housing 

grant program specifically focuses on supporting planning efforts to increase access to 

affordable housing across the region. 

Regional programs identified in the Unified Planning Work Program, adopted annually by 

the Joint Policy Advisory Committee on Transportation (JPACT) and the Metro Council, 

are described below. 

8.2.2.1  Civil Rights and Environmental Justice program  

Metro’s transportation planning policies and programs ensure compliance with Title VI of 

the 1964 Civil Rights Act; the Executive Order on Environmental Justice; Section 504 of 

the 1973 Rehabilitation Act and Title II of the 1990 Americans with Disabilities Act; Goal 1 

of Oregon’s Statewide Planning Goals and Guidelines; and Metro's organizational values of 

Respect and Public Service. The program is advancing methods on identifying potentially 

affected populations, engaging those populations in the development of policy and 

program decisions, and analyzing the effects of policies and programs for historically 

marginalized communities. 

Metro's work to ensure compliance includes implementing outreach strategies that help 

marginalized populations overcome barriers to participation; demographic data 

collection and mapping; assessing outcomes of plans and programs on historically 

marginalized communities; and trainings provided to staff on Title VI compliance 

requirements and environmental outreach best practices.  

Program work on compliance is found across many areas of transportation planning: 

developing the Regional Transportation Plan (RTP), the Metropolitan Transportation 

Improvement Program (MTIP), corridor planning projects that follow NEPA regulations 

and in the Regional Travel Options program, which conducts federally-funded outreach 

that promotes non-automobile transportation options. In 2012, Metro created a new 

public engagement review process designed to ensure that Metro’s public involvement is 

effective, reaches diverse audiences and harnesses emerging best practices. One of the 

three criteria for selection of members of the Public Engagement Review Committee, an 

advisory committee to the Metro Council, is ability to represent diverse communities in 

the region. Other components of the public engagement review process that will 

contribute to more inclusive engagement and accountability include an annual public 

survey, meetings of public involvement staff from around the region to address best 



 

Chapter 8 Moving Forward Together 8-9 
Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan | July 10, 2023 

practices, an annual community summit to gather input on priorities and engagement 

techniques, and an annual report. 

Metro addresses compliance agency-wide as well as within transportation planning 

functions and program-by-program. A key way that Metro complies across the agency is 

with implementation of its Diversity Action Plan, updated and adopted by the Metro 

Council in May 2017. The plan identifies goals, strategies and actions to increase diversity 

and cultural competence at Metro in four key areas: internal awareness and diversity 

sensitivity, employee recruitment and retention, committee membership and public 

involvement, and procurement. Metro’s Strategic Plan to Advance Racial Equity, Diversity 

and Inclusion was adopted by the Metro Council in June 2016 and identifies goals and 

actions under five goals: Metro convenes and supports regional partners to advance racial 

equity; Metro meaningfully engages communities of color; Metro hires, trains and 

promotes a racially diverse workforce; Metro creates safe and welcoming services, 

programs and destinations; and Metro's resource allocation advances racial equity. 

Through the 2017-18 fiscal year, four departments are developing racial equity plans to 

reach the goals of the racial equity strategy: Planning and Development, Parks and Nature, 

Property and Environmental Services and the Oregon Zoo. 

8.2.2.2  Regional Safe Streets for All Program 

Metro’s regional Safe Streets for All program activities support advancing the Safe System 

approach to achieve regional safety goals, policies and targets, including zero serious 

crashes by 2035. Program activities are consistent with strategies and actions in the 2018 

Regional Transportation Safety Strategy, the Regional Safe Routes to School Program, and 

local and state safety plans. Following adoption of the 2023 RTP, Metro will coordinate 

with regional partners and communities to implement the regional Safe Streets for All 

Federal grant. The grant supports development of the regional safety program and local 

Transportation Safety Action Plans. Efforts will focus on managing speeds for safety, 

increasing pedestrian safety, and eliminating disparities for Black, Hispanic, Native 

American, people with low income, and other populations disproportionately impacted by 

serious traffic crashes.  

Program activities include periodic updates on the state of safety to the Metro Council, 

Metro technical and policy advisory committees and other interested parties; technical 

assistance and coordination with local, regional, state, and federal partners in planning 

and project development; support for the development and updates to local and regional 

safety plans and policies; updates to safety data and analysis; updates to safety plans and 

policies; safety data collection, maintenance, analysis and interpretation; encouraging 

best practices in transportation safety and roadway design with funding and 

programmatic support identifying legislative priorities, and collaborating on efforts to 



 

8-10 Chapter 8 Moving Forward Together  
 Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan | July 10, 2023 

highlight safety in materials, messaging and campaigns. The program will be closely 

coordinated with other regional transportation programs and region-wide planning 

activities. 

8.2.2.3  Regional Active Transportation Program 

The Regional Active Transportation Program manages updates to and implementation of 

pedestrian, bicycle and access to transit in the Regional Transportation Plan (RTP) and 

the Regional Active Transportation Plan. The program provides guidance to jurisdictions 

in planning for safe, efficient and comfortable active transportation access and mobility 

on the regional transportation system (including regional trails and multi-use paths). The 

program is closely coordinated with other regional transportation programs and region-

wide planning activities, and with Metro’s Parks and Nature Department. Additionally, the 

program supports coordination with local, regional, state, and federal plans to ensure 

consistency in approach to active travel needs and issues across the region. The program 

ensures that prioritized regional bicycle and pedestrian projects are competitively 

considered within federal, state, and regional funding programs. Ongoing data collection, 

analysis, education, and stakeholder coordination are also key elements of Metro’s active 

transportation program.  

8.2.2.4  Regional Freight Program 

The Regional Freight Program manages updates to and implementation of multimodal 

freight elements in the Regional Transportation Plan (RTP) and supporting Regional 

Freight Strategy. The program provides guidance to jurisdictions in planning for freight 

movement on the regional transportation system. The program supports coordination 

with local, regional, state, and federal plans to ensure consistency in approach to freight-

related needs and issues across the region. Metro’s coordination activities include 

ongoing participation in the Oregon Freight Advisory Committee (OFAC), and Portland 

Freight Committee (PFC). The program ensures that prioritized freight projects are 

competitively considered within federal, state, and regional funding programs. Ongoing 

freight data collection, analysis, education, and stakeholder coordination are also key 

elements of Metro’s freight program. The program is closely coordinated with other 

regional transportation programs and region-wide planning activities. 

8.2.2.5               Regional Transit Program 

The Regional Transit Program conducts long-range transit planning for the Portland 

Metro region, managing updates to and implementation of the transit elements in the 

Regional Transportation Plan (RTP) and supporting Regional Transit Strategy and its 

components like the High-Capacity Transit Strategy. Together, these provide the roadmap 

for making transit investments over time in collaboration with our transit providers and 



 

Chapter 8 Moving Forward Together 8-11 
Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan | July 10, 2023 

local government partners in the region and ensure that prioritized transit projects are 

competitively considered within federal, state, and regional funding programs. The 

Regional Transit Strategy will need to be amended to reflect the High Capacity Transit 

Strategy adopted in 2023 and the Connecting First and Last Mile Study anticipated to be 

complete in 2025 (see 8.2.3.3 below). 

Program work includes ongoing coordination with transit providers, cities and counties 

to ensure implementation of these strategies through plans and capital projects, periodic 

support for major transit planning activities in the region and coordination with state 

transit planning officials. Ongoing data collection, analysis, education, and stakeholder 

coordination are also key elements of Metro’s transit program. The program is closely 

coordinated with other regional transportation programs and region-wide planning 

activities. 

Additionally, Metro and TriMet will be developing a Bus Rapid Transit (BRT) Strategic 

Plan as part of regional transit planning efforts. The Plan will further advance work in the 

High-Capacity Transit Plan and will outline a vision for how Frequent Express 

(FX) investments can enhance existing and future frequent bus service corridors to serve 

our region’s goals. It will identify a network of BRT routes, prioritize routes for 

implementation, and identify potential regional funding strategies. 

8.2.2.6  Transportation System Management and Operations (TSMO) Program 

With the intent of supporting broad Transportation System Management and Operations 

(TSMO) investment and activity in the greater Portland metropolitan region, the TSMO 

program encompasses regional strategy development, implementation, grant 

management, project management and system performance monitoring (includes 

support to the region’s Congestion Management Process). The program facilitates a 

variety of approaches to reliable, equitable, accessible, safe transportation related to 

TSMO. These include intelligent transportation systems (ITS), Mobility on Demand (MOD) 

and related mobility, freight technologies and operations.  

The program maintains and periodically updates the regional TSMO Strategy. Strategy 

updates incorporate RTP policy and develops actions and work plans for implementation. 

Implementation involves convening operations leaders, engineers and technical experts 

to share procedures and protocols such as the regional Intelligent Transportation System 

(ITS) Architecture. ITS Architecture is needed to comply with the FHWA rule for federally 

funded transportation projects and their compliance with the National ITS Architecture. 

The program also guides implementation of the region’s ITS data communications assets 

and networks, representing coordination of shared digital infrastructure. The regional 

role for program implementation supports opportunities for inclusion, research, 

education, and training on TSMO. 



 

8-12 Chapter 8 Moving Forward Together  
 Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan | July 10, 2023 

The program manages the sub-allocation of 2021-24 and 2025-27 Regional Flexible 

Funding for TSMO. These projects are prioritized through criteria that is consistent with 

the adopted Regional TSMO Strategy. The TSMO program will provide support for 

regional ITS projects by helping to apply systems engineering, ITS Architecture, standards 

and procedures. 

The program supports system performance monitoring including the federal mandates to 

maintain a Congestion Management Process (CMP). The program implements actions 

identified in the Arterial Performance Management Regional Concept of Traffic 

Operations (RCTO) to advance the region’s performance measurement capabilities on 

arterial streets. CMP performance monitoring will continue in order to support 

development of the RTP, local Transportation System Plans and MTIP programming. The 

program partners with PORTAL, a regional archived data user service managed by 

Portland State University. PORTAL will continue to expand the collection, visualization 

and uses of multimodal performance data in a way that will enhance the region’s ability to 

diagnose and address mobility and support multimodal operations consistent with the 

region’s CMP. 

The TSMO program is closely coordinated with other regional transportation programs 

and region-wide planning activities. 

8.2.2.7  Regional Travel Options (RTO) and Safe Routes to School Programs 

The Regional Travel Options Program implements RTP policies and the Regional Travel 

Options Strategy to reduce drive-alone auto trips and personal vehicle miles of travel and 

to increase use of travel options. The program improves mobility and reduces greenhouse 

gas emissions and air pollution by carrying out the transportation demand management 

components of the RTP through three primary program areas: Commute trip reduction, 

Community-based travel options, and Safe Routes to School. Each RTO program area 

works to advance RTP goals through the following strategies: 

• Regional policy development 

o The RTO program advances travel options policy through policies in the RTP 

and developing the Regional Travel Options Strategy; as well as supporting 

local and state policy development and implementation. 

• Funding local program implementation 

o The RTO program provides ongoing funding to local programs and partners to 

deliver critical TDM services across the region and seeks out new partnerships 

to ensure the travel needs of all residents are prioritized. 

• Technical assistance & regional program administration 



 

Chapter 8 Moving Forward Together 8-13 
Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan | July 10, 2023 

o The RTO program provides technical assistance to program providers through 

trainings, resource development and peer networking and learning. In 

addition, the RTO program administers regional programming to advance the 

goals of the RTP and RTO strategy in collaboration with local partners. 

The program maximizes investments in the transportation system and eases traffic 

congestion by managing travel demand, particularly during peak commute hours. Specific 

RTO activities include promoting transit, shared trips, bicycling, walking, telecommuting 

and the Regional Safe Routes to School Program. The program is closely coordinated with 

other regional transportation programs and region-wide planning activities.  

8.2.2.8 Air Quality and Climate Change Monitoring Program 

The Air Quality and Climate Change Monitoring Program ensures the RTP and the MTIP 

address state and federal regulations and are carrying out the commitments and rules set 

forth as part of the Portland Area State Implementation Plan (SIP), the Climate Smart 

Strategy, the Oregon Transportation Planning Rule and the Metropolitan Greenhouse Gas 

Emissions Reduction Target Rule. The program coordinates with other air quality and 

climate change initiatives in the region and statewide and monitors federal and state 

rulemaking that address air quality and greenhouse gas emission. Metro participates in a 

regional collaborative to develop and implement a clean air construction strategy and 

standards for clean diesel equipment and vehicles on select public improvement projects.    

The program also conducts planning, research and tool development to support 

monitoring and implementation of the region’s adopted Climate Smart Strategy and the 

Carbon Reduction Program established by the federal Bipartisan Infrastructure Law (BIL) 

and administered through the Federal Highway Administration.   

8.2.2.9 Designing Livable Streets and Trails Program 

The Infrastructure Investment and Jobs Act (IIJA) requires that MPOs must use 2.5 

percent of their overall funding to develop and adopt complete streets policies, active 

transportation plans, transit access plans, transit-oriented development plans, or regional 

intercity rail plans.  Metro complies with this requirement by funding a robust complete 

streets program. Metro’s Designing Livable Streets and Trails Program provides regional 

street and design guidelines and policies, regional arterial and throughway design 

classifications and other tools to support local jurisdictions to design streets that 

implement context-sensitive design solutions to advance regional and local goals.  

Program activities include providing technical assistance to cities and counties as 

transportation projects go through project development and design; convening 

workshops, forums and field tours to increase understanding and utilization of best 



 

8-14 Chapter 8 Moving Forward Together  
 Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan | July 10, 2023 

practices in transportation design. The program is closely coordinated with other regional 

transportation programs and region-wide planning activities, and with Metro’s Parks and 

Nature Department. 

8.2.2.10 Regional Transit-Oriented Development Program 

Since 2001, Metro’s Transit-Oriented Development (TOD) program has had a unique and 

critical role in implementing the 2040 Growth Concept vision for vibrant, walkable 

centers and station areas linked by transit. The program invests in compact mixed-use 

projects near light rail stations, along frequent service bus corridors and in regional and 

town centers throughout the region increasing opportunities for people live, work and 

shop in neighborhoods with easy access to high-quality transit. The program provides 

financial incentives for TOD projects to increase transit ridership, stimulate private 

development of mixed-use buildings that would otherwise not proceed, and increase 

affordable housing opportunities near transit in high cost and gentrifying neighborhoods 

through land acquisition and project investments. With an increased focus on affordable 

housing, the program supports construction of housing near transit and services that is 

more affordable for older adults and lower- income households compared to what would 

otherwise be built on a property. Related program activities include opportunity site 

acquisition, investment in urban living infrastructure, and technical assistance to 

communities and developers. 

8.2.2.11 Investment Areas Program 

Metro’s Investment Areas program helps communities build their downtowns, main 

streets and corridors and leverage public and private investments that implement the 

region’s 2040 Growth Concept. Projects include supporting compact, transit oriented 

development in the region’s mixed use areas, evaluating high capacity transit and other 

transportation improvements that cross city and county lines, and integrating freight and 

active transportation projects into multimodal corridors.  

Major public infrastructure investments do not stop at city or county lines. Our 

transportation system connects the communities within greater Portland with the rest of 

the state and the rest of the world. When our region spends billions of dollars on 

expanding our road, transit and highway system to keep up with the continued 

population and employment growth, those public investments can both benefit and 

burden nearby communities. Over time, the region has become more strategic at linking 

together our transportation, housing, economic, racial equity and environmental goals, 

policies, and investments so that we can intentionally preserve and create great places 

that serve all people throughout the region, even as change and growth occurs. 



 

Chapter 8 Moving Forward Together 8-15 
Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan | July 10, 2023 

The Investment Areas program completes system planning and develops multimodal 

projects in transportation corridor refinement plans identified in the Regional 

Transportation Plan. It also works on finance plans to align public investments in areas 

that support the region’s growth economy. It includes ongoing involvement in local and 

regional transit and roadway project conception, funding, and design. Metro provides 

assistance to local jurisdictions for the development of specific projects as well as 

corridor-based programs identified in the RTP. 

Metro’s Investment Areas program has been connecting planning for major 

transportation projects with the community’s broader goals and needs. While each area’s 

conditions and needs are different, the approach of bringing together government, 

community, and business partners provides a framework to produce a shared plan of 

action to guide the investments and decisions of multiple agencies. Including a broader 

set of stakeholders in a collaborative decision making process allows for decisions that 

once seemed unclear or unfair to stakeholders to be more transparent. This approach 

improves our ability to involve and include those who are affected by these decisions and 

investments. 

Investment areas can set the stage for a range of major capital investments beyond high 

capacity transit. Other Metro investment areas have focused on freight routes connecting 

major highways through small communities, redevelopment of brownfields in 

employment areas, and leveraging the opportunities of a regionally significant riverfront 

destination. The program is closely coordinated with other regional transportation 

programs and region-wide planning activities, including corridor refinement planning 

activities. 

8.2.2.12 Better Bus Program 

The Better Bus program is a joint Metro and TriMet endeavor that identifies transit 

priority and access treatments to improve the speed, reliability, and capacity of TriMet 

frequent service bus lines or streetcar lines, building on the previous Enhanced Transit 

Concepts (ETC) Program. Better Bus treatments are relatively low-cost to construct, 

context-sensitive, and can be implemented quickly to improve transit service in congested 

corridors. The program develops partnerships with local jurisdictions and transit 

agencies to design and implement Better Bus capital and operational investments.  

8.2.2.13            Regional Congestion Pricing Program 

The Regional Congestion Pricing Program ensures coordination and alignment between 

the RTP and state and federal pricing policies and regulations, including the Oregon 

Transportation Plan, the Oregon Highway Plan, the federal Value Pricing Pilot Program, 

Section 129 of Title 23 of the U.S. Code, and ODOT’s future low-income tolling program. 



 

8-16 Chapter 8 Moving Forward Together  
 Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan | July 10, 2023 

The program includes application of the findings and recommendations from the 2021 

Metro Regional Congestion Pricing Study in the RTP and the MTIP. The program also: 

• Coordinates tolling with regional planning efforts and corridor development work, 

including ODOT’s Regional Toll Advisory Committee, Statewide Toll Rulemaking 

Advisory Committee, and Equity and Mobility Advisory Committee 

• Tracks, participates in, and/or advises on pricing programs and projects such as 

ODOT’s Regional Mobility Pricing Project or City of Portland’s Pricing Options for 

Equitable Mobility Task Force 

• And monitors changes in federal and state rulemaking that may impact regional or 

local pricing policies or programs. 

8.2.3 Region-wide Planning 

This section summarizes near-term planning at the regional-scale to advance 

implementation of the plan. Each planning effort is needed to address regional 

transportation policy or planning issues that could not be resolved during the plan 

update. 

Table 8.1 Overview of Region-wide Planning Activities 

 Lead Agency Proposed 
timing 

 

Regional Mobility Policy Implementation Action Plan Metro, ODOT 2024-25 
Transit planning TriMet, SMART Annually 
Cascadia Corridor Ultra-High-Speed Ground 
Transportation Project Planning 

WSDOT 2023-28 

Steel Bridge Transit Bottleneck Study  Metro, TriMet 2034-45 
Equitable Development Strategies Metro 2024-28 
Workforce Diversification in Regional Transportation 
Infrastructure Projects 

Metro 2024 

Funding Strategy for Regional Bridges Counties 2024-28 
Emergency Transportation Routes Project Phase 2 Metro, RPDO 2024-26 
Regional Freight Rail Study Metro, Port 2024-26 
Regional Transportation Functional Plan Update Metro 2024-25 
2040 Refresh Coordination Metro TBD 
Columbia Connects Metro 2023-24 

These efforts will be completed consistent with the RTP goals, policies and strategies. A 

lead agency, project partners and proposed timing for completion is identified for each 

planning effort along with a description of the issues to be addressed and expected 



 

Chapter 8 Moving Forward Together 8-17 
Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan | July 10, 2023 

outcomes from the work. This work will be completed by multiple partners as resources 

are available and pending future Metro Council and JPACT policy direction and will be 

coordinated through the development and approval of the annual Unified Planning Work 

Program (UPWP). 

Table 8.2 Overview of Completed Region-wide Planning (from 2018 RTP Chapter 8)  

Project Name Lead Agency 

Regional Mobility Policy Update Metro and ODOT 
Regional Congestion Pricing Study Metro 
Transportation System Management & Operations Strategy 
Update 

Metro 

Jurisdictional Transfer Assessment  Metro 
Enhanced Transit Concept Pilot Metro 
Emergency Transportation Routes Project – Phase 1 Metro and RDPO 
Regional Freight Delay & Commodities Movement Study Metro 
Central City Transit Capacity and Steel Bridge Analysis Metro and TriMet 
Frog Ferry Passenger River Taxi Service Study Friends of Frog Ferry 

8.2.3.1  Regional Mobility Policy Implementation Action Plan 

Lead agency Partners Proposed timing 

Metro and ODOT ODOT, cities, counties, TriMet, 
SMART, FHWA, SW RTC 

2024-25 
 
 

Note – This section will be updated pending further testing of the draft mobility policy 

measures that is underway and coordination with ODOT and DLCD on statewide 

implementation of the Climate-Friendly and Equitable Communities Program. 

The Regional Mobility Policy is a policy in the RTP as well as the Oregon Highway Plan 

(OHP). It applies to transportation system planning and comprehensive plan amendment 

processes within the Portland metropolitan area. The policy is used to identify 

transportation needs and solutions during updates to the RTP and local transportation 

system plans (TSPs), and to evaluate the potential impacts of local comprehensive plan 

amendments and zoning changes. 

An update to the regional mobility policy has been underway since 2019, through a joint 

effort of Metro and the Oregon Department of Transportation (ODOT). In November and 

December 2022, JPACT and the Metro Council accepted the new draft policies and 

supported further development of the draft performance measures and targets during 

2023 RTP system analysis in 2023.  The draft regional mobility policy for the 2023 RTP 

identifies three mobility performance measures: vehicle miles traveled per capita, system 

completion for all modes (including TDM and TSMO) and throughway reliability using 



 

8-18 Chapter 8 Moving Forward Together  
 Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan | July 10, 2023 

travel speed. More information about the regional mobility policy update can be found at: 

www.oregonmetro.gov/mobility  

8.2.3.2  Transit Planning 

Lead agency Partners Timing 

TriMet and SMART Cities, counties, Ride Connection, other transit providers Annually 

TriMet conducts annual transit service planning as part of the agency’s annual budgeting 

process, guided by the TriMet Board. Annual service planning identifies specific service 

changes to be implemented within the coming fiscal year. The annual service planning 

process includes two rounds of public outreach as well as a formal public hearing. Service 

improvements are funded both through TriMet’s general fund as well as the Statewide 

Transportation Improvement Fund.  

Each year, alongside the City’s annual budget, SMART staff compiles potential projects 

that utilize federal funding for the upcoming fiscal year (July 1 – June 30). The list of 

projects and associated costs is known as the Program of Projects, or POP. Members of the 

public have opportunities to comment on these projects directly to staff in May, or at 

meetings in May (Budget Committee) and June (City Council) of each year. Any changes 

based on those public comments will be incorporated into a final version at the budget 

adoption in June. 

SMART recently update its Transit Master Plan, which identifies transit improvement 

projects that could be implemented over the next 3 to 5 years. The plan identifies: where 

frequency will be improved, the times of day and days of week to add service, where and 

how connections between routes could be made, and new routes inside Wilsonville and 

connecting to other cities. Next steps include working to take the plan and translate it to 

service and projects. 

8.2.3.3 Connecting First and Last Mile: Accessing Mobility through Transit Study 

Lead agency Partners Timing 

Metro  TriMet, SMART, Cities, counties, Ride 

Connection, other transit providers 

2024-2025 

Local transit service has long used smaller vehicles that range from vans and shuttles to 

small buses with fixed to flexible routes to fill the gap between traditional bus and rail 

services, as well as local destinations. An emerging trend in these types of services is 

http://www.oregonmetro.gov/mobility


 

Chapter 8 Moving Forward Together 8-19 
Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan | July 10, 2023 

using ride-hailing and other new technologies to provide on-demand micro transit 

services. This study will identify service and coordination gaps specific to the Metro 

region, especially for suburban areas of the region and regional parks, document the 

range of potential solutions and explore innovative ways to improve transit access and 

convenience for users. This work will build upon local planning efforts (e.g., Transit 

Development Plans, Statewide Transportation Improvement Fund Plans) and be 

completed in close coordination with public transit service providers in the region. The 

project will make recommendations carried forward for consideration in the 2027 RTP 

update. 

8.2.3.4  Steel Bridge Transit Bottleneck Study  

Lead agency Partners Proposed timing 

Metro and TriMet ODOT, city of Portland, 

Portland Streetcar, Inc., FTA 

2034-2045 

This study would explore ways to alleviate transit operational issues caused by the Steel 

Bridge. The bridge is a critical link between downtown Portland and the east side of the 

greater Portland region for the Blue, Green, Red, and Yellow MAX Lines, as well as for 

several bus routes. The 106-year old bridge constrains light rail throughput, requires 

frequent maintenance that impacts system-wide light rail reliability and presents 

structural risks. The Steel Bridge with its current two-track configuration cannot reliably 

accommodate anticipated growth in service. 

Metro and TriMet conducted a process to look at alternatives to improve speed, reliability 

and on time performance of the MAX lines crossing the Willamette River using the Steel 

Bridge. The study looked at a new bridge or a tunnel and concluded that the MAX tunnel 

was the most promising. In 2019, Metro and TriMet documented the feasibility and 

benefits of the tunnel in the MAX Tunnel Study, examining the feasibility of faster light 

rail. In 2019 they examined the feasibility of a new MAX tunnel connecting Lloyd Center 

to Goose Hollow stations. The study concluded a new light rail tunnel between Lloyd 

Center and Goose Hollow is promising.: 

A new light rail tunnel would extend from the vicinity of the Lloyd Center Station to the 

Goose Hollow Station, with approximately four underground stations in between. TriMet 

would retain some service on the existing surface alignment to continue to serve all 

stations. The tunnel would increase system ridership by 7,500 to 15,200 riders and 

decrease travel time by approximately 15 minutes between Lloyd Center and Goose 

Hollow, while improving system resiliency and redundancy. Planning of a tunnel would 

need to evaluate the locations of portals and determine the optimal number and locations 



 

8-20 Chapter 8 Moving Forward Together  
 Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan | July 10, 2023 

of stations. Estimated cost is $3 billion to 4.5 billion dollars (construction cost range is 

comparable to similar tunnel project completed by Sound Transit and LA Metro, 

respectively). 

A project of this magnitude could take a decade or more to plan, design and construct, 

including the steps necessary to comply with the National Environmental Policy Act 

(NEPA) and the Federal Transit Administration’s Project Development process. As we 

continue to grow, we will need to look at short term investments to improve the speed, 

reliability and on time performance for the travel across the Willamette River.  

Max Tunnel benefits Routing MAX through a tunnel under downtown Portland and the 

Willamette River would save people time and make MAX as fast as or faster than driving. 

This would lead to even greater benefits such as lower car ownership costs, less traffic, 

less constrained parking downtown, and reduced greenhouse gas emissions. 

For the many people in the region who rely on public transit as their primary 

transportation, a light rail tunnel would sustain the MAX service they count on for access 

to school, jobs, recreation and other opportunities. Today, average on-time performance 

is 87%, higher than just a year ago, but still below the over 90% we can expect with a 

tunnel. Train delays average 2 ½ minutes, with one in eight delays lasting between 5 and 

8 minutes.  

Speed  

The MAX tunnel can save over 12 minutes for a trip through the central city. Even people 

going to downtown Portland, to places like PSU or Pioneer Square, would save 5 to 6 

minutes, depending on where they’re coming from. While the MAX tunnel stations have 

yet to be determined, access to downtown destinations will be further enhanced by 

surface travel options like bus, streetcar, bikeshare, and a great walking environment.  

Resiliency  

A MAX tunnel would add a resource to the regional transportation network that would be 

resilient to natural disasters and other regional disruptions. A MAX tunnel would offer a 

critical link to help the region recover from possible future events. 

Capacity  

The MAX tunnel will help make sure light rail is there to accommodate growth and for 

people even at the busiest times of day. To fit people comfortably in trains over the next 

15 years,  we anticipate 60 trains crossing between the central city and Rose Quarter 

every day—a 50% increase in rail traffic. The MAX tunnel accommodates added service 

and maintains capacity on the Steel Bridge.  



 

Chapter 8 Moving Forward Together 8-21 
Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan | July 10, 2023 

8.2.3.5  Cascadia Corridor Ultra-High-Speed Ground Transportation Project Planning 

Lead agency Partners Proposed 

timing 

WSDOT Metro, ODOT, PSRC, BC Ministry of Transportation 

and Infrastructure, BC Intergovernmental Relations 

Secretariat, TransLink, Cascadia Innovation Corridor 

2023-

2028 

The Cascadia Ultra-High-Speed Ground Transportation (UHSGT) Project is a proposed 

high-speed rail system that would connect the Portland, Seattle, and Vancouver, BC 

metropolitan areas with speeds up to 250 miles per hour, allowing for travel between 

each city in under an hour. Following planning activities (including three prior studies) 

conducted by Washington state and its jurisdictional partners over the past six years, the 

Governors of Oregon and Washington and the Premier of British Columbia signed a 

Memorandum of Understanding to initiate program to advance activities in 2021 to 

support forwarding the project. The agreement established the goal of laying the 

groundwork for the creation of a formal, legal entity to continue project development 

while seeking community engagement and input, gaining critical support from decision 

makers, and positioning the corridor for future funding opportunities and an efficient 

environmental process. WSDOT has applied for funding for this project under both the 

Federal-State Partnership for Intercity Passenger Rail Program and the FRA Corridor 

Identification and Development Program with matching funds of $150M. Funding would 

support required pre-NEPA technical and advisory study planning requirements to 

advance the project to feasibility-level planning decisions. Metro will continue to 

represent greater Portland, along with the Oregon Department of Transportation, on the 

technical and policy committees supporting planning activities, collaborating for a 

process and outcomes consistent with regional goals. 

8.2.3.6  Equitable Development Strategies 

Lead agency Partners Proposed timing 

Metro Cities, counties, ODOT, 
TriMet, SMART, FHWA, FTA, 
community organizations 

Ongoing 

As the Portland region has grown issues such as housing affordability, community and 

business displacement and inclusive growth have come to the forefront of the public’s 

concern. Metro, in collaboration with local government and community partners, aims to 

address these concerns by working to create an Equitable Development Strategy (EDS) 



 

8-22 Chapter 8 Moving Forward Together  
 Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan | July 10, 2023 

for each major transit investment corridor where Metro is leading the planning process. 

The purpose of the EDS process is to leverage investments in transportation 

improvements to support the region’s community development objectives, address 

existing inequities, and reduce associated impacts of displacement that can accompany 

major investments in public infrastructure. 

Each community’s EDS process will be unique, but they all strive to advance measures to 

mitigate displacement risks and establish intentional and sustained efforts to generate 

equitable development that responds to key challenges in the community. Through a 

coalition-building planning process that occurs concurrent to corridor planning efforts, 

major public transportation infrastructure investments are paired with community-

identified policy measures and programs with the aim of increasing community and 

economic resilience for residents, small businesses and community groups. Research 

shows that resilient communities fare better in the face of displacement pressures. 

Major public investments in infrastructure need to achieve more than just transportation 

goals – communities deserve an investment in high-capacity transit that maintains and 

enhances their quality of life, allowing them to thrive in the community they have chosen 

to live in. Equitable development helps strengthen and build resilience within 

underserved communities by creating more equitable outcomes through collaborative 

programs and initiatives. 

8.2.3.7  Workforce Diversification in Regional Transportation Infrastructure Projects  

Lead agency Partners Proposed timing 

Metro Cities, counties, ODOT, TriMet, SMART, FHWA, 
SW RTC, community organizations, construction 
industry 

2024 

As the Greater Portland Region plans for needed investment in transportation projects, 

the region faces a shortage of skilled construction workers which will drive up 

construction costs   Addressing this challenge presents an opportunity to deliver shared 

economic prosperity and advance regional equity goals by expanding access to well-

paying construction jobs for all residents—including women and Black, Indigenous, and 

People of Color (BIPOC) workers. A comprehensive regional workforce and contractor 

equity strategy would support the Regional Transportation Plan’s infrastructure 

investments by growing regional workforce supply, managing costs, creating shared 

economic opportunity, and ultimately building a stronger regional economy.  

The workforce shortages in the construction industry are driven by two key factors. First, 

one in six construction workers are approaching retirement age, meaning the pool of 



 

Chapter 8 Moving Forward Together 8-23 
Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan | July 10, 2023 

workers will dramatically decrease over the next decade. Second, women and BIPOC 

workers face significant barriers in accessing jobs and building successful careers in the 

construction industry. Diversifying the workforce is a key strategy for addressing 

workforce shortages. Creating safer, more accessible job pathways will support all people 

in accessing the unique career and wealth building opportunities the construction 

industry offers. 

The Construction Career Pathways Regional Framework provides a comprehensive 

strategy for creating career pathways for women and BIPOC workers in the construction 

industry. The framework aims to increase the available skilled workforce while reducing 

barriers to entry for historically excluded populations. Metro created the Construction 

Career Pathways through an inclusive process in collaboration with 16 public agencies 

and with buy-in from a range of stakeholders, workforce advocates, community-based 

organizations, contractors, labor partners, and training programs. This broad 

collaboration is continuing to support effective implementation across jurisdictions. The 

framework has been formally adopted and implemented as policy by nine government 

agencies including Metro, Clackamas County, Multnomah County, Washington County, 

TriMet, City of Portland, Prosper Portland, Portland Public Schools, and Portland 

Community College.2 Construction Career Pathways paired with strategies to support the 

participation and growth of BIPOC, and women owned firms, will provide the skilled labor 

needed for transportation infrastructure projects, while advancing regional equity goals. 

Given the broad support and on-going collaboration in this effort, there is an opportunity 

to explore a more direct connection between Construction Career Pathways and how it 

can support the demand for a skilled workforce to support transportation investments. 

Prior to the next Regional Transportation Plan update, Metro will work with local, 

regional, state partners, community organizations and the construction industry to 

explore a strategy for regional implementation of Construction Career Pathways in the 

transportation sector. Further analysis should identify the resources and capacity needs 

 

2 On October 24, 2019, Metro Council approved Resolution 19-5028 to approve the Construction Career 
Pathways Framework. On November 17, 2020, Clackamas County Board of Commissioners approved to adopt the 
Construction Career Pathways Framework. On December 19, 2019, the Multnomah County Board of 
Commissioners approved Resolution 219-106 to approve the Construction Career Pathways Framework. On 
November 30, 2021, the Washington County Board of Commissioners approved Resolution 21-131 to adopt the 
Construction Career Pathways Framework. On January 15, 2020, City Council approved Resolution 37474, 
authorizing the Chief Procurement Officer to sign the Construction Career Pathways Project Framework and 
committing the City to continue to support the regional workgroup led by Metro. On April 7, 2023, TriMet 
submitted a letter to Metro communicating their support and commitment to Construction Career Pathways 
Framework. On October 9, 2019, Prosper Portland adopted Resolution 7344 to approve the Construction Career 
Pathways Framework. On February 4, 2020, Portland Public Schools approved Resolution 6050 to adopt the 
Construction Career Pathways Framework. On August 31, 2021, Portland Community College submitted a letter 
to Metro outlining their commitment to adopt the Construction Career Pathways Framework.  



 

8-24 Chapter 8 Moving Forward Together  
 Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan | July 10, 2023 

of partner agencies and industry and assess the benefits of collaboration in this effort to 

facilitate implementation. If adopted regionally, Construction Career Pathways has the 

potential to increase shared economic prosperity, reduce workforce shortages and 

increased construction costs, ensure timely deliveries on community projects, and 

support job access for historically underrepresented workers in the region. 

8.2.3.8  Funding Strategy for Regional Bridges 

Lead agency Partners Proposed timing 

Counties Cities, Metro, ODOT, TriMet 2024-28 

Given the declining purchasing power of the gas tax and the rise of electric vehicle use, the 

region continues to struggle with a long-term funding strategy for maintaining Willamette 

River bridges that serve regional travel. Currently, Multnomah County has primary 

responsibility for five of the eleven bridges within the Metropolitan Planning Area (see 

table 8.3 below) with insufficient funding to pay for all expected future maintenance of 

these structures.  

Table 8.3 Willamette River Bridges in the Metropolitan Planning Area 

Bridge Name Bridge Owner 
Broadway Bridge Multnomah County 
Burnside Bridge Multnomah County 
Morrison Bridge Multnomah County 
Hawthorne Bridge Multnomah County 
Sellwood Bridge Multnomah County 
St Johns Bridge ODOT 
Fremont Bridge ODOT 
Marquam Bridge ODOT 
Ross Island Bridge ODOT 
Tilikum Crossing Bridge TriMet 
Steel Bridge Union Pacific Railroad 

Within 20 years, four of Multnomah County’s five Willamette River Bridges will be 100 

years old. The Burnside Bridge is anticipated to be replaced by 2030. The county’s capital 

program for the remaining three bridges (Broadway Bridge, Hawthorne Bridge, and 

Morrison Bridge) is estimated to cost $790 million, yet only $332 million in federal, state 

and county revenues has been identified in revenue forecasting through 2045. ODOT 

owns four of the bridges, including the Fremont and Marquam interstate bridges, as well 

as the St. Johns and Ross Island regional crossings. ODOT has identified [placeholder for 

estimated cost]. Union Pacific Railroad owns the Steel Bridge, which is also due for 

significant maintenance, with costs to be determined. TriMet owns the Tilikum Crossing 



 

Chapter 8 Moving Forward Together 8-25 
Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan | July 10, 2023 

structure, and while it was recently constructed, it will eventually require maintenance, as 

well, as the region's bridges face maintenance challenges that come from age and use.  

More collaboration and work is needed to develop a financial plan for ensuring ongoing 

operations and maintenance and other transportation needs of Willamette River bridges, 

given the importance to the regional economy, emergency response and climate 

resilience. 

8.2.3.9  Emergency Transportation Routes Project Phase 2 

Lead agency Partners Proposed timing 

Metro and Regional 
Disaster Preparedness 
Organization (RPDO) 

Cities, counties, TriMet, 
SMART, ODOT, DOGAMI, 
WASHDOT, SW RTC, REMTEC 

2024-26 

Natural disasters can happen anytime, and the transportation system needs to be 

prepared to withstand them and to facilitate life-saving and life-sustaining activities, 

including the transport of first responders (e.g., police, fire and emergency medical 

services), fuel, essential supplies, and patients.  

The Emergency Transportation Routes Project is a collaborative effort between public, 

private and non-profit stakeholders, co-led by the five-county, bi-state Regional Disaster 

Preparedness Organization (RDPO) and Metro to improve the safety and resiliency of the 

region’s transportation system to natural disasters, extreme weather events and climate 

change.  

From 2019 - 2021 the RDPO and Metro partnered to complete phase 1 of the project - 

updating the designated Regional Emergency Transportation Routes (RETRs) for the five-

county Portland-Vancouver metropolitan region, which includes Clackamas, Columbia, 

Multnomah and Washington counties in Oregon and Clark County in Washington. The 

routes had not been updated since 2006. The updated routes are shown within the 

Climate Action and Resilience section in Chapter 3 of the RTP. 

A second phase of follow-on work is proposed for 2024-2026 to further prioritize/tier the 

updated routes and develop operational guidance for route owners/operators. For more 

information on RETRs, please visit https://rdpo.net/emergency-transportation-routes. 

  

https://rdpo.net/
https://rdpo.net/
https://rdpo.net/emergency-transportation-routes


 

8-26 Chapter 8 Moving Forward Together  
 Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan | July 10, 2023 

8.2.3.10 Regional Freight Rail Study 

Lead agency Partners Proposed timing 

Metro Cities, counties, ODOT, WSDOT, Port 
of Vancouver and Port of Portland 

2024-26 

Identified in the Regional Freight Strategy, this study would seek to identify and produce 

increases in rail capacity, safety, land use compatibility and operational efficiencies to 

support freight and goods movement in the region which is important to our long-term 

economic and environmental sustainability,  and will help to maintain the region's 

competitive advantage in a global marketplace. The RTP and Regional Freight Strategy 

also note freight rail bottlenecks impacting critical access the region’s ports and 

intermodal facilities, as well as the need for rail to efficiently carry its full share of existing 

and future commodities.  

Potential outcomes of the study include: 

• Identification of economically viable opportunities to develop short line intermodal 

hubs or logistics parks or other cargo-oriented development. 

• A strategy to identify, develop and position top projects for confirmed and potential 

future federal and state funding, as appropriate, including: 

o An updated list of regional freight rail project priorities focused on improving 

capacity constraints and targeting industrial access to the rail networks. 

o A strategy to fund regional freight/passenger rail bottlenecks. 

o A strategy to fund needed grade separations. 

o A strategy to fund critical modernization projects on the short rail lines. 

The study will address the balance between passenger and freight rail goals, and a set of 

viable solutions and initiatives to meet these goals; including: 

• Regional guidance for public/private investment partnerships to guide investment of 

regional and national funding sources in identifying and developing freight rail 

corridors of local, regional and national significance; and 

• Specific guidance for local jurisdictions as they develop their transportation system 

plans (TSPs), in order to avoid or minimize conflicts between freight rail and other 

transportation modes and preserve or enhance the functionality of rail facilities and 

connected industrial land uses. 

The Regional Freight Rail Study will work with Union Pacific (class 1 rail operator), ODOT, 

Port of Portland, Portland Bureau of Transportation (PBOT), and other local jurisdictions 



 

Chapter 8 Moving Forward Together 8-27 
Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan | July 10, 2023 

to determine which at-grade railroad crossings of the Union Pacific Kenton line, and other 

at-grade rail crossings should be grade separated. 

8.2.3.11 Regional Transportation Functional Plan Update 

Lead agency Partners Proposed timing 

Metro Cities, counties, ODOT, 
DLCD, TriMet, SMART 

2024-25 

Since the adoption of the 2040 Growth Concept in 1995, cities and counties across the 

region have updated their comprehensive plans, development regulations and 

transportation system plans to implement the 2040 Growth Concept in locally tailored 

ways. The RTP provides a long-range blueprint for implementing the transportation 

element of the 2040 Growth Concept and presents the overarching vision, policies and 

goals, system concepts for all modes of travel and strategies for funding and local 

implementation for the region. Projects submitted to the RTP are from adopted local, 

regional or state planning efforts that provided opportunities for public input. Cities and 

counties are responsible for creating transportation system plans that are periodically 

updated to stay consistent with the RTP and reflect local transportation priorities and 

needs. Each city and county develops its own process for engaging the public in the 

development of the plans.  

Most communities throughout the region have an adopted transportation system plan 

that serves as the transportation element of a comprehensive plan consistent with the 

Regional Transportation Functional Plan (RTFP). The functional plan implements the 

goals, objectives and the policies of the RTP and its constituent strategies, including the 

Climate Smart Strategy and strategies for safety, freight, transit, transportation system 

management and operations, regional travel options and emerging technology.  

Under state law, the RTFP directs cities and counties within the metropolitan planning 

area boundary as to how to implement the RTP through local transportation system plans 

and associated land use regulations and transportation project development. Local 

implementation of the RTP will result in a more comprehensive approach for 

implementing the 2040 Growth Concept, help communities achieve their aspirations for 

growth and support current and future efforts to achieve the goals objectives and policies 

of the RTP. 

The RTFP was last updated in 2012. A comprehensive review and update is needed to: 

• modernize the functional plan language to be inclusive and in plain writing; 

• make miscellaneous technical corrections and clarifications, such as outdated 

references to maps and figures;  



 

8-28 Chapter 8 Moving Forward Together  
 Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan | July 10, 2023 

• ensure the functional plan language and provisions are consistent with and 

adequately reflect new and updated goals, objectives and policies adopted in the RTP 

since 2014, including safety, equity, climate, pricing, mobility, freight transit, 

transportation system management and operations, and transportation options / 

transportation demand management; 

•  align the functional plan language and provisions with recent statewide rulemaking 

and policy development to implement the Climate-Friendly and Equitable 

Communities Program, including modal system planning, multimodal inventories, 

transportation performance, project prioritization, parking management, reporting; 

and 

• update the timeline for local TSPs updates in collaboration with cities, counties and 

the ODOT Transportation System Plan Funding Program. 

8.2.3.12 2040 Refresh Coordination 

Lead agency Partners Proposed timing 

Metro Cities, counties, ODOT TBD 

Note: 2040 Refresh Coordination is awaiting further direction from Metro Council 

(anticipated in Fall 2023). The description below was carried over from the 2018 RTP. 

In 2018, Metro's Chief Operating Officer recommended that Metro’s Planning and 

Development staff return to the Metro Council in early 2019 with a proposed work 

program for updating the 2040 Growth Concept as part of the COO recommendation to 

the Metro Council on the 2018 Urban Growth Management Decision.  

Green corridor implementation will be forwarded for consideration as part of this future 

planning effort. Green corridors were adopted as part of the 2040 Growth Concept in 

1995. The purpose of green corridors is to prevent unintended urban development along 

these often heavily traveled routes, and maintain the sense of separation that exists 

between neighbor cities and the greater Portland region. The green corridor concept calls 

for a combination of access management and physical improvements to limit the effects of 

urban travel on the routes on adjacent rural activities. Following adoption of the 2040 

Growth Concept, Metro worked with the cities of North Plains, Canby and Sandy from 

1998-2000 to develop intergovernmental agreements (IGAs) but did not formalize these 

agreements. This remains as an outstanding issue in fully implementing the Growth 

Concept.  

In 2010 and 2011, the elected governing bodies of Clackamas, Multnomah and 

Washington counties and Metro entered into agreements that determine the location and 

scale of urban development for the future. These agreements were the result of a two-

https://www.oregon.gov/lcd/CL/Pages/CFEC.aspx?utm_medium=email&utm_source=govdelivery
https://www.oregon.gov/lcd/CL/Pages/CFEC.aspx?utm_medium=email&utm_source=govdelivery


 

Chapter 8 Moving Forward Together 8-29 
Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan | July 10, 2023 

year region-wide planning effort that identified areas for future urban use and other areas 

that should remain rural for the next 40 to 50 years. The urban and rural reserve decision 

provided a more certain framework for transportation improvements along the urban 

edge. Metro will work with interested local jurisdictions to complete IGAs for green 

corridors that reflect updated plans for urban and rural reserves.  

8.2.3.13  Columbia Connects 

Lead agency Partners Proposed timing 

Oregon Metro and 
Southwest Washington 
Regional Transportation 
Council 

Greater Portland Inc, Columbia 
River Economic Development 
Council, City of Portland, City of 
Gresham, City of Vancouver, Port 
of Portland, Port of Vancouver 

2023-24 

Columbia Connects is a regional project intended to strengthen the bi-state partnership 

between Oregon and Washington. Centered around the ecosystem of industries and work-

sheds that are interconnected by the Columbia River, the project seeks to develop a clear 

understanding of the conditions within this sub-district; the shared economic and 

community values of the region; and the strategies, projects, and programs needed to 

achieve desired outcomes. Columbia Connects provides a Shared Investment Strategy that 

outlines specific opportunities for investment based on feasibility, effectiveness, equity, 

and input from project champions. Convened by Metro and RTC, the partners will finalize 

and carry out actions included in a Shared Investment Strategy, continuing to partner 

across state boundaries to establish agreements and commitments for implementation 

and ongoing coordination on resource acquisition. 

8.2.4 Corridor Refinement Planning 

Note - Section 8.24 will be further updated this Summer and informed by analysis of the RTP 

project list using the newly updated regional mobility policy. 

This section identifies areas in the region – called mobility corridors - that are 

recommended for more detailed refinement planning to identify multimodal investment 

strategies adequate to serve regional transportation needs in the corridor.   

This RTP calls for an update to the region’s mobility policy and related performance 

targets beginning in 2019 and is expected to affect corridor refinement planning 

identified in this section. Many of the areas identified for refinement planning in the RTP 

are identified because they do not meet the newly updated regional mobility policy. 

Individual corridor refinement planning descriptions have been updated to reflect work 

remaining and are being carried forward in this RTP. 



 

8-30 Chapter 8 Moving Forward Together  
 Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan | July 10, 2023 

Corridor Refinement Planning and the Transportation Planning Rule 

Corridor refinement planning is a response to the Oregon Transportation Planning Rule 

(TPR). Section 660-012-0020 of the TPR requires that transportation system plans (TSPs) 

establish a coordinated network of planned transportation facilities adequate to serve 

regional transportation needs. The RTP is the region’s TSP. Section 660-012-0025 of the 

TPR allows jurisdictions to defer decisions regarding mode, function, and general location 

of improvements to address identified needs as long as it can be demonstrated that the 

refinement effort will be completed in the near future.  

A corridor refinement plan must identify the capital and operational improvements that a 

mobility corridor needs consistent with the region’s congestion management process. 

This is particularly critical for planning efforts that may result in significant expansion of 

roadways beyond the planned system. A CMP analysis is required for capacity-increasing 

projects that go beyond the planned RTP system before federal funds may be applied. For 

such projects, the CMP looks at road expansions beyond the planned system as a last 

resort and, as appropriate, requires that they be coupled with complementary operational 

and travel demand management strategies.  

In the Portland region, in order to stay consistent with our regional transportation and 

land use goals, our corridor refinement process includes a multimodal look at 

transportation needs, as well as a review of existing and planned land use and projected 

growth. See Section 8.5.4 and Appendix L for more information about the region’s CMP. 

A corridor refinement plan includes the following steps:  

1. Develop MOU or IGA for refinement plan scope of work that includes identification of 

roles and responsibilities, methods of collaboration and consultation with Metro, if the 

refinement planning work is not led by Metro. 

2. Conduct analysis that considers current and planned local land uses, regional and 

community goals for equity, housing, economic opportunity, environmental protection 

and stormwater management as well as safety, pedestrian, bike, system and demand 

management and operational strategies, freight, throughway, road and transit needs 

and previously identified solutions. 

3. Agree on corridor specific multimodal performance measures. 

4. Evaluate multimodal performance and potential impact on regional and community 

goals for equity, economic development and environmental protection and, if 

applicable, apply HCT system expansion assessment and readiness criteria. 

5. Develop alternative mobility or other performance standards, if necessary.  



 

Chapter 8 Moving Forward Together 8-31 
Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan | July 10, 2023 

6. Determine mix and phasing of projects and/or land use changes needed to 

address identified needs. 

7. Prepare local, regional and/or state plan amendments and MOU or IGA to 

implement refinement plan recommendations at state, regional and local levels. 

Consistent with the region’s congestion management process, corridor refinement plans 

will provide decision-makers with more comprehensive information regarding safety, 

accessibility, environmental impact, mobility, reliability and congestion as they relate to 

the movement of persons and goods in the mobility corridor. They should also consider 

land use, economic opportunity, equity, travel demand and system management, street 

connectivity, walking and biking solutions in addition to increasing transit and road 

capacity. The corridor refinement plan will recommend a wide range of strategies and 

projects to be implemented at the local, regional and/or state levels.  

Individual project and program solutions identified in the RTP may move forward to 

project development at the discretion of the facility owner/operator. Planning and project 

development efforts should be conducted with an understanding of the corridor 

refinement planning anticipated in the RTP and not preclude any strategies or potential 

solutions identified for consideration in the corridor refinement plan. The MOU or IGA 

from a corridor refinement plan is intended to provide more accountability and to 

formalize agreements across implementing jurisdictions on moving forward to implement 

the corridor refinement plan recommendations. This is particularly important in mobility 

corridors with multiple jurisdictions.   

Figure 8.2 shows the framework for how the mobility corridor strategy will be 

incorporated into the RTP or developed through a corridor refinement plan. 

 

 
  



 

8-32 Chapter 8 Moving Forward Together  
 Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan | July 10, 2023 

 

Figure 8.2 How A Mobility Corridor Strategy Is Developed and Implemented  

 

Mobility Corridors Recommended for Future Corridor Refinement Plans 



 

Chapter 8 Moving Forward Together 8-33 
Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan | July 10, 2023 

Note – This section will be further updated this Summer and informed by analysis of the RTP 

project list using the newly updated regional mobility policy. 

The main objective of the RTP mobility corridor framework is to organize information 

needed to help define the need, mode, function, performance standards, and general 

location of facilities within each mobility corridor consistent with the Transportation 

Planning Rule to ensure land use and transportation planning and decision-making are 

integrated. The needs assessment was developed based on the RTP policy framework and 

guided the identification of projects and programs during development of the RTP. 

Under the mobility corridor framework, when determinations of need(s), mode(s), 

function(s), and general location(s) of solutions cannot be made, the mobility corridor 

needs a refinement plan. Corridor refinement plans are intended to be multimodal 

evaluations of possible land use and transportation solutions to address identified needs 

and develop a shared investment strategy, consistent with RTP goals, objectives and 

policies. This includes conducting an evaluation that considers the potential impact on 

regional and community goals for equity, housing, economic development, environmental 

protection and access to nature.  

The RTP has identified a list of mobility corridors that do not meet the outcomes-based 

performance standards of the RTP and/or do not fully answer questions of mode, function 

and general location. These corridors need refinement planning and are listed in Table 

8.4. The corridors are not listed in priority order. In addition, potential high capacity 

transit corridors identified in the Regional Transit Strategy are likely to require corridor 

refinement plans to develop shared land use and transportation investment strategies 

and determine transit mode, function, general location and any associated changes in 

road or freight rail functions and performance standards of existing transportation 

facilities.  

Table 8.4 Mobility Corridors Recommended for Future Corridor Refinement Planning 

Regional Mobility Corridor General Geographic Scope of Mobility Corridor 

Mobility Corridors #3 Tigard to Wilsonville which includes I-5 South3 

Mobility Corridor #4 Portland Central City Loop, which includes I-5/I-405 Loop 

Mobility Corridors #7, #8 and 
#10  

Clark County to I-5 via Gateway, Oregon City and 
Tualatin, which includes I-205 

Mobility Corridor #14 and #15 Beaverton to Forest Grove, which includes Tualatin 
Valley Highway 

Mobility Corridors #13, #14  Hillsboro to Portland, which includes US 26 

 

3 In coordination with project development activities for Mobility Corridor #10. 



 

8-34 Chapter 8 Moving Forward Together  
 Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan | July 10, 2023 

Mobility Corridors #19 and #20 Portland Central City to Lents and Lents to Gresham, 
which includes US 26/Powell Boulevard 

Figure 8.3 Illustrative Map of Mobility Corridors in the Portland Metropolitan Region 

 

Corridor refinement plans that have been completed since 2018 

• Clackamas to Columbia Corridor Plan (Gresham/Fairview/Wood Village/Troutdale to 

Damascus – Mobility Corridor #24) 

 

  



 

Chapter 8 Moving Forward Together 8-35 
Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan | July 10, 2023 

Figure 8.4 Regional Mobility Corridors Recommended for Future Refinement Planning 

Note: This map will be updated for following adoption of the RTP 

 

 

8.2.4.1  Tigard to Wilsonville (Mobility Corridor 3) 

Note – This section will be further updated this Summer and informed by analysis of the RTP 

project list using the newly updated regional mobility policy. 

This mobility corridor provides the major southern access to and from the central city. 

The corridor also provides important freight access, where Willamette Valley traffic 

enters the region at the Wilsonville “gateway,” and provides access to Washington County 

via OR 217.  



 

8-36 Chapter 8 Moving Forward Together  
 Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan | July 10, 2023 

In 2002, a joint ODOT and Wilsonville study4 concluded that in 2030 widening of I-5 to 

eight lanes would be required to meet Oregon Highway Plan and RTP mobility standards, 

and that freeway access capacity would not be adequate with an improved I-

5/Wilsonville Road interchange. The appropriate improvements in this corridor are 

unclear at this time. However, I-5 serves as a critical gateway for regional travel and 

commerce, and an acceptable transportation strategy in this corridor has statewide 

significance. Projections for I-5 indicate that growth in traffic between the Metro region 

and the Willamette Valley will account for as much as 80 percent of the traffic volume 

along the southern portion of I-5, in the Tualatin and Wilsonville area.  

In 2009, ODOT and the City collaborated to plan the reconstruction of the I-5: Wilsonville 

Road interchange, including infrastructure improvements and management strategies to 

better serve planned growth in the area. Since adoption of the interchange area 

management plan, ODOT completed the interchange reconstruction and implemented the 

bulk of the management plan’s recommendations. More recent projects include the City’s 

addition of a third lane to the Wilsonville Road southbound on-ramp and improvements 

at the Elligsen Road northbound on-ramp. In addition, ODOT constructed a single 

southbound auxiliary lane on I-5 from north of Lower Boones Ferry Road to Nyberg Road 

and from South of Nyberg Road to I-205 and a second lane at the northbound exit ramp 

for Lower Boones Ferry Road to relieve congestion and reduce crashes. The auxiliary lane 

work included on- and off-ramp lane modifications at Lower Boones Ferry Road and 

Nyberg Street. 

The Washington County Transportation Futures Study, completed in 2017, recommended 

completion of this corridor refinement plan to address growing transportation needs in 

the corridor. The Washington County Freight Study, also completed in 2017, identified the 

I-5 corridor as a key area of freight operational delay and unreliability and underscored 

the importance of developing and funding improvements in this area. 

In 2017-2018, ODOT and the City of Wilsonville partnered on a Southbound I-5 Boone 

Bridge Congestion Study. They evaluated and developed solutions for a southbound 

bottleneck in the bridge area, in order to manage congestion and reliability for private 

vehicles, freight, and transit in the evening peak. This geographically focused study was 

timed to identify operational improvements in advance of upcoming seismic replacement 

of the Boone Bridge, so that they could proceed as one project and allow the state to 

reduce total costs. The study led to the adoption of the I-5 Wilsonville Facility Plan, which 

documented a southbound auxiliary lane concept consistent with implementation 

recommendations for this corridor (see Project 11990 on the 2023 RTP Financially 

 

4
 I-5/Wilsonville Freeway Access Study, DKS Associates, November 2002  



 

Chapter 8 Moving Forward Together 8-37 
Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan | July 10, 2023 

Constrained List). It did not preclude a larger I-5 south corridor refinement plan, and 

many of the broader multimodal needs in this corridor still need to be addressed. 

A corridor refinement plan is proposed to address the following in coordination with 

project development activities for Mobility Corridor #10: 

• Effects of widening I-205 on the I-5 South corridor; 

• Effects of the I-5 to 99W Connector study recommendations on I-5 and the N. 

Wilsonville interchange and the resultant need for increased freeway access to 

preserve local system performance and in-line capacity for I-5 mobility;  

• Effects of peak period and mid-day congestion in this area and mitigation options for 

regional freight reliability, mobility and travel patterns; 

• Ability of inter-city transit service, to/from neighboring cities in the Willamette Valley, 

including commuter rail, to slow traffic growth in the I-5 corridor; 

• Ability to maintain off-peak freight mobility with capacity improvements;  

• Potential for better coordination between the Metro region and Willamette Valley 

jurisdictions on land-use policies; 

• Effects of a planned long-term strategy for managing increased travel along I-5 in the 

Willamette Valley; 

• Effects of UGB expansion and Industrial Lands Evaluation studies on regional freight 

mobility; 

• Effects on freight mobility and local circulation due to diminished freeway access 

capacity in the I-5/Wilsonville corridor; 

• Identify and implement safety and modernization improvements to I-5 defined by the 

Tigard to Wilsonville Corridor Refinement Plan; 

• I-5/OR217 Interchange Phase 2: SB OR217/Kruse Way Exit – Complete interchange 

reconstruction: Braid SB OR 217 exit to I-5 with Kruse Way exit; 

• I-5/OR217 Interchange Phase 3: SB OR217 to I-5 NB Flyover Ramp – Complete 

interchange reconstruction with new SB OR217 to NB I-5 flyover ramp; 

• Effects of the new and proposed auxiliary (ramp-to-ramp) lanes; 

• Effects of future Southwest Corridor LRT; 

• Identify and implement active transportation priorities that provide safe alternatives 

to vehicle travel; and 



 

8-38 Chapter 8 Moving Forward Together  
 Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan | July 10, 2023 

• Consideration of how land use interfaces with the transportation needs and impacts, 

local system enhancements and new connections, and improved transit network and 

service and potential outcomes. 

In addition, the following design elements should be considered as part of the corridor 

refinement plan: 

• Congestion pricing, including consideration of the Regional Mobility Pricing Project, 

and HOV lanes for expanded capacity; 

• Operational bus on shoulder treatments 

• Provide regional transit service, connecting Wilsonville and Tualatin to the central 

city; 

• Increase WES service frequency and hours/days of operation; 

• Provide additional freeway access improvements in the I-5/Wilsonville corridor to 

improve freight mobility and local circulation; 

• Add capacity to parallel arterial routes, including 72nd Avenue, Boones Ferry, Lower 

Boones Ferry and Carman Drive; 

• Add overcrossings in vicinity of Tigard Triangle, City of Tualatin and City of 

Wilsonville to improve local circulation; 

• Extend commuter rail service from Salem to the Portland Central City, Tualatin transit 

center and Milwaukie, primarily along existing heavy rail tracks; 

• Additional I-5 mainline capacity; 

• Provision of auxiliary lanes between all I-5 freeway on- and off-ramps in Tualatin 

south of the I-5/I-205 split and in Wilsonville; and 

• Complete gaps in the Fanno Creek and Ice Age Tonquin Regional Trails to provide a 

continuous off-street active transportation route through the length of the mobility 

corridor. 

8.2.4.2  Portland Central City Loop (Mobility Corridor 4) 

Context 

Note – This section will be further updated this Summer and informed by analysis of the RTP 

project list using the newly updated regional mobility policy. 

In 2005, the I-5/405 Freeway Loop Advisory Group (FLAG) completed its review of the 

near- and long-term transportation, land use, and urban design issues regarding the I-

5/405 Freeway Loop. Appointed by Mayor Vera Katz and the ODOT Director in 2003, the 



 

Chapter 8 Moving Forward Together 8-39 
Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan | July 10, 2023 

24-member group developed and evaluated concepts to address identified transportation 

issues and needs. The concepts represented a range of options that included modest 

improvements within existing right-of-way, a One-Way Loop System, and a full tunnel 

that would connect the Freeway Loop to I-84 and Sunset Highway. The three concepts 

were evaluated against the region’s proposed transportation system, along with projected 

employment and household growth, for the year 2030.  

In completing its initial review, FLAG found that additional master planning work is 

needed to identify, prioritize and fund specific projects, and that short-term or interim 

investments should move forward while the master planning work is being completed. 

FLAG recommended that planning on I-84/I-5 interchange and the I-5 elements of South 

Portland Plan contemplated in the area of the interchange of I-405 and I-5 may proceed 

independent of the Master Plan with the understanding that the final plan for any such 

project would be consistent with the Master Plan. In addition, the study recommended 

advancing a corridor refinement plan to begin to identify short-term and long-term 

investments and a recommended scope, problem statement and set of principles:  

Scope 

• Develop an overall Freeway Loop Corridor Refinement Plan that will guide public 

investment for improvements to the I-5/405 Freeway Loop. 

• Develop a phasing strategy for implementation of the Master Plan. Include the 

currently approved Regional Transportation Plan improvements as well as new 

elements. 

• Identify and pursue a funding strategy. 

As directed by the FLAG’s recommendations, planning proceeded on the I-84/I-5 section 

of the Loop under the N/NE Quadrant and the I-5 Broadway-Weidler Interchange 

Improvement Planning process. The key recommendations from the adopted 2012 N/NE 

Quadrant Plan include: 

• Preserving and enhancing Lower Albina by protecting the working harbor and 

increasing land use flexibility that promotes a mix of uses on historic Russell Street 

and greater employment densities; 

• Protecting historic neighborhoods and cultural resources; 

• Concentrating high density development in the Lloyd District, with a focus on new 

residential development that will add activity and vibrancy to the district; 

• Providing amenities, such as parks, street improvements and green infrastructure to 

support and encourage new development; 

• Improving regional access and local street safety and connectivity for all modes; 



 

8-40 Chapter 8 Moving Forward Together  
 Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan | July 10, 2023 

• Encouraging sustainable development that supports the Lloyd EcoDistrict and goals 

for improved environmental health; 

• Future changes to zoning and building height regulations that implement the plan 

goals. 

Key recommendations for the I-5 Broadway-Weidler Plan include: 

• Adding auxiliary lanes and full-width shoulders to improve traffic weaves and allow 

disabled vehicles to move out of traffic lanes; 

• Rebuilding structures at Broadway, Weidler, Vancouver and Williams and adding a lid 

over the freeway that will simplify construction, increase development potential and 

improve the urban environment; 

• Moving the I-5 southbound on-ramp to Weidler to improve circulation and safety; 

• Improving conditions for pedestrian and bicycle travel by adding new connections 

over the freeway and safer pedestrian and bicycle facilities in the interchange area. 

The recommendations of the N/NE Quadrant Plan were incorporated in the recently 

adopted Central City 2035. In addition, as part of the plan, ODOT and the City worked to 

designate the Central City as a Multimodal Mixed-Use Area (MMA). MMAs are State 

acknowledged high density, mixed use areas that are well served by multimodal 

transportation. MMA areas are exempt from mobility standards as part of land use 

amendments (safety and other State mandated policies remain in effect). In development 

of the MMA, the City and ODOT worked to identify safety improvements for the Loop 

(including the I-5 Broadway/Weidler Project), which were subsequently added to the 

City’s list of TSP projects and submitted to Metro as part of the 2018 RTP.  

Proposed Mobility Corridor Purpose Statement 

The purpose of the study is to develop alternative design concepts for Portland Central 

City Loop. Improvements to the I-5/4-5 Freeway Loop must address long-term 

transportation and land use needs in a system-wide context. Because the movement of 

people and goods is a vital economic function, changes must be considered in relation to 

local, regional, and statewide geographies. Freeway Loop improvements should enhance, 

not inhibit, high-quality urban development, and should function as seamless and integral 

parts of the community. 

Proposed Principles 

These objectives will guide the selection and evaluation of options in the next phase: 



 

Chapter 8 Moving Forward Together 8-41 
Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan | July 10, 2023 

• Maintain or enhance transportation performance, including safe and reliable highway 

operations and enhanced transit performance. 

• Support a multi-modal strategy for automobiles, transit, trucks, bicycles, and 

pedestrians. 

• Support trade and freight movement to facilitate regional and state economic 

development. 

• Support local, regional, and state land use plans. 

• Ensure regional accessibility to and from the Central City to reinforce its significant 

statewide, regional, and national economic role. 

• Support economic activities and new investments in the Central City and in adjacent 

industrial areas. 

• Improve the quality of the built environment and multimodal connections across 

facilities. 

• Avoid or minimize negative impacts on the natural and built environments. 

• Evaluate facility improvement costs relative to the distribution of benefits and 

impacts. 

• Develop strategies that can be implemented in phases, including consideration of 

congestion pricing such as that identified in the Regional Mobility Pricing Project. 

8.2.4.3 Clark County to I-5 via Gateway, Oregon City and Tualatin (Mobility Corridors 7, 8 

and 10) 

Note – This section will be further updated this Summer and informed by analysis of the RTP 

project list using the newly updated regional mobility policy. 

Improvements are needed in this corridor to address existing deficiencies and expected 

growth in travel demand in Clark, Multnomah and Clackamas counties. Transportation 

solutions in this corridor should address the following needs and opportunities: 

• Provide for some peak period and off-peak mobility and reliability for longer trips; 

• Preserve freight mobility from I-5 to Clark County, with an emphasis on connections 

to Highway 213, Highway 224 and Sunrise Corridor; 

• Maintain an acceptable level of access to the Oregon City, Clackamas and Gateway 

regional centers and Sunrise industrial area; 

• Maintain acceptable levels of access to PDX, including air cargo access; 

• Coordinate refinement planning activities with planning for the Stafford area; 



 

8-42 Chapter 8 Moving Forward Together  
 Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan | July 10, 2023 

• Adding general purpose lanes to I-205 should be considered to meet state and 

regional policies to bring the freeway up to three through lanes in each direction in 

the southern section from Oregon City to I-5 and to allow for potential of bus-on-

shoulder operations for bypassing of traffic queues on I-205 during periods of 

congestion; 

• Expanded transit service in the corridor including provision of I-205 express bus 

service between Clackamas regional center and Bridgeport in Tualatin, and frequent 

bus service between Clackamas regional center and Clackamas Community College via 

downtown Oregon City; 

• Extend high capacity transit service from Milwaukie to Oregon City along McLoughlin 

Boulevard; 

• Complete gaps in the I-205 Multi-use path - including southernmost segment from 

Oregon City to Tualatin - to provide a continuous off-street active transportation route 

through the length of the mobility corridor; and  

• Interchange improvements, auxiliary lanes and other major operational 

improvements such as ramp improvements and other weaving area improvements in 

the corridor should also be considered. Specific projects to be considered to meet 

identified needs include:  

o Southbound truck climbing lanes from Willamette River to 10th St. 

interchange;  

o Interchange improvements at locations including: Division/Powell, Airport 

Way, OR213, OR 212/224, Sunrise, Johnson Creek Boulevard and others;  

o Auxiliary lanes, northbound and southbound in the following locations: Airport 

Way to Columbia Blvd., Columbia Blvd. to I-84, I-84 to Glisan, Glisan to 

Division/Powell, Division/Powell to Foster, Foster to Johnson Creek Boulevard, 

OR 212/224 to Gladstone, Gladstone to OR 99E;  

o Widen to 6 lanes from Stafford Interchange to Willamette River;  

o Widen Abernethy Bridge to 6 lanes plus auxiliary lanes;  

o Improvements needed on OR 213 (82nd Avenue) include bicycle/pedestrian 

and streetscape improvements.  

o Implement tolling on I-205 between Stafford Road and the Abernathy Bridge. 

Potential transportation and land use solutions in this corridor should evaluate the 

potential of the following design concepts: 

• Auxiliary lanes added from Airport Way to I-84 East; 



 

Chapter 8 Moving Forward Together 8-43 
Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan | July 10, 2023 

• Consider express HOV lanes as a strategy for expanding capacity; 

• Relative value of specific ramp, overcrossing and parallel route improvements; 

• Evaluate crash history of arterials and throughways in study area, with a focus on fatal 

and serious injury crashes, to inform potential transportation solutions and phasing; 

• Eastbound HOV lane from I-5 to the Oregon City Bridge; 

• Truck climbing lane south of Oregon City; 

• Potential for inter-city transit service, vanpool services and other travel options, 

to/from rural areas and neighboring cities in Clackamas County, to expand travel 

options and slow traffic growth in the I-205 corridor; 

• Potential for rapid bus transit service or light rail from Oregon City to Gateway; 

• Potential for extension of rapid bus service or light rail north from Gateway into Clark 

County; 

• Potential for refinements to 2040 land-use assumptions in this area to expand 

potential employment in the sub-area and improve jobs/housing imbalance; 

• Potential for re-evaluating the suitability of the Beavercreek area for urban growth 

boundary expansion, based on ability to serve the area with adequate regional 

transportation infrastructure; 

• Explore opportunities to support economic and land use goals with the Columbia 

Connections Strategy; 

• Provide recommendations to the Bi-State Coordination Committee prior to JPACT and 

Metro Council consideration of projects that have bi-state significance. 

8.2.4.4  Beaverton to Forest Grove (Mobility Corridors 14 and 15) 

Note – This section will be further updated this Summer and informed by analysis of the RTP 

project list using the newly updated regional mobility policy. 

A number of improvements are needed in this corridor to address existing deficiencies 

and serve increased travel demand. One primary function of this route is to provide 

access to and between the Beaverton and Hillsboro regional centers. Tualatin Valley 

Highway also serves as an access route to Highway 217 from points west along the 

Tualatin Valley Highway corridor. As such, the corridor is defined as extending from 

Highway 217 on the east to Forest Grove to the west, and from Farmington Road on the 

south to Baseline Road to the north.  

The Tualatin Valley Highway Corridor Plan (TVCP) is a “mobility corridor refinement” 

plan completed in June 2013. The TVCP studied the Beaverton to Hillsboro portion of the 



 

8-44 Chapter 8 Moving Forward Together  
 Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan | July 10, 2023 

Beaverton to Forest Grove mobility corridor between Cedar Hills Boulevard (Beaverton 

Regional Center) and SE 10th Avenue/Maple Street (Hillsboro Regional Center). The 

northern boundary of the study area was Baseline Road/Jenkins road and the southern 

boundary was Farmington Road, Oak Street, Davis Street and Allen Boulevard. There are 

still two outstanding sections of the corridor left to be studied: within Beaverton (OR 217 

to SW Cedar Hills Blvd) and from Hillsboro (west of SE 10th Avenue/Maple Street) to 

Forest Grove.  

The TVCP was a joint effort between ODOT, Metro, the City of Hillsboro, the City of 

Beaverton and Washington County that focused an examination of the transportation 

system to identify needs and improvements for all modes of transportation. A number of 

improvements have been identified in this corridor to address existing deficiencies and 

safety concerns and serve increased travel demand.  

The TV Trail Concept Plan, a TGM funded plan by Washington County describes the 

selection of the two preferred near- and long-term opportunities to serve local and 

regional trail connectivity between SW 160th Avenue and Cornelius Pass Road. 

The East Forest Grove Safety Action Plan examined the portion of OR 8 between Forest 

Grove and Cornelius. The plan identified multi-modal improvements to address safety 

along this section of the corridor. 

A long‐term transit solution for Tualatin Valley Highway has yet to be identified. In 

advance of this transit study additional land area is to be preserved for Business Access 

Transit (BAT) / High Capacity Transit (HCT) uses. This land area is not intended to be 

used for general purpose through lanes. Development along Tualatin Valley Highway shall 

consider opportunities so as to not preclude a future Business Access and Transit lane in 

the westbound direction, and to not preclude Bus pullouts in the eastbound direction.  

RTP Design and Functional Classifications. 

Early in the project, the TVCP PG gave policy direction to maintain the design and function 

of TV Hwy as an urban arterial that will not exceed motorized vehicle capacity of two 

through travel lanes in each direction. Consistent with this decision, proposed actions 

along TV Hwy will be developed during subsequent refinement planning and design work 

to maximize the use of the typical 100 feet to 107 feet of existing right-of-way (ROW) to 

serve multimodal travel. Additionally, the RTP Arterial & Throughway map and System 

Design Classification maps are amended. TV Highway will be changed from “Principal 

arterial” to “Major Arterial” on the Arterial & Throughway map. It will be changed from 

“Throughway” to “Regional Street” on the System Design map.  



 

Chapter 8 Moving Forward Together 8-45 
Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan | July 10, 2023 

The TVCP recommendations fall into 3 categories: 1) Near Term Actions, 2) Opportunistic 

Actions, and 3) Longer Term Refinement Planning Needs. 

Near Term Actions 

The proposed improvements described below will address existing needs, including 

multimodal system completeness and safety, and can reasonably be expected to be 

completed within the next 15 years with a strong commitment from one or more of the 

partner agencies that have jurisdiction over subject transportation facilities, including:  

• Complete detailed multi‐agency study to determine future potential for high capacity 

transit solutions within the Tualatin Valley Highway corridor; 

• The Moving Forward TV Highway Plan will be developed as a multi-agency study that 

determine nature and feasibility of HCT in the Tualatin Valley Highway corridor 

between SW 160th Ave and Cornelius Pass Road; 

• Multi-modal safety improvements from the East Forest Grove Safety Action Plan 

• Improve bus stops along Tualatin Valley Highway; 

• More frequent bus service;  

• Add street lighting on Tualatin Valley Highway;  

• Improve Tualatin Valley Highway pedestrian crossings;  

• Complete Planning and Conceptual design for a Multi‐use path;  

• Fill gaps in sidewalks and add landscape buffers along Tualatin Valley Highway;  

• Add directional way finding signs;  

• Complete the (currently discontinuous and narrow) bike lanes on Tualatin Valley 

Highway;  

• Improve bike crossings of Tualatin Valley Highway;  

• Develop continuous east‐west parallel bike routes north and south of Tualatin Valley 

Highway;  

• Public community rail safety education;  

• Support and promote employer incentive programs to reduce driving;  

• Improve signal timing, transit prioritization and traffic operations monitoring;  

• Signal prioritization for transit;  

• Adaptive signal control (“smart signals” that adjust timing to congestion levels);  

• Improve operations at signalized intersections along Tualatin Valley Highway;  



 

8-46 Chapter 8 Moving Forward Together  
 Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan | July 10, 2023 

• Intersection modification to address safety and mobility; and 

• Left‐turn signal improvements.  

Opportunistic Actions 

Understanding that funding opportunities (whether public funding or public funding in 

combination with private sources) may arise for transportation improvements within the 

TVCP Project Area to work towards to meet the goals and objectives of the TVCP, while 

attempting to:  

• Encourage private contributions by developers to implement the near term 

improvements, including reserving ROW for future transportation improvements (City 

of Hillsboro, City of Beaverton, Washington County).  

• Acquire the ROW to develop a westbound business access transit (BAT) lane as 

redevelopment opportunities arise on Tualatin Valley Hwy. The City of Hillsboro may 

also require all half-street improvements be constructed to include the setback curb, 

planter strip, and sidewalk improvement to create an amenable environment for 

future transit solutions on Tualatin Valley Highway. This redevelopment should be 

consistent with ODOT standards. The City of Hillsboro has determined that a BAT lane 

would not provide the anticipated benefit for transit service and therefore the city 

isn’t acquiring ROW to develop the BAT lane as redevelopment opportunities occur on 

TV Hwy check with Gregg Snyder about this. The Moving Forward TV Highway 

Enhanced Transit and Access Plan will look at whether there are benefits of using a 

BAT lane in part of the corridor from 160th to Cornelius Pass Road. 

• As projects arise from appropriate categories examine whether opportunities are 

available to use other funds to leverage this funding (e.g., safety) (ODOT, consulting 

with partners). 

• As land use and transportation system conditions change and near term 

improvements are completed, consider the opportunity to update this adaptive 

corridor management strategy (all partners). 

• Improve existing north-south routes for all modes to reduce travel demand on 

Tualatin Valley Highway and congestion at intersections. Improvements to roadways 

such as Brookwood Avenue, Century Boulevard, Cornelius Pass Road, 209th Avenue, 

198th Avenue, 185th Avenue, and 170th Avenue would provide the greatest benefit to 

the overall transportation system. Five improvements on 198th Avenue south of 

Tualatin Valley Highway are scheduled in the next five years through Washington 

County’s Major Streets Transportation Improvement Program. The other three 

corridors will require a more opportunistic approach, including working with 



 

Chapter 8 Moving Forward Together 8-47 
Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan | July 10, 2023 

developers of South Hillsboro to help improve 209th Avenue (City of Hillsboro, City of 

Beaverton, Washington County).  

• Improve east-west connectivity (such as those proposed in the upcoming South 

Hillsboro UGB development mitigation) in addition to the near term actions proposed 

in South Hillsboro such as the Kinnaman and Rosa Road extensions (City of Hillsboro, 

City of Beaverton, Washington County).  

• Complete the bicycle and pedestrian system in the TVCP Project Area to increase 

connectivity and access.  

• Implement improvements identified in the Tualatin Valley Trail Concept Plan 

• Examine transit service for enhancements and improvements in the near term 

improvements list to leverage added service or other capital enhancements. TriMet 

has been awarded two Statewide Transportation Improvement Program (STIP) 

projects (Highway 8 Corridor Safety and Access to Transit) for improved safety, active 

transportation, access to transit and transit operations by improving bus stops, 

constructing landing pads, and enhancing crossings. ODOT will be enhancing two 

pedestrian crossings, infilling sidewalks, consolidating bus stops, providing transit 

queue jumps at one location and improving a bus stop For the second application 

(between 110th Avenue and SW 209th Avenue on TV Hwy), the project will enhance 

four pedestrian crossing locations, install buffered bike lanes between 153rd and 182nd 

Aves, consolidate bus stops, install illumination, ped actuation and signal interconnect 

at 141st/142nd and 174th, install physically separated walkways and bike lanes on 

bridge sections between 153rd and 160th Ave and the between 30th and 40th Aves.  

• Reduce vehicle turn movements to/from driveways on TV Highway. This would 

improve safety and mobility of pedestrians, bicyclists, and motorists on TV Hwy. 

Further access consolidations are recommended in conjunction with other property 

redevelopment.  

Long Term Refinement Planning Needs  

The refinement plan was unable to adequately address some longer term planning 

aspirations for the corridor. The following should be addressed as part of a future 

corridor refinement plan:  

• The preferred location (e.g. on or adjacent to Tualatin Valley Highway) and most 

viable transit mode (e.g., bus rapid transit, express bus service, light rail, streetcar, or 

commuter rail) and amount of right‐of‐way needed for a long‐term HCT solution for 

Tualatin Valley Highway. This transit alternative analysis study may explore enhanced 

signal operations for transit and/or the viability of a Business Access Transit (BAT) 

lane in appropriate locations. The Moving Forward TV Highway Enhanced Transit and 



 

8-48 Chapter 8 Moving Forward Together  
 Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan | July 10, 2023 

Access Plan will determine the nature and feasibility of HCT in the corridor primarily 

between 160th and Cornelius Pass Rd. 

• The location of a multi‐use pathway parallel to Tualatin Valley Highway as per the 

Tualatin Valley Trail Concept Plan.  

• The location of new local street connections, in concert with access management along 

Tualatin Valley Highway.  

• While grade separated intersections are not included in the plan, it is recognized that 

in the long term, all tools should be considered to maintain acceptable intersection 

performance to serve future transportation and community needs.  

8.2.4.5  Powell-Division Corridor: Portland Central City to Lents Town Center and 

Lents Town Center to Gresham Regional Center (Mobility Corridors 19 and 20) 

Note – This section will be further updated this Summer and informed by analysis of the RTP 

project list using the newly updated regional mobility policy. 

The Powell-Division Corridor is included in Mobility Corridors #19 and #20. The Mobility 

Corridor Strategy identified in 2014 RTP Appendix 3.1 notes that both corridors are 

anticipated to experience high levels of growth in employment and population by the year 

2040. 

A number of investments are needed in these corridors to address existing deficiencies 

and serve increased travel demand.  

The Powell-Division Transit and Development Plan alternative analysis identified a 

project – now called the Division Transit Project - that addresses some of the needs 

identified for the Powell-Division Corridor by improving transit and safety on Division 

Street with a bus rapid transit project. The Division Transit Project went into revenue 

service in September 2022. The Division Transit Project does not fully address the transit, 

safety, and mobility needs that remain on Powell Boulevard.  

The Division Transit bus rapid transit project traverses from downtown Portland to 

downtown Gresham on Division Street through southeast Portland. Project partners 

recognized that Powell Boulevard improvements are still needed to address safety and 

mobility needs for all modes and supply essential transit connections in this corridor. 

Also, a number of steering committee members qualified their votes of support for the 

Locally Preferred Alternative as contingent upon a commitment to further study Powell 

Boulevard to address safety and mobility needs moving forward. Based on community 

feedback and analysis during the Powell-Division Transit and Development project, the 

City of Portland included language documenting this recommendation in their LPA 

adopting resolution, as follows: 



 

Chapter 8 Moving Forward Together 8-49 
Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan | July 10, 2023 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that Metro advance Powell Boulevard for regional 

consideration and prioritization within the High Capacity Transit planning process, and 

amend the Regional Transportation Plan to assert continued need for Powell Boulevard 

transit improvements. 

The Powell-Division Corridor is included in Mobility Corridors #19 and #20. The Mobility 

Corridor Strategy identified in 2014 RTP Appendix 3.1 notes that both corridors are 

anticipated to see high levels of growth in employment and population by the year 2040.  

Mobility Corridor #19 provides an important connection between the Portland Central 

City and the Lents Town Center and provides important freight access to rail facilities at 

Brooklyn Yard and access from Powell Boulevard and McLoughlin Boulevard to the 

Central Eastside Industrial District. This corridor also serves statewide and regional 

travel on Powell Boulevard (US 26), which serves as a statewide and regional freight 

route between I-5 and I-205.  

The corridor does not meet regional performance thresholds (does not perform as it 

should) for its throughways (Powell Boulevard) and arterials (Division and Holgate 

streets) as defined in the RTP due to high volume to capacity ratios. 

Strategies adopted in 2014 RTP Appendix 3.1 to improve the corridor include: 

Near term:  

• System and demand management along Powell Boulevard and parallel facilities for all 

modes of travel. 

• Improved, safe pedestrian and bicycle crossings of Powell Boulevard. 

• Modify existing signals, coordinate and optimize signal timing to improve traffic 

operations on Powell Boulevard. 

• Prioritize and construct safety and streetscape improvements from SE 50th to SE 84th 

Avenue. 

Medium term:  

• Improve safety by all modes and enhance opportunities for use of bicycles, walking 

and transit on Powell Boulevard. 

• Identify and implement potential changes to the cross section of Foster Road based on 

the Foster Streetscape Plan. 

The Oregon Department of Transportation (ODOT) is constructing improvements to help 

people get around busy Outer SE Powell Boulevard more safely. The Outer Powell 

Transportation Safety Project stretches between I-205 and Portland/Gresham city limits, 



 

8-50 Chapter 8 Moving Forward Together  
 Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan | July 10, 2023 

just east of SE 174th Avenue. These safety improvements will reduce the frequency and 

severity of crashes and help vehicles, pedestrians, transit and bicyclists share the road 

with fewer conflicts. 

Roadway, bike and pedestrian safety improvements include: 

• Sidewalks where there are none now 

• Mix of separated and sidewalk level bike lanes 

• Center turn lanes for cars, buses and trucks for safer turns and to reduce back-ups 

• Storm drains to prevent water from pooling on the road 

• Lighting for improved visibility 

• New waterline in some areas 

• New traffic signals  

• Mid-block flashing light pedestrian crossing beacons (Rectangular Rapid Flashing 

Beacons) to alert drivers that people are crossing the street 

ODOT expects completion of construction in 2024. 

Additionally, for the segment of SE Powell Boulevard between the Ross Island Bridge and 

I-205, ODOT is working with the City of Portland to implement safety investments such as 

enhanced crossings and speed feedback signs, and studying roadway configuration 

options  to increase safety for all users.  

Mobility Corridor #20 provides an important connection between the Lents Town Center 

and the Gresham Regional Center. The corridor provides important freight access, 

connecting I-205 to Gresham and the Springwater Industrial Area. In addition, the 

corridor serves statewide travel, connecting to routes that lead to destinations outside the 

region such as the Mt Hood Recreational Area and Sandy Oregon.  

Similar to Mobility Corridor #19, Mobility Corridor #20 is expected to experience high 

levels of employment and population growth by 2040 and does not meet regional 

performance thresholds for its throughways (Powell Boulevard) and arterials (Division 

and Foster streets) as defined in the Regional Transportation Plan due to high volume to 

capacity ratios. 

Strategies adopted in 2014 RTP Appendix 3.1 to improve the corridor include: 

• Near term: System and demand management along the Powell Boulevard and parallel 

facilities for all modes of travel. 



 

Chapter 8 Moving Forward Together 8-51 
Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan | July 10, 2023 

• Medium term: Implement a three-lane cross-section on Powell Boulevard from I-205 

to SE 174th Avenue with bicycle and pedestrian improvements. 

• Long term: Implement additional capacity enhancements along Powell Boulevard 

from 162nd to 174th Avenue as needed. Additional enhancements may include 

intersecting north-south streets along Powell Boulevard. 

8.2.4.6  Hillsboro to Portland (Mobility Corridors 13 and 14) 

Note – This section will be further updated this Summer and informed by analysis of the RTP 

project list using the newly updated regional mobility policy. Additionally, some data used in 

the 2018 RTP will be updated prior to RTP adoption. 

Washington County is growing faster than its neighbors in the region, and with that 

growth comes an increased need to move more people and freight. The Sunset Highway 

(US 26) Corridor is a critical thoroughfare for residents, commuters, and the regional 

economy, but current conditions result in vehicle congestion, diversion, and unreliable 

travel times for people driving, riding transit, and moving freight. These transportation 

deficiencies adversely affect the safety, affordability, and livability of the area and can 

impede economic competitiveness.   

Centered on the US 26 (Sunset Highway) from Hillsboro to Portland, the Westside 

Multimodal Improvements Study was recommended in the 2018 RTP and kicked off in 

January 2022. The study’s purpose was to address transportation challenges that affect 

the movement of people and goods between Hillsboro’s Silicon Forest, Northern 

Washington County’s agricultural freight, and the Portland Central City, the international 

freight distribution hub of I-5 and I-84, the Port of Portland marine terminals, rail 

facilities, and the Portland International Airport.  

ODOT and Metro co-managed the study in partnership with local agencies, business 

representatives, and community-based organizations. The study was guided by a Project 

Management Group, made up of technical staff from partner agencies, and a Steering 

Committee composed of decision-making representatives from each of the agencies that 

have jurisdiction or ownership of infrastructure or systems considered in the planning 

process.  An analysis of existing conditions data helped to define the issues and needs 

within the corridor and are framed here in the context of five priority areas: mobility and 

reliability, safety, social equity, climate action, and economic vitality.  

Mobility and Reliability 

Corridor #13, which extends east to the Willamette River including the western portion of 

Portland’s Central City and Corridor #14 extending west from Murray Boulevard to North 



 

8-52 Chapter 8 Moving Forward Together  
 Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan | July 10, 2023 

Plains will account for 22 percent of the region’s households, 20 percent of the region’s 

population, and 31 percent of the region’s employment by 2040.  

Since the Covid-19 pandemic, we’ve seen changes in travel patterns, including fewer 

people transit, fewer people commuting daily to workplaces, and more people working 

from home or on flexible schedules. Meanwhile, jobs that require in-person attendance 

such as manufacturing, agriculture, retail, hospitality and maintenance are often not 

centrally located and may have work shifts that cover 24 hours of the day. These changes 

have resulted in afternoon traffic congestion occurring earlier in the day and lasting 

longer than before the pandemic.  

Corridor #13, which includes the Sunset Highway and its array of complementary parallel 

arterial roadways (Cornelius Pass Road, Germantown Road, Cornell Road, 

Barnes/Burnside Road, and Beaverton-Hillsdale Highway), carries approximately 

229,150 vehicles per day comprising roughly 390,000 person-trips per day. Of the total 

vehicle trips, Sunset Highway carries 160,000 vehicles per day, including 6,000 trucks, 

and Cornelius Pass Road serves approximately 11,000 vehicles per day.   

At present, transit carries approximately 18,710 person-trips per weekday on the MAX 

Blue Line, the MAX Red Line, and multiple bus lines serving the parallel arterials in the 

corridor. Of those total trips, approximately 11,500 occur on the MAX Blue and Red Lines. 

Bus lines serving the Sunset Highway corridor include Line 47 (720 weekday boardings), 

Line 48 (1200 average weekday boardings), Line 57 (5,240 average weekday boardings) 

and Line 59 (50 average weekday boardings). This is a decrease from pre-pandemic 

transit use. TriMet plans to open the western extension of the MAX Red Line to Hillsboro’s 

Airport/Fair Complex Station in fall 2024.   

The existing transit network in the westside of the Metro area has limited north-south bus 

routes, some routes have infrequent service, and may require multiple transfers to reach 

a destination. Efforts such as TriMet’s Forward Together concept, the Washington County 

Transit Study, and Metro’s High-Capacity Transit Strategy include plans for transit 

enhancements and future investments to meet existing transit needs and accommodate 

future growth in the Westside Corridor.    

Economic Vitality 

The Sunset Highway corridor is a major employment center in the region. Many of the 

region’s top private employers call the area home including Intel, Nike, Tektronix, Reser’s 

Fine Foods, Qorvo, and Salesforce, among others. Top public sector employers include 

local school districts, city and county governments, hospitals, and health care providers.   



 

Chapter 8 Moving Forward Together 8-53 
Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan | July 10, 2023 

The semiconductor industry expansion presents Oregon with an opportunity to create the 

kind of jobs and investment the state needs for a strong economy, and this area is often 

referred to as Oregon’s “Silicon Forest.” In July 2022 Congress passed the $52 billion 

CHIPS Act to boost domestic semiconductor manufacturing and design. This creates an 

opportunity to solidify Oregon’s position as a world leader in semiconductor innovation 

and expand semiconductor design and manufacturing development in Washington 

County. New industrial development will place additional demand on our transportation 

system and a greater need for freight mobility and reliability through the Sunset Highway 

corridor.  

Outreach done during the Westside Multimodal Improvements Study reinforced freight-

related concerned identified during the 2013 Westside Freight Access and Logistics 

Analysis Oregon’s export economy relies heavily on the computer and electronics 

industry, which accounts for over 60% of state’s exports, and valued $15 billion in 2021. 

This industry is primarily located in the region’s Westside, and depends on a tightly 

managed supply chain to efficiently bring products to markets that are mostly outside of 

the greater Portland area. Addressing freight mobility challenges experienced by the 

Westside computer and electronics industry will likely also benefit the footwear, apparel, 

medical/dental, biopharma and agriculture industries in Washington County. 

Freight movement between the Westside industries and the PDX freight consolidation 

area and the Portland International Airport depends on two routes: 

• US 26 eastbound to I-405 northbound to I-5 Northbound to Columbia Boulevard; and 

• Cornelius Pass Road northbound to US 30 southbound to Columbia Boulevard via the 

St. Johns Bridge. 

US 26 eastbound between Highway 217 and I-405 ranks among the top bottlenecks in the 

region.  Travel times can vary up to 20 minutes or more for a typical trip from Hillsboro’s 

employment areas to PDX, due largely to traffic on US26. This lack of reliability means 

that freight haulers and commuters can’t be certain how long a trip will take them, leading 

to lost productivity. US26 has the highest freight volume of all non-interstate highways in 

the region, but freight trips make up just five percent of total trips on US26. Meanwhile, 

freight trips account for sixteen percent of total trips on Cornelius Pass Road, indicating it 

is a preferred route for many freight haulers.     

Work commute estimates based on Street Light Data indicate that a significant number of 

people commute into the area for work. Data shows that about 97,000 people per 

weekday commute to the Westside Multimodal Improvements Study area. About 27,000 

both live and work in the study area and have local commute trips, while another 64,000 

people live in the study area and commute to jobs elsewhere in the region.  



 

8-54 Chapter 8 Moving Forward Together  
 Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan | July 10, 2023 

Safety 

Many of the key arterials in the Sunset Highway Corridor are identified among Metro’s 

2016-2020 High Injury Corridors. These are roadways in the greater Portland area where 

the highest concentrations of serious crashes involving a motor vehicle occur. The top five 

most dangerous corridors within the study area include: Tualatin Valley Highway, 

Baseline Rd, Cornell Rd, Cornelius Pass Rd, and Farmington Rd.  A total of 15,000 crashes 

occurred between 2015-2019 in the study area, with 53% of crashes resulting in injury. 

Of these, 223 crashes involved pedestrians and 188 crashes involved bicyclists.  

With congestion becoming more pervasive on US 26 in the area of the Vista Ridge Tunnels 

and the I-405 interchange, traffic crashes have continued to increase. Cumulatively, there 

are 10 discreet locations on US 26 between I-405 and Highway 217 that rank in the state’s 

top 10 percent of crash high-priority locations statewide. 

Sunset Highway at the Vista Ridge tunnels prohibits the hauling of hazardous materials. 

Petroleum products used to fuel vehicles in the Tualatin Valley and chemicals, including 

but not limited to industrial gases used in the manufacturing of silicon wafer products, 

commonly use Cornelius Pass Road with Highway 217 as the secondary route. 

Both the Sunset Highway corridor and the secondary freight route of Cornelius Pass Road 

are susceptible to recurring incidents such as crashes, landslides, and trees blocking the 

roadways. In both cases, the regional transportation system lacks “redundancy” to 

accommodate any unforeseen impediments to travel. Similarly, both corridors (and their 

Willamette River bridges) are not likely to prove reliable and sustainable in the event of a 

Cascadia earthquake. 

Social Equity 

People living within the Sunset Highway corridor are more racially diverse than the 

region and state, with over 37% residents of color. Forty-five percent of households are 

renters, which is higher than the regional average.     

Many areas throughout the corridor score high on TriMet’s transit equity index, reflecting 

higher concentrations of people of color, low-income households, people with low English 

proficiency, people with disabilities, older adults, youth, households with poor vehicle 

access, access to affordable housing, access to low/medium wage jobs, access to 

services. Higher scores indicate a potential for higher need for increased transit service, 

particularly in areas south of US 26.    

 

 



 

Chapter 8 Moving Forward Together 8-55 
Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan | July 10, 2023 

Climate 

Land use patterns and past infrastructure investments in the study area prioritized auto 

vehicle travel, which contribute to continued reliance on personal vehicles to meet 

people’s daily travel needs. This pattern results in high vehicle miles traveled (VMT) and 

contributes to greenhouse gas emissions from gasoline powered vehicles. Frequent 

congestion on US 26 and nearby facilities contributes to traffic diversion to other routes, 

increased vehicle miles traveled (VMT), inefficient vehicle operation, and vehicle idling, 

all of which contribute to greenhouse gas emissions in the region. 

Recommended Transportation Investments  

The Westside Multimodal Improvements Study produced a list of transportation 

investments that are intended to address the identified issues and needs in the Sunset 

Highway corridor. Investment options were evaluated based on how well they addressed 

mobility and reliability, safety, social equity, climate action, and economic vitality. The 

Westside Multimodal Improvements Study developed an Implementation Plan that 

outlines priority investments for the region to advance for future project development 

and funding, including project descriptions, lead agencies, cost ranges, benefits, issues, 

and dependent projects.   

[PLACEHOLDER FOR RECOMMENDED INVESTMENT OPTIONS & DESCRIPTIONS]  



 

8-56 Chapter 8 Moving Forward Together  
 Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan | July 10, 2023 

8.3 PROJECTS 

8.3.1 Major Project Development 

Transportation improvements where the need, mode, function and general location is 

identified in the RTP and local plans are expected to be further refined during detailed 

project development. For major projects, project development is generally completed 

jointly by affected or sponsoring agencies, in coordination and consultation with Metro. 

For purposes of the RTP, major projects are defined as large-scale, complex investments 

in the transportation system that typically cost $500 million or more regardless of the 

source of funding for the total project and is likely to receive state or federal financial 

assistance. Projects with total costs between $100 million and $500 million may also be 

considered major projects and are currently considered major projects for the purposes 

of the Metropolitan Transportation Improvement Program (MTIP). FHWA requires all 

projects with costs of $100 million or more to have financial plans updated annually. 

Major projects typically have a high level of public, legislative or congressional interest, 

may be constructed in multiple phases and are anticipated to go through one of the 

planning processes identified below.  

The purpose of project development is to consider project design details and select a 

specific project alignment, as necessary, after evaluating engineering, management and 

design alternatives, potential environmental impacts and consistency with applicable 

comprehensive plans, the Oregon Transportation Plan and the RTP. The TPR defines 

project development as, “implementing the transportation system plan by determining 

the precise location, alignment and preliminary design of improvements included in the 

TSP based on site-specific engineering and environmental studies,” (660-012-005 (36)). 

The project need, mode, function and general location do not need to be addressed again 

at the project level, since these decisions have been previously documented in the 

adopted corridor refinement plan or RTP project list.  

For projects of regional significance with multiple jurisdictions, decisions may be 

documented through adoption of a Locally Preferred Alternative. Project development 

decisions for projects that qualify for a Categorical Exclusion under NEPA can be 

documented by other means in accordance with the responsible agency’s procedures. 

Once the RTP or corridor refinement plans have established mode, function, general 

location, and identified solutions, project development may also result in recommended 

phasing of improvements.  

A summary of progress on major project development activities follows. 

 



 

Chapter 8 Moving Forward Together 8-57 
Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan | July 10, 2023 

Table 8.5 Progress (as of 2023) on Major Project Development 

Project Status 

Interstate 5 Bridge Replacement (IBR) 
Project 

LPA approved in July 2008. 
Record of decision signed by FHWA in December 
2011. 
Project development work discontinued in 2013 
in Washington and 2014 in Oregon. 
Joint Washington and Oregon Legislative Action 
Committee discussions begin in 2017. 
Partner agencies confirmed support for Modified 
LPA  
Draft Supplemental Impact Statement in 
development, plan to publish Summer 2023 

Sunrise Project and Sunrise Community 
Visioning Project 

LPA approved in July 2009. 
Record of decision for Phase 1, Units 1, 2 and 3 
signed by FHWA in February 2011. 
Sunrise Jobs and Transportation Act (JTA) Phase 
1 related projects were completed in June 2016. 
Environmental approval received for 
improvements on OR 224 at Rusk Road.  
In May 2023, Clackamas County initiated the 
Sunrise Community Visioning Project to engage 
community in the development of improved 
safety and increased mobility in the corridor. 
This process will include an updated LPA for 
OR212 and OR224 from 205 to 172nd Ave (Phase 
2 and Phase 3 of the original project).  The 
visioning project will include PEL framework and 
will lead into the necessary NEPA updates to 
advance the LPA.  The project will also include 
10% design of the LPA. 

Southwest Corridor Project LPA approved in Nov. 2018. 
ROD received April 2022. 

I-5 Rose Quarter Improvement Project Supplemental Environmental Assessment 
published for public comment in 2022. 
Design phase in progress. 

I-205 Abernethy Bridge and Phase 1A 
Construction 

 Construction is underway.  
Column work is underway and will lead to the 
construction of the crossbeams in late 2023.   
Major drilled shaft work is anticipated to be 
complete by Fall 2023. 
Mainline widening construction is anticipated to 



 

8-58 Chapter 8 Moving Forward Together  
 Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan | July 10, 2023 

be complete by Fall 2025. 

I-205 Toll Project Environmental Assessment was published on 
Feb. 21, 2023. 
Environmental Assessment Public Comment 
Period ended April 21, 2023. 
Revised Environmental Assessment is 
anticipated as the next step. 

I-5 & I-205 Regional Mobility Pricing 
Project 

Planning and Environmental (PEL) phase was 
completed in Fall 2022. 
Environmental analysis process, under the 
National Environmental Policy Act (NEPA), was 
initiated in Nov. 2022. 
A scoping comment period was held from Nov. 
18 to Jan. 6, 2023. 
Environmental Assessment publication is 
anticipated by the end of 2023, followed by a 
public comment period and then a Revised 
Environmental Assessment is expected in 2024. 

I-5 Boone Bridge Replacement The project is currently in the Planning and 
Environmental Linkages (PEL) phase. 
The National Environmental Policy Act (NEPA) 
class of action determination and preliminary 
planning activities are scheduled to be 
completed in late 2024 or early 2025. 

Earthquake Ready Burnside Bridge Preferred Alternative approved in March 2023.  
FHWA Record of Decision anticipated to be 
published in December 2023 
Design Phase anticipated to start, July 1, 2023. 

82nd Avenue Transit Project  Working towards an LPA in late 2023/early 2024.  
The NEPA process would begin in 2024 after 
early corridor design and FTA determination of 
class of action. 

Tualatin Valley Highway Transit and 
Development Project 

LPA anticipated late 2023 

 

 

 

 

  



 

Chapter 8 Moving Forward Together 8-59 
Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan | July 10, 2023 

8.3.1.1 Interstate 5 Replacement (IBR) Program (previously Columbia River Crossing Project) 

Figure 8.5 Interstate Bridge Replacement Program 

 

The Interstate Bridge is a critical connection between Oregon and Washington, located on 

Interstate 5 where it crosses the Columbia River. Replacing the aging Interstate Bridge 

across the Columbia River with a modern, earthquake resilient, multimodal structure that 

provides improved mobility for people, goods, and services is a high priority for Oregon 

and Washington. 

In July 2008, the Metro Council approved a Locally Preferred Alternative (LPA) for the 

Columbia River Crossing (CRC) project. In December 2011, the Federal Highway 

Administration (FHWA) and the Federal Transit Administration (FTA) approved the CRC 

LPA and issued a Record of Decision for the CRC project. The CRC project development 

work was discontinued in 2013 in Washington and in 2014 in Oregon. All six 

transportation problems identified during CRC remain unaddressed (congestion, 

earthquake vulnerability, safety, impaired freight movement, inadequate bike and 

pedestrian paths, and limited public transportation). 

The Interstate Bridge Replacement (IBR) program (as depicted in Figure 8.5) is a 

renewed effort jointly led by the Oregon Department of Transportation and the 

Washington State Department of Transportation in collaboration with eight regional 

partner agencies: Oregon Metro, Southwest Washington Regional Transportation Council, 

TriMet, C-TRAN, City of Portland, City of Vancouver, Port of Portland, and Port of 



 

8-60 Chapter 8 Moving Forward Together  
 Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan | July 10, 2023 

Vancouver. These partners serve on an Executive Steering Group that provides regional 

leadership recommendations to the program. The IBR program continues to work with 

the program partner agencies, stakeholders, and public to identify the best possible 

multimodal solution. 

In December 2021, FHWA and FTA provided their joint determination that a 

Supplemental Environmental Impact Statement (SEIS) is necessary to identify and 

disclose potential adverse impacts and mitigation that could result from changes that 

have happened since the 2011 CRC Record of Decision. The IBR program is leveraging 

work from previous planning efforts (CRC) where appropriate and updating prior studies 

to integrate new data, regional changes in transportation, land use, and demographic 

conditions, and public input to inform program development work.   

Through planning work and community outreach, the IBR program confirmed the six 

transportation problems identified in CRC still exist, and also added equity and climate as 

priorities.  To address the physical and contextual changes that have occurred in the 

program area since 2013, the IBR program developed design options, desired outcomes, 

and transit investments in coordination with program partners and input from the 

community.  

The design options were analyzed and narrowed down to a recommended Modified 

Locally Preferred Alternative (LPA). The Modified LPA was approved by the boards, 

councils, and commissions of each of the eight local partner agencies in the summer of 

2022. In July 2022, the Executive Steering Group reached a unanimous recommendation 

to move the program’s recommended Modified LPA into the federal environmental 

review process for further study.  

 The Modified LPA refers to an agreed upon set of components that will be further 

evaluated through the federal environmental review process as required by NEPA to 

better understand the benefits and impacts. The Modified LPA is not the final design of 

the replacement bridge, but it is a key milestone, setting the direction for the program as 

we start to test and evaluate plans for a new multimodal river crossing system. In some 

instances, multiple design concepts are being studied (e.g., park and ride locations, bridge 

configuration and roadway alignment) to better understand the range of impacts and 

better optimize the design. 

 Elements of the Modified LPA currently being studied includes: 

• Replacing the Interstate Bridge over the Columbia River 

• Replacing the North Portland Harbor Bridge over the Columbia Slough connecting 

Hayden Island to North Portland 



 

Chapter 8 Moving Forward Together 8-61 
Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan | July 10, 2023 

• Constructing three through-lanes northbound and southbound throughout the 

program corridor with safety shoulders and the addition of one auxiliary lane in each 

direction 

• Connecting existing transit systems by extending light rail transit from Expo Center in 

Portland to Evergreen Boulevard in Vancouver in a dedicated guideway adjacent to I-5 

, including new bus on shoulder facilities in the project area, and connecting to C-

TRAN’s current and future Bus Rapid Transit lines as described in adopted regional 

plans 

• Improving seven interchange areas within the program area corridor: 

o Victory Blvd 

o Marine Drive 

o Hayden Island 

o SR 14 

o Mill Plain Blvd. 

o 4th Plain Blvd. 

o SR 500   

• Active transportation and multimodal facilities that adhere to universal design 

principles and facilitate safety and comfort for all ages and abilities including local and 

cross-river connections 

• Variable rate toll on motorists using the river crossing to manage demand and 

generate revenue for construction and facility operations and maintenance  

• A commitment to establish a GHG reduction target relative to regional transportation 

impact, and to develop and evaluate design solutions that contribute to achieving 

program and state-wide climate goals. 

• A commitment to evaluate program design options according to their impact on equity 

priority areas with screening criteria such as air quality, land use, travel reliability, 

safety, and improved access to all transportation modes and active transportation 

facilities. The Program also commits to measurable and actionable equity outcomes 

and to the development of a robust set of programs and improvements that will be 

defined in Community Benefits Agreement. 

The federal environmental review process, and corresponding environmental studies, will 

determine how the IBR program will move forward and what necessary work is needed 

to avoid, minimize, or mitigate negative effects to the physical and built environment. The 

IBR program will disclose the findings of the environmental evaluation in a Draft SEIS, 



 

8-62 Chapter 8 Moving Forward Together  
 Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan | July 10, 2023 

which is anticipated to be published in late 2023 for public review and comment. After the 

public comment period closes, the Modified LPA will be refined in response to public 

input and other design considerations. Refinements will result in a combined Final SEIS 

and Amended Record of Decision issued by FHWA and FTA, anticipated in late 2024. At 

this stage, the IBR program will be able to apply for permits, update cost estimates, and 

further design. Construction is anticipated to begin as early as late 2025. 

In December 2022, the IBR program released a cost estimate that reflects the Modified 

LPA components and includes updated market assumptions and program specific risk 

potential and cost savings opportunities. The current cost estimate ranges from $5 - $7.5 

billion, with a most likely cost of $6 billion. The IBR program assumes a combination of a 

variety of funding sources, including state, federal and toll revenue. 

Anticipated IBR Program Funding Sources:  

 

8.3.1.2  Sunrise Project and Sunrise Community Visioning Project 

The Sunrise Corridor is an essential freight route from I-5 and I-205 to U.S. 26 and central 

and eastern Oregon.  It provides access to the Clackamas Industrial Area, home to one of 

the state’s busiest and most critical freight distribution centers and the City of Happy 

Valley Rock Creek Employment Center with over 200 acres of employment and industrial 

land. The OR 212/224 corridor is currently failing and is not capable of handling the 

expected increase in traffic resulting from significant community development and 

industrial expansion in the corridor. 

In July 2009, the project’s Policy Review Committee (PRC) selected the Preferred 

Alternative for the Sunrise Project. The Preferred Alternative is Alternative 2 as studied in 

the Supplemental Draft Environmental Impact Statement with Design Options C-2 and D-



 

Chapter 8 Moving Forward Together 8-63 
Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan | July 10, 2023 

3 and a portion of Design Option A-2 (Tolbert Overcrossing). A detailed description and 

map of the Sunrise Project original Preferred Alternative is included in Appendix Q. 

FHWA, ODOT and Clackamas County completed the Final Environmental Impact 

Statement (FEIS) for the Sunrise Project and on February 22, 2011, the FHWA signed a 

Record of Decision (ROD) that approves the Sunrise Corridor Preferred Alternative.  

The Sunrise Jobs and Transportation Act (JTA) Project constructed a new 2.5 mile road 

from I-205 to 122nd Avenue (as part of the larger Sunrise Project). The Oregon 

Legislature approved $100 million in JTA funding for this project, which was built to 

address congestion and safety problems in the OR 212/224 corridor and improve local 

roadway connections to the Lawnfield Industrial District. Construction for the JTA phase 

of the Sunrise Project was completed in June 2016 and opened for use on July 1, 2016. 

During development of Metro’s 2020 Funding measure the Sunrise Project underwent 

extensive redesign based on public input and feedback from the taskforce.  The effort 

culminated in a “right sized” cross section including 2 lanes in either direction and a suite 

of pedestrian and bicycle improvements on existing Highway 212.    

In 2021 the Oregon State Legislature allocated $4 Million dollars for the Sunrise Gateway 

Community Corridor Visioning Project to create a vision for the corridor through 

meaningful partnerships with the people who live, work and own businesses in the area. 

This project will analyze transportation and land use scenarios that also consider 

economic opportunities, community health, equity, other infrastructure, open space, and 

housing for the Sunrise Gateway Corridor along Highway 212 from 122nd Avenue to 

172nd Avenue. The Project will employ meaningful community engagement to create a 

vision that will identify challenges and opportunities to increase the safety and viability of 

the corridor for years to come.  

One of the products of this visioning project will be an updated LPA for the Sunrise 

Corridor based upon the updated cross section developed during Metro’s 2020 funding 

measure.    The project will be guided by the PEL framework and will lead into the update 

to the NEPA approval from the 2011 FEIS.   

Future phases of the Sunrise Project include the design and construction of improvements 

between SE 122nd Avenue and SE 172nd Avenue. 

8.3.1.3  Southwest Corridor Transit Project 

The Southwest Corridor Plan is a comprehensive effort focused on supporting 

community-based development and placemaking that targets, coordinates and leverages 

public investments to make efficient use of public and private resources. The work was 

guided by a Steering Committee comprised of representatives from the cities of 



 

8-64 Chapter 8 Moving Forward Together  
 Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan | July 10, 2023 

Beaverton, Durham, King City, Portland, Sherwood, Tigard and Tualatin; Washington 

County; and TriMet, ODOT and Metro. Steering Committee members agreed to use a 

collaborative approach to develop the Southwest Corridor Plan and a Shared 

Implementation Strategy to align local, regional, and state policies and investments in the 

corridor. In August 2011, the Metro Council adopted Resolution No. 11-4278 that 

appointed the Southwest Corridor Steering Committee, and a charter defining how the 

partners will work together was adopted by the Steering Committee in December 2011. 

In October 2013, the Metro Council adopted Resolution No. 13-4468A, endorsing the 

Southwest Corridor Shared Investment Strategy and directing staff to coordinate and 

collaborate with project partners on refinement and analysis of high capacity transit 

(HCT) alternatives and local connections in the Southwest Corridor, along with associated 

roadway, active transportation and parks/natural resource projects that support the land 

use vision for the corridor. This resolution also directed staff to work with project 

partners to involve stakeholders at key points in the process and seek input from the 

public.  

In June 2014, the Metro Council adopted Resolution No. 14-4540, which included 

direction to staff to study the Southwest Corridor Transit Design Options under NEPA in 

collaboration with the Southwest Corridor Plan project partners and with the 

involvement of stakeholders and public, pending Steering Committee direction on the 

results of the focused refinement analysis 

The Southwest Corridor Light Rail Project emerged as the preferred high capacity transit 

investment of the Southwest Corridor Shared Investment Strategy. The project is a 

proposed 11-mile MAX light rail extension serving SW Portland, Tigard, Tualatin and the 

surrounding communities. The proposed project also includes bicycle, pedestrian and 

roadway projects to improve access to light rail stations. In compliance with NEPA, and at 

the direction of the Metro Council, an Environmental Impact Statement (EIS) was 

prepared by Metro, TriMet and FTA. The Draft EIS, released in summer 2018, assessed the 

project alternatives remaining from over three years of analysis refinement and 

suggested ways to avoid, minimize or mitigate significant adverse impacts. The 

information disclosed in the Draft EIS, and public and agency comments on the Draft EIS, 

informed the Southwest Corridor Steering Committee in its recommendation of a LPA. In 

November 2018, the Metro Council adopted Resolution No. 18-4915 approving the 

Southwest Corridor LPA. The LPA is included in the RTP. 

The Final EIS was completed in January 2022 and the project received a Record of 

Decision in April 2022. 

TriMet entered into FTA New Starts Project Development with in late 2018. Major Project 

Development activities took place in 2019 and 2020. Unfortunately, the project 



 

Chapter 8 Moving Forward Together 8-65 
Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan | July 10, 2023 

development activities, except NEPA, were put on pause in late 2020 when the regional 

transportation funding measure did not pass. The project officially withdrew from New 

Starts project Development in July 2022.  

Project leaders will reconvene in 2023 to discuss updated cost and ridership projections 

and begin conversations about possible paths forward for the project, which remains a 

regional priority. 

8.3.1.4  I-5 Rose Quarter Improvement Project 

Figure 8.6 I-5 Rose Quarter Improvement Project Location 

 

The purpose of the I-5 Rose Quarter Improvement Project is to improve the safety and 

operations on I-5 between I-405 and I-84, at the Broadway/Weidler interchange, and on 

adjacent surface streets in the vicinity of the Broadway/Weidler interchange, and to 

enhance multimodal facilities in the Project Area. In achieving the purpose, the Project 

also would support improved local connectivity and multimodal access in the vicinity of 

the Broadway/Weidler interchange and improve multimodal connections between 

neighborhoods east and west of I-5. Additional project benefits include improving safety 

and mobility on local streets, creating new space and new infrastructure to support 

community development with the construction of a highway cover over a portion of I-5 

and developing a diverse and skilled workforce.  

This 1.8-mile stretch of highway is the only two-lane section of I-5 in a major urban area 

between Canada and Mexico. It has the highest crash rate on any urban interstate in 

Oregon and is the state's top traffic bottleneck. The project addresses the critical need to 

keep Oregon's people and economy moving. Key elements of the project design include: 



 

8-66 Chapter 8 Moving Forward Together  
 Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan | July 10, 2023 

• New ramp-to-ramp connections (auxiliary lanes) in each direction of I-5 between I-84 

and I-405 to reduce vehicle weaving, create safer merging and improve connections 

between interchanges. 

• Wider shoulders in each direction of I-5 between I-84 and I-405, providing space for 

stalled vehicles to move out of traffic and for emergency vehicles to respond to 

emergencies more quickly (this includes adding 12-foot-wide outside shoulders SB 

from Broadway off-ramp to the I-84 off-ramp and NB from I-84 on-ramp to I-405 off-

ramp and adding 8 foot-wide inside shoulders in both directions, except under the 

highway cover where shoulders would be 5 feet wide). 

• A highway cover over I-5 that reconnects local streets and creates new community 

spaces on top for future development and economic opportunities. 

• A new east-west roadway crossing over I-5 that reconnects Hancock Street across the 

highway, adding another crossing north of Broadway/Weidler. 

• Enhanced bicycle and pedestrian facilities on Broadway and Weidler to facilitate the 

City of Portland’s Green Loop, a planned 6-mile bike and pedestrian path that allows 

people to travel safely through the heart of the city. 

• Multimodal local street improvements including wider paths, curb ramps that are 

accessible in accordance with the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) and better 

lighting for people walking, biking and rolling. 

• Relocation of the I-5 southbound off-ramp to maximize space for new developable 

land on the highway cover. 

Figure 8.6 shows the project location and Figure 8.7 the project features. 

More information is available at www.i5rosequarter.org. 

 

 

 
  



 

Chapter 8 Moving Forward Together 8-67 
Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan | July 10, 2023 

Figure 8.7 I-5 Rose Quarter Improvement Project Features 

 

Source: ODOT 

In accordance with the National Environmental Policy Act, ODOT prepared and published 

an Environmental Assessment (EA) in 2019, and a Supplemental EA in 2022. Both times, 

the process included an opportunity for the public to review the findings and comment on 

the analysis. The Federal Highway Administration (FHWA) reviews all findings and public 

comments before making an environmental decision on a project. In response to public 

comment received on the 2022 Supplemental EA, project design refinements and updated 

technical analysis are underway and will be reflected in a Revised Supplemental EA that 

will accompany the environmental decision by the FHWA, expected by early 2024. Final 

design and construction will begin following completion of the environmental decision 

document. 

The project team will continue refining the design based on community input, including 

based on the public comments received during the 2022 Supplemental Environmental 

Assessment phase, and working with the City of Portland on a Community Framework 

Agreement to define the future development scenarios for the new highway cover land. 

8.3.1.5  I-205 Abernethy Bridge and Phase 1A Construction 

Phase 1A of the I-205 Improvements project will upgrade the Abernethy Bridge to 

withstand a major earthquake and will be the first earthquake-ready interstate structure 

across the Willamette River in the Portland metropolitan area.   



 

8-68 Chapter 8 Moving Forward Together  
 Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan | July 10, 2023 

In addition to the seismic upgrades, the project will add auxiliary lanes across the 

Abernethy Bridge in each direction. This phase of the project will also include interchange 

improvements to the interchanges directly north and south of the Abernethy Bridge at OR 

43 and OR 99E, respectively.  The interchange improvements will make travel safer, 

resulting in fewer crashes and better travel-time predictability. These improvements 

include removal of the current I-205 northbound on-ramp from OR 43. This will be 

replaced with a roundabout to access I-205 northbound. This will reduce crashes and 

conflicts with movements to and from OR 43. The project will also realign and widen the 

OR 99E on and off ramps providing added capacity. 

The project also includes construction of a sound wall near the southbound lanes of I-205 

at Exit 9 and new pedestrian and bicycle facilities around OR 43 and OR 99E to increase 

comfort for people walking and biking in these areas. Construction began in June 2022 

and is expected to end in fall 2025. Financing for this project was possible with financing 

tools authorized in HB3055 during the 2022 legislative session. 

Figure 8.8 I-205 South Widening and Seismic Improvements Project Area Map 

 

8.3.1.6 I-205 Toll Project (Includes Widening and Seismic Improvements) 

The proposed I-205 Toll Project would implement variable-rate tolls on the Interstate-

205 (I-205) Abernethy Bridge and Tualatin River Bridges to raise revenue for 

construction of planned improvements to I-205 and to manage congestion. Planned I-205 

improvements that are part of the I-205 Toll Project include widening a seven-mile 

portion of I-205 to construct a third travel lane in each direction between the Stafford 

Road interchange and the OR 43 interchange; constructing a northbound auxiliary lane 

between OR 99E and OR 213; replacing or reconstructing eight bridges between Stafford 

Road and OR 213 to withstand a major seismic event, and installing Traveler Information 



 

Chapter 8 Moving Forward Together 8-69 
Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan | July 10, 2023 

Signs (Active Traffic Management improvements). The I-205 Toll Project location is 

shown on Figure 8-9. 

Figure 8.9 I-205 Toll Project Area Map 

 

As directed by Oregon House Bill 2017 and the Oregon Transportation Commission, 

Oregon Department of Transportation (ODOT) prepared the Portland Metro Area Value 

Pricing Feasibility Analysis, which determined that congestion pricing could be used to 

help improve travel on I-5 and I-205 during peak times and raise revenue for congestion-

relief projects. In December 2018, the Oregon Transportation Commission submitted a 

proposal to the Federal Highway Administration (FHWA) seeking approval to continue 

the process of implementing tolls on I-5 and I-205. The I-205 Toll Project is being 

evaluated under the National Environmental Policy Act (NEPA) process and is allowed 

under the federal tolling authorization program codified in 23 U.S. Code Section 129.  

The planned I-205 improvements now included in the I-205 Toll Project were formally 

part of a different project, identified as the “I-205 South Corridor Widening and Seismic 

Improvements Project” in the 2018 Metro RTP (also referred to in environmental 

documentation and public information materials as the I-205: Stafford Road to OR 213 

Improvements Project or, simply, the I-205 Improvements Project). In 2021, Oregon 

House Bill 3055 provided financing options that allowed the first phase of the I-205 

Improvements Project to be constructed. This first phase, referred to as the I-205: Phase 

1A Project (Phase 1A), includes reconstruction of the Abernethy Bridge with added 

auxiliary lanes and improvements to the adjacent interchanges at OR 43 and OR 99E. 

However, ODOT determined that toll revenue would be needed to complete the remaining 



 

8-70 Chapter 8 Moving Forward Together  
 Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan | July 10, 2023 

construction phases of the I-205 Improvements Project after Phase 1A. As such, the 

planned improvements (besides Phase 1A) were removed from the I-205 Improvements 

Project and accompanying 2018 NEPA Documented Categorical Exclusion and are now 

included in the I-205 Toll Project.  

ODOT, in partnership with FHWA, has prepared an Environmental Assessment (EA) to 

evaluate the effects of the I-205 Toll Project on the human and natural environment in 

accordance with NEPA. The I-205 Toll Project responds to six key problems identified in 

the need statement: critical projects need construction funding; traffic congestion results 

in unreliable travel; traffic congestion affects freight movement; traffic congestion affects 

safety; traffic congestion contributes to climate change; and Oregon’s highway system is 

not seismically resilient.  

The EA was released for public and agency comment from February 21 to April 21, 2023. 

Following the comment period, ODOT may prepare a Revised EA that could include 

FHWA’s and ODOT’s responses to comments, additional environmental analysis as 

needed, and refinement and finalization of environmental commitments to avoid, 

minimize, and mitigate impacts. FHWA will issue a NEPA decision that could be a Finding 

of No significant Impact (FONSI). If a FONSI is issued, construction of the I-205 Project is 

expected to last approximately four years. 

As Oregon’s toll authority, the Oregon Transportation Commission will set toll rates, 

policies (including discounts and exemptions), and price escalation. As part of the Oregon 

Toll Program development, ODOT has committed to providing a low-income toll program 

when tolling begins. If tolling is approved, the Oregon Transportation Commission will 

ultimately set toll rates at levels sufficient to meet all financial commitments, fund Project 

construction and maintenance, and manage congestion. The Oregon Transportation 

Commission is expected to finalize toll rates about 6 months prior to toll implementation. 

ODOT could begin tolling in January 2026. 

8.3.1.7   I-5 & I-205 Regional Mobility Pricing Project 

The Regional Mobility Pricing Project (RMPP) will apply congestion pricing on all lanes of 

Interstate-5 (I-5) and Interstate-205 (I-205) to manage travel demand and traffic 

congestion on these facilities in the Portland, Oregon metropolitan area in a manner that 

will generate revenue for transportation system investments. The pricing varies by time 

of day according to a set schedule, which can be updated periodically by the Oregon 

Transportation Commission. Higher fees will be charged during peak travel periods (such 

as morning and evening peak hours) and lower fees during off-peak hours. Congestion 

pricing is intended to encourage motorists to plan travel in advance and allows traffic to 

flow more freely during peak times. The project is being developed with an all-electronic 

fee collection system.   



 

Chapter 8 Moving Forward Together 8-71 
Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan | July 10, 2023 

The Regional Mobility Pricing Project would apply congestion pricing within the following 

extents, as determined by legislation, with the exact locations to be determined during the 

federal NEPA process:  

• I-5 from the Hayden Island Drive interchange to, and including, the Boone Bridge over 

the Willamette River in Wilsonville.  

• I-205 from the Glenn Jackson Bridge to OR 213 in Oregon City and I-205 between 

Stafford Road and I-5. 

Figure 8.10  Regional Mobility Pricing Project Extents 

 

These extents are shown in Figure 8.10. The exact locations where congestion pricing will 

be applied within the project limits will be determined during the federal National 

Environmental Policy Act (NEPA) process.  

Following Oregon House Bill 2017, the Oregon Transportation Commission, and the 

Oregon Department of Transportation (ODOT) prepared the Portland Metro Area Value 

Pricing Feasibility Analysis, which determined that congestion pricing could be used to 

help improve travel times on I-5 and I-205 during peak times and raise revenue for 

congestion-relief projects. In December 2018, the Oregon Transportation Commission 

submitted a proposal to the Federal Highway Administration (FHWA) seeking approval to 

continue the process of implementing tolls on I-5 and I-205.  



 

8-72 Chapter 8 Moving Forward Together  
 Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan | July 10, 2023 

The Regional Mobility Pricing Project Planning and Environmental Linkages phase 

concluded in September 2022 and ODOT, with FHWA, initiated the environmental review 

phase under NEPA in November 2022. ODOT, in partnership with FHWA, is currently 

preparing an Environmental Assessment (EA) to evaluate the effects of the project on the 

human and natural environment in accordance with NEPA. The Regional Mobility Pricing 

Project responds to six key problems identified in the draft need statement: daily traffic 

congestion is negatively affecting the quality of life in the growing Portland region; traffic 

congestion adversely affects the Portland metropolitan area economy; state and federal 

transportation revenue sources are increasingly insufficient to fund transportation 

system needs; our regional transportation system must reduce greenhouse gas emissions 

by managing travel demand and congestion; a lack of comprehensive multimodal travel 

options in the Portland metropolitan region contributes to congestion and limits mobility; 

and the Portland metropolitan area’s transportation networks have resulted in 

inequitable outcomes for historically and currently excluded and underserved 

communities.  

Once the EA is complete, the document will be released for public and agency comment. 

Following the comment period, ODOT may prepare a Revised EA that could include 

FHWA’s and ODOT’s responses to comments, additional environmental analysis as 

needed, and refinement and finalization of environmental commitments to avoid, 

minimize, and mitigate impacts.  FHWA will issue a NEPA decision that could be a Finding 

of No significant Impact (FONSI). If a FONSI is issued, ODOT will need to complete a 

Cooperative Agreement with U.S. Department of Transportation/FHWA for congestion 

pricing implementation under the Value Pricing Pilot Program5 or recently created 

Congestion Relief Program.  

As Oregon’s toll authority, the Oregon Transportation Commission will set toll rates, 

policies (including discounts and exemptions), and price escalation. As part of the Oregon 

Toll Program development, ODOT has committed to providing a low-income toll program 

when tolling begins. More details about the low-income program are expected in 2023, 

following recommendations from ODOT’s Statewide Toll Rulemaking Advisory 

Committee. The Oregon Transportation Commission is expected to finalize toll rates 

about six months prior to toll implementation.  

 

5 The U.S. Department of Transportation Federal Highway Administration Value Pricing Pilot Program is intended 
to demonstrate whether and to what extent roadway congestion may be reduced through application of 
congestion pricing strategies, and the magnitude of the impact of such strategies on driver behavior, traffic 
volumes, transit ridership, air quality and availability of funds for transportation programs. The Program provides 
tolling authority to State, regional or local governments to implement congestion pricing applications and report 
on their effects. 

https://ops.fhwa.dot.gov/congestionpricing/value_pricing/


 

Chapter 8 Moving Forward Together 8-73 
Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan | July 10, 2023 

8.3.1.8   I-5 Boone Bridge Replacement 

The Boone Bridge on I-5 represents a crucial link on one of Oregon’s critical seismic  

lifeline routes that connects the Portland metro area to the Mid-Willamette Valley and 

areas to the north and south. The Boone Bridge, which is over 60 years old and has been 

widened and modified over time, will require significant upgrades to withstand a major 

Cascadia Subduction Zone quake and enable I-5 to continue to serve as a primary West 

Coast route for passenger and freight movement stretching from Canada to Mexico. 

Lifeline routes will play a critical role in getting supplies and services to the region in the 

event of a significant seismic event or other catastrophe.   

It is the only crossing of the Willamette River within 15 miles of the Wilsonville town 

center. This section of I-5 also experiences significant bottlenecks leading to safety 

concerns and poor travel time reliability. Inefficient merging and weaving caused by short 

merging areas results in congestion and crashes that reduce travel speeds and travel-time 

reliability. Without improvement, this bottleneck will continue to deteriorate, leading to 

slower travel, more costly freight movement, and higher safety risks for those who use I-5 

and the surrounding transportation network. The project area also includes two of the top 

10% Safety Priority Index System (SPIS) locations (e.g.. 2019 location on I-5 south of the 

bridge and a 2019 location near the Wilsonville Road interchange. The 2018 I-5 

Wilsonville Facility Plan and Regional Transportation Plan identified solutions to address 

these issues.  

The 2023 RTP includes plans to replace Boone Bridge with a seismically resilient 

structure, preserve the current NB auxiliary lane and add an auxiliary lane on SB I-5 from 

Wilsonville Road to the Wilsonville-Hubbard Highway (OR 551). The auxiliary lanes 

address crashes due to short merging distances, closely spaced interchanges and 

frequently congested conditions both on and just south of the Boone Bridge. The project 

will also provide a standard 26 foot wide median and widen the outside shoulders to the 

current 12-foot standard width.  The wider shoulders will provide opportunities for 

programs such as Bus on Shoulder. The Boone Bridge is at the edge of designated Urban 

Growth Boundary and small portion of the project falls outside the boundary at the south 

end of the project.  

The first phase of the project is Planning and Environmental Linkages (PEL) which will 

include conceptual design, public involvement, transportation planning and analysis (i.e., 

travel patterns, demand), preliminary traffic engineering analysis, and land use analysis 

and other related consulting and technical advising services. It will conduct planning-level 

analysis and coordination that prepare materials to support the federally required 

National Environmental Policy Act (NEPA) process, anticipated to begin in 2025. Further 

analysis will be completed to refine project costs, advance project design, determine 



 

8-74 Chapter 8 Moving Forward Together  
 Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan | July 10, 2023 

bicycle, pedestrian, and public transportation access, conduct stakeholder engagement, 

develop and integrate an equity framework, evaluate land use impacts, coordinate with 

Regional Mobility Pricing Project analysis, determine the NEPA class of action, and 

prepare the purpose and need statement. 

8.3.1.9   Earthquake Ready Burnside Bridge Project 

Figure 8.11 Earthquake Ready Burnside Bridge Proposed Typical Cross Section 

 

The Earthquake Ready Burnside Bridge Project will replace the existing 97-year old 

movable bridge in downtown Portland, Oregon with a new, seismically resilient bridge, 

providing Burnside Street, a regionally designated lifeline route, with a crossing of the 

Willamette River that would remain fully operational and accessible for vehicles and 

other modes of transportation immediately following a major earthquake. A seismically 

resilient Burnside Bridge will support the region’s ability to provide rapid and reliable 

emergency response, rescue, and evacuation after a major earthquake, as well as enable 

post-earthquake economic recovery. The project is anticipated to infuse $545 million into 

the state and local economy and create a combination of short and long-term family-wage 

jobs, equivalent to approximately 6,200 job-years within Oregon.  

Multnomah County initiated the federal environmental review process in 2019. The 

County, in partnership with the Federal Highway Administration (FHWA), issued a Draft 

Environmental Impact Statement (DEIS) in February 2021 that evaluated four build 

alternatives and identified one of those alternatives, the Long-span Replacement 

Alternative, as the project’s recommended Preferred Alternative.  

Following the issuance of the DEIS, additional cost and funding analysis identified a 

substantial risk that the construction costs would be too high to reasonably be able to 

fund, which led the County to evaluate ways to reduce construction costs while still 

meeting the Project’s purpose and need. Cost reductions were proposed as refinements to 

the Preferred Alternative in a Supplemental Draft Environmental Impact Statement. They 



 

Chapter 8 Moving Forward Together 8-75 
Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan | July 10, 2023 

included the reduction of vehicle lanes from five to four, selection of a girder style 

structure for west approach, selection of a bascule style movable span over the navigation 

channel, and a range of either a cable stay or tied arch option for east approach long span.  

The County Board of Commissioners adopted the refined Preferred Alternative in March 

2022 and the SDEIS was published in April 2022. In January and February of 2023, TPAC 

and JPACT, respectively, recommended the approval of the Preferred Alternative. In 

March 2023, Metro Council approved the Preferred Alternative. A combined Final 

Environmental Impact Statement and federal Record of Decision is anticipated in 

December 2023. 

The Earthquake Ready Burnside Bridge, downtown Portland’s first seismically resilient 

bridge, will include bike and pedestrian lanes separated from vehicular traffic by a crash-

worthy barrier, an eastbound transit lane with the option to implement a westbound 

transit lane in the future, and the ability to accommodate a streetcar line identified in 

existing City of Portland planning documents. 

The Project is estimated to cost $895M including design, right-of-way, and construction. 

Currently, $300M in local funds has been identified through the County’s Vehicle 

Registration Fee. The Project is currently funded through the Design Phase. Once 

additional funding is secured, construction could start as early as 2025 and be completed 

by 2030. 

Additional project information is available at: www.burnsidebridge.org 

8.3.1.10   Tualatin Valley Highway Transit and Development Project 

The Tualatin Valley (TV) Highway Transit and Development project is studying the 

feasibility of converting the existing TriMet Line 57 bus to a bus rapid transit (BRT) line 

through major federal investment. Metro is also supporting the creation of a community-

led equitable development strategy (EDS) alongside the transit study to support 

community stability in the face of a major transportation investment in the corridor. The 

goal of the transit study is to identify a locally preferred alternative (LPA) that would 

enable partners to apply for federal funding of transit improvements. A BRT project 

would improve transit speed and reliability, making the bus more competitive with 

driving along this regional corridor. BRT investment would also improve corridor safety 

with station access infrastructure for pedestrians and provide a more dignified and 

attractive transit rider experience through improvements to stations such as shelters and 

lighting. The BRT project may be nested within or completed in tandem with a roadway 

project that more directly addresses the significant safety needs along this high-crash 

corridor, especially those of people walking, biking, and accessing transit. 

http://www.burnsidebridge.org/


 

8-76 Chapter 8 Moving Forward Together  
 Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan | July 10, 2023 

The project Steering Committee, consisting of representatives from the cities of Forest 

Grove, Cornelius, Hillsboro, and Beaverton; Washington County; ODOT, TriMet and Metro; 

and four community representatives, is moving toward agreement on an LPA anticipated 

in late 2023. The LPA will cover the entire length of the corridor (Beaverton Transit 

Center to 19th and B Street in Forest Grove) and may include a minimum operable 

segment that defines an initial federal capital investment in a portion of the corridor. 

The EDS was completed in June 2023 and approved by the TV Highway Equity Coalition 

(TEC), the body who guided its development. Strategies from this document are being 

advanced by government and nonprofit partners throughout the corridor and are 

independent of the implementation stage of the transit study. 

8.3.1.11   82nd Avenue Transit Project 

Metro, TriMet, the City of Portland, Clackamas County, ODOT, Multnomah County, and the 

Port of Portland as well as community members are collaborating to develop a rapid bus 

transit project in the 82nd Avenue corridor between Clackamas Town Center and a 

northern terminus yet-to-be-determined. In addition, Metro is working to support a 

community-led equitable development strategy (EDS) that will address community 

priorities outside of, but often-related to the transit project investment. 

The 82nd Avenue corridor is a major route for the region connecting key destinations and 

communities in Clackamas County and Portland, Oregon and supporting the movement of 

people and goods in a diverse and growing area.  The corridor serves many people who 

are part of BIPOC, limited English proficiency, and low-income communities, zero car 

households, or living with a disability.  82nd Avenue was once the primary north-south 

highway for the area before Interstate 205 was opened in 1983. Since then, the primary 

function of 82nd Avenue as a regional throughway has diminished, but its importance as a 

transit and pedestrian corridor has grown. The roadway continues to carry substantial 

amount of freight, auto, and bus traffic. 

TriMet’s Line 72 Killingsworth/82 serves the 82nd Avenue corridor and is the highest 

ridership bus line in TriMet’s system , and exceeds ridership on the Orange and Yellow 

Max light rail lines. However, unlike light rail transit, the bus runs in mixed traffic and is 

often delayed.  Line 72 is a frequent service route connecting riders to major destinations, 

high-capacity transit lines (the new Division FX2 and the MAX Green, Blue, and Red 

Lines), and over 20 bus routes just in the corridor.  It is a workhorse with high ridership 

all day and weekends and saw relatively high retention of riders during the pandemic.  

The need for a major transit improvement has been identified in multiple plans including 

the 2010 High Capacity Transit (HCT) System Plan, the 2018 Regional Transportation 

Plan (RTP), and the 2018 Regional Transit Strategy. In 2019, Metro’s Transportation 



 

Chapter 8 Moving Forward Together 8-77 
Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan | July 10, 2023 

Funding Task Force selected 82nd Avenue as a Tier 1 priority to include a bus rapid 

transit project investment.  The steering committee has called for the project to address 

transit speed and reliability, safety, needs of transit-dependent communities in the 

corridor, and to reduce pollution and greenhouse gas emissions, while designing for a 

constrained physical environment. 

The 82nd Avenue Transit Project would improve transit in the corridor by adding: new 

buses with greater capacity, improved pedestrian facilities and access, better lighting, 

transit signal priority and physical bus priority in the roadway to move the bus through 

congestion, and better stations with shelters, seating, lighting, and real time bus arrival 

information. The work will be integrated with the streetscape improvements both 

planned and underway. 

The need is urgent with an unprecedented opportunity for an 82nd Avenue bus rapid 

transit project to leverage and complement a $185 million investment that the City of 

Portland, the State of Oregon, and regional partners are making as part of the 82nd 

Avenue jurisdictional transfer. These investments provide the opportunity to reimagine 

the corridor to improve safety and pedestrian facilities in conjunction with high-quality, 

frequent, reliable Bus Rapid Transit service. The City of Portland and ODOT are already 

making near-term safety, paving, and maintenance fixes that will improve access to 

transit.  A second phase of that work is underway through the City’s Building a Better 

82nd Avenue program to identify additional improvements within Portland for the 

corridor.   These improvements would complement/support the transit investment and 

could be delivered with the transit project.   

The people who live along 82nd Avenue are more likely to rely on transit than the general 

population with a high number of equity communities in greater representation than the 

region as a whole.  These include people that are low-income, BIPOC, have limited English 

proficiency, live with a disability, or live in zero car households or in affordable housing.  

In addition, 82nd Avenue is high injury corridor with inadequate pedestrian facilities, 

lighting, and limited signalized crosswalks and few transit shelters.   

The project anticipates having an approved locally preferred alternative demonstrating 

regional consensus around the transit mode, general station locations, and alignment in 

winter of 2023/24.  The NEPA phase of the project would begin post LPA and after early 

corridor design is underway. Metro, TriMet, the City of Portland, Clackamas County, 

ODOT, Multnomah County, and the Port of Portland as well as community members are 

collaborating to develop a rapid bus transit project in the 82nd Avenue corridor between 

Clackamas Town Center and a northern terminus yet-to-be-determined. In addition, 

Metro is working to support a community-led equitable development strategy (EDS) that 



 

8-78 Chapter 8 Moving Forward Together  
 Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan | July 10, 2023 

will address community priorities outside of, but often-related to the transit project 

investment. 

The 82nd Avenue corridor is a major route for the region connecting key destinations and 

communities in Clackamas County and Portland, Oregon and supporting the movement of 

people and goods in a diverse and growing area.  The corridor serves many people who 

are part of BIPOC, limited English proficiency, and low-income communities, zero car 

households, or living with a disability.  82nd Avenue was once the primary north-south 

highway for the area before Interstate 205 was opened in 1983. Since then, the primary 

function of 82nd Avenue as a regional throughway has diminished, but its importance as a 

transit and pedestrian corridor has grown. The roadway continues to carry substantial 

amount of freight, auto, and bus traffic.TriMet’s Line 72 Killingsworth/82 serves the 82nd 

Avenue corridor and is the highest ridership bus line in TriMet’s system6, and exceeds 

ridership on the Orange and Yellow Max light rail lines. However, unlike light rail transit, 

the bus runs in mixed traffic and is often delayed.  Line 72 is a frequent service route 

connecting riders to major destinations, high-capacity transit lines (the new Division FX2 

and the MAX Green, Blue, and Red Lines), and over 20 bus routes just in the corridor.  It is 

a workhorse with high ridership all day and weekends and saw relatively high retention 

of riders during the pandemic.  

The need for a major transit improvement has been identified in multiple plans including 

the 2010 High Capacity Transit (HCT) System Plan, the 2018 Regional Transportation 

Plan (RTP), and the 2018 Regional Transit Strategy. In 2019, Metro’s Transportation 

Funding Task Force selected 82nd Avenue as a Tier 1 priority to include a bus rapid 

transit project investment.  The steering committee has called for the project to address 

transit speed and reliability, safety, needs of transit-dependent communities in the 

corridor, and to reduce pollution and greenhouse gas emissions, while designing for a 

constrained physical environment. 

The 82nd Avenue Transit Project would improve transit in the corridor by adding: new 

buses with greater capacity, improved pedestrian facilities and access, better lighting, 

transit signal priority and physical bus priority in the roadway to move the bus through 

congestion, and better stations with shelters, seating, lighting, and real time bus arrival 

information. The work will be integrated with the streetscape improvements both 

planned and underway. 

 

6 The Line 72 continues west of 82nd Avenue to Swan Island. However, the 82nd Avenue segment accounts for 77 
percent of rides (2022) and 82 percent of the passenger delay (2019).   



 

Chapter 8 Moving Forward Together 8-79 
Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan | July 10, 2023 

The need is urgent with an unprecedented opportunity 

for an 82nd Avenue bus rapid transit project to 

leverage and complement a $185 million investment 

that the City of Portland, the State of Oregon, and 

regional partners are making as part of the 82nd 

Avenue jurisdictional transfer. These investments 

provide the opportunity to reimagine 

 the corridor to improve safety and pedestrian facilities 

in conjunction with high-quality, frequent, reliable Bus 

Rapid Transit service. The City of Portland and ODOT 

are already making near-term safety, paving, and 

maintenance fixes that will improve access to transit.  A 

second phase of that work is underway through the 

City’s Building a Better 82nd Avenue program to identify 

additional improvements within Portland for the 

corridor.   These improvements would 

complement/support the transit investment and could 

be delivered with the transit project.   

The people who live along 82nd Avenue are more likely 

to rely on transit than the general population with a 

high number of equity communities in greater 

representation than the region as a whole.  These 

include people that are low-income, BIPOC, have 

limited English proficiency, live with a disability, or live 

in zero car households or in affordable housing.  In 

addition, 82nd Avenue is high injury corridor with 

inadequate pedestrian facilities, lighting, and limited 

signalized crosswalks and few transit shelters.   

The project anticipates having an approved locally 

preferred alternative demonstrating regional consensus around the transit mode, general 

station locations, and alignment in winter of 2023/24.  The NEPA phase of the project 

would begin post LPA and after early corridor design is underway.  

8.3.2 Metropolitan Transportation Improvement Program 

Note – This section will be further updated this Summer 

The Metropolitan Transportation Improvement Program (MTIP) documents how all 

federal transportation funding is spent in the greater Portland region for a four-year 

 

Figure 8.12 82nd Ave Transit 
Corridor 



 

8-80 Chapter 8 Moving Forward Together  
 Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan | July 10, 2023 

period as well as state- and locally-funded projects that may significantly affect the 

region’s transportation system performance. The MTIP serves multiple purposes – the 

document: 

• lists all federally-funded transportation expenditures; 

• identifies funding sources for transportation projects;  

• provides project implementation details (e.g., in what year the preliminary 

engineering, right-of-way acquisition and construction phase is expected); 

• demonstrates federal planning and fiscal requirements to expend federal funds have 

been met; and 

• reports how adopted regional policies influenced the selection of these near-term 

investments as priorities to move forward. 

This section describes the role of the MTIP as a key tool for implementing the RTP and 

provides an outline of expectations for demonstrating consistency with the RTP to be 

programmed in the MTIP for implementation. The MTIP document provides more specific 

description of how projects proposed to be included in the MTIP are expected to 

demonstrate consistency with the RTP 

8.3.2.1 MTIP responsibilities and oversight 

Metro has the responsibility to prepare the MTIP, but it is done in collaboration and 

coordination with ODOT, and transit agencies, TriMet and SMART, as the region’s four 

entities responsible for administering federal transportation funding. Additionally, cities, 

counties, the Port of Portland, other local agencies, and the public participate in the 

development of the MTIP. 

JPACT, the Metro Council and the Governor of the State of Oregon approve the MTIP. The 

MTIP is then incorporated, without change, into the State Transportation Improvement 

Program (STIP), which integrates regional and statewide improvement programs. 

8.3.2.2 The role of the MTIP in regional planning 

The RTP plays a significant guiding role for the MTIP as it sets the policy direction for 

what transportation investments are eligible for federal funding and the prioritization 

criteria for allocating federal funding. Through inter-regional coordination throughout the 

planning and programming process, the MTIP ensures that investments of federal funds 

are consistent with the RTP and makes progress in achieving performance targets 

established in the plan. The MTIP is updated every three years. 



 

Chapter 8 Moving Forward Together 8-81 
Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan | July 10, 2023 

One of the primary purposes of the MTIP is to ensure scarce federal transportation 

funding and investments are making progress towards the regional vision set out for 

transportation system in the RTP. As a result, the greater Portland region’s MTIP gives top 

priority to strategic transportation investments that leverage and reinforce the region’s 

land use strategy envisioned in the 2040 Growth Concept and the supporting multimodal 

transportation investments in the RTP. 

8.3.2.3 Demonstrating consistency prior to implementation 

As the vehicle for implementing the RTP, the MTIP has two primary purposes:  

1. ensure federal planning and fiscal requirements for expending federal 

transportation funds are being met; and  

2. ensure the investments are making progress towards regional goals, objectives 

and implementing regional policies as part of performance-based programming. 

Recognizing these two primary purposes of the MTIP, any investment requiring inclusion 

in the MTIP must demonstrate and justify how the investment implements the RTP and 

regional policy outcomes. This is necessary to meet federal eligibility and compliance 

purposes, provide the best transportation experience possible for the region’s residents, 

businesses, employees, and visitors and for good stewardship of scarce transportation 

resources.  

The determination and demonstration of consistency with the RTP, done through the 

MTIP process, comprises quantitative and qualitative evidence that the investment 

advances implementation of the RTP investment strategy, financial constraint, project 

performance towards regional and federal performance targets, and public involvement 

and consultation. In general, there are two main avenues to demonstrate consistency with 

the RTP whether as an individual transportation investment or an entire package of 

transportation investments may be included in the MTIP. The two avenues include the 

following: 

1. During the prioritization process to allocate federal transportation dollars to 

various transportation projects, including the identification of the criteria and the 

consideration of multimodal tradeoffs (prior to the submission to the MTIP); and 

2. The process for amending the MTIP.  

As each four-year MTIP is developed, determination of consistency is also conducted and 

demonstrated programmatically to show how the MTIP package is consistent with and 

advances the implementation of the Plan. Additionally, the programmatic evaluation 

serves as a monitoring tool for assessing progress in implementing the RTP.  



 

8-82 Chapter 8 Moving Forward Together  
 Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan | July 10, 2023 

The following sections describe the core areas that MTIP investments (at individual scale 

and during the funding allocation process) are required to demonstrate consistency with 

federal requirements and adopted regional transportation policy as expressed in the RTP 

goals, objectives, and policies. Example questions are provided to illustrate what 

information is sought.  

Regional significance 

The adopted RTP represents the regional transportation system in the greater Portland 

region, which serve regional transportation needs and provides a specified level of 

seamless multimodal connectivity, accessibility, and management of people and goods 

traveling on the system. As a result, the limited amount of available federal funding must 

be allocated strategically to advance the operation or enhance the development of key 

facilities across the different modal systems (e.g., transit, bicycle and pedestrian active 

transportation, freight) to ensure an interconnectivity while supporting other desired 

regional outcomes (travel options, reduced greenhouse gas emission, etc.).  

For the purposes of demonstrating consistency, the RTP has identified these key facilities, 

programs, and strategies in defining the regionally significant system. Additionally, other 

conditions and circumstances may qualify a transportation investment as regionally 

significant, as reflected in the RTP definition of regional significance and corresponding 

RTP network maps contained in Chapter 3.  

Examples of questions asked for transportation investments to demonstrate Regional 

Significance: 

• Is the transportation investment advancing a project on a facility designated in one or 

more of the RTP network maps? 

• Does the transportation investment require permitting approval(s) from a federal 

agency or project level NEPA review? 

• Does the transportation investment provide new motor vehicle capacity and would 

normally be included as an input to the regional travel demand model? 

Regional goals and objectives 

The adopted RTP demonstrates a significant need for investment in the transportation 

system to address many growing demands of the transportation system, including the 

growing backlog of maintenance, expansion of services, and increased connectivity and 

completeness of different modes. Recognizing the scarcity of funding while the need for 

investment is ever growing, each dollar invested in the regional transportation system 

must serve a regional purpose and advance the implementation of the region’s 

transportation vision and supporting goals, objectives and policies.  



 

Chapter 8 Moving Forward Together 8-83 
Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan | July 10, 2023 

To be included in the MTIP, investments must demonstrate how implementation will 

address one or more of the RTP’s goals, objectives, and policies, listed in Chapters 2 and 3. 

Moreover, the Metro Council identified these key regional policy priorities – 

transportation equity with a focus on race and income, safety, travel options, Climate 

Smart Strategy implementation, economic development and managing congestion – to be 

the focus of this RTP.  The RTP’s goals serve as the broad direction and expectation of 

what each investment in the system should aim to achieve but additional focus and 

attention should be paid to the RTP policy priorities. These goals are consistent with the 

federal planning factors issued by U.S. DOT. 

Examples of questions asked for investments to demonstrate consistency with Regional 

Goals and Objectives include: 

• What regional goals and objectives are being addressed by this transportation 

investment? 

• Is the project identified as part of the adopted RTP financially constrained project list? 

• Is the project advancing one or more of the Climate Smart Strategy policies? If so, 

which policy(ies) and how? 

• Is this project addressing and/or advancing a strategy or action within an adopted 

regional modal or topical strategy or plan, or shared strategy of the RTP? If so, which 

modal or topical strategy or plan? Which strategy (or strategies) and action(s)? How 

does it address or advance the modal or topical strategy or plan? 

8.3.2.4 Demonstrating fiscal constraint 

As a federal requirement, both the RTP and the MTIP are fiscally constrained. Project 

costs are not to exceed expected revenue sources. For the MTIP, transportation identified 

investments are only those projects for which resources are expected to be available, and 

funding identified for the first year must be committed by administering agencies to the 

project. The MTIP is not a comprehensive accounting of all transportation investments in 

the region; it only accounts for the funding of regionally significant projects and does not 

include projects on local streets and facilities. Projects that are 100 percent locally funded 

but of regional significance are included for informational and analysis purposes only. 

Per federal regulations, transportation projects using federal funds are expected to 

demonstrate that revenues needed to deliver the project are available and the revenues 

were accounted for in long-range transportation plan revenue projections. Therefore, 

projects included in the MTIP must be included in the RTP financially constrained project 

list either as an identified individual project or through a programmatic category. 

Additionally, projects in the MTIP must be consistent in scope and financial scale as to 

what was reflected in the financially constrained RTP project list. The revenue 



 

8-84 Chapter 8 Moving Forward Together  
 Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan | July 10, 2023 

assumptions used to develop the RTP financially constrained project are defined in 

Chapter 5.  Projects included in the RTP financially constrained project list are identified 

in Appendix A (2023-2030 time period) and Appendix B (2031-2045 time period).  

If a project is proposed for funding and inclusion in the MTIP and is not included in the 

RTP financially constrained project list, the RTP must be amended to include the project 

as a condition of being adopted in the MTIP.  

To amend projects into the financially constrained project list fiscal constraint must be 

demonstrated by identifying additional revenues or removing other projects from the 

financially constrained project list. More information about the process and other 

requirements that must be met to amend the RTP will be provided in the Appendix.  

Examples of questions asked for transportation investments to demonstrate Fiscal 

Constraint: 

• Is the transportation investment/project identified in the adopted RTP financially 

constrained project list? 

• Is the project consistent in scope and cost as to what was accounted for in the RTP 

financially constrained project list and regional travel model? 

• How will the funding and implementation of this project impact the sponsoring 

agencies ability to adequately operate and maintain its transportation system in the 

future? 

8.3.2.5 Demonstrating support toward achievement of performance targets 

Signed into law in 2012, the previous federal transportation reauthorization, known as 

Moving Ahead for Progress in the 21st Century (MAP-21), created the most significant 

federal transportation policy shift since the 1991 Intermodal Surface Transportation 

Efficiency Act (ISTEA). A fundamental element of the legislation was its focus on 

performance-based planning and programming.  

For the first time, MAP-21 established a federal performance management framework to 

improve transparency and hold state transportation departments, transit agencies and 

metropolitan planning organizations (MPOs) accountable for the effectiveness of their 

transportation planning and investment decisions. The objective of the performance 

management framework was to ensure states and MPOs invest federal resources in 

projects that collectively will make progress toward the achievement of the national 

goals. The required performance-based approach includes targets for measures specified 

by U.S. DOT and requirements to track and report progress toward meeting these targets. 

Twelve performance measures have been identified through MAP-21 and subsequent U.S. 

DOT rulemaking. These federal performance measures and targets address: 



 

Chapter 8 Moving Forward Together 8-85 
Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan | July 10, 2023 

• Safety 

• Infrastructure condition 

• Congestion reduction 

• System reliability 

• Freight movement and economic vitality 

• Environmental sustainability 

Preceding the adoption of the MAP-21 performance-based planning requirements, the 

Metro Council and JPACT adoption of the 2010 RTP established an outcomes-focused 

performance-based planning process that continues today. The RTP performance-based 

process centers on measuring the performance of the adopted RTP investment strategy 

and monitoring progress towards transportation system performance targets identified 

in Chapter 2.  The RTP performance targets address: 

• Affordability 

• Safety 

• Vehicle miles traveled 

• Mode share  

• System Completion 

• Mobility 

• Climate change and greenhouse gas emissions reduction 

• Clean air 

The RTP performance measures and targets contained in Chapter 2 and Appendix L 

support and are consistent with federal and state performance-based planning 

requirements and measures and align to the federal planning factors required for MPOs to 

address and make progress towards. To be included in the MTIP, transportation 

investments planned for the region to meet growing demands, needs or deficiencies, must 

also demonstrate contribution to progress toward federal and RTP performance targets.  

Examples of ways in which transportation investments can demonstrate consistency with 

performance targets include addressing: 

• How does the transportation investment/project contribute one or more of the federal 

and/or regional performance targets for the transportation system? 



 

8-86 Chapter 8 Moving Forward Together  
 Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan | July 10, 2023 

• What evaluation was performed to compare candidate projects for making progress 

toward federal and regional performance targets? What results can be provided to 

demonstrate the investment is making progress towards the federal and/or regional 

performance targets? 

• How did the funding allocation process consider federal and regional performance 

targets in its criteria in the selection of projects and allocation of funds? 

8.3.2.6 Public involvement expectations and process for demonstrating consistency 

As part of federal guidance on public involvement and on Civil Rights laws and the 

Executive Order on Environmental Justice, it is expected that all transportation 

investments identified in the MTIP have provided and will continue to provide 

opportunity for community input and comment until the investment is implemented 

and/or open for service. This means prior to an investment being identified in the MTIP, it 

must have emerged through planning process that was adopted or approved by a 

governing body and be included in the RTP investment strategy. The planning process, 

and that process’s community engagement effort, indicates the investment addresses an 

identified transportation deficiency and need in the local community and the community 

has had opportunity to inform the plan. The adoption or approval of the plan must also 

provide an opportunity for public testimony.  

Commonly recognized planning processes from which projects emerge include local 

transportation system plans (TSPs), but other planning processes include corridor 

studies, facility plans and sub-area plans. Additionally, through the development of the 

RTP project list, local jurisdictions are asked to self-certify transportation investments 

being proposed for the long-range transportation plan have undergone or are currently 

undergoing public involvement efforts through an approved planning process.  

Examples of ways in which transportation investments can demonstrate consistency with 

Public Involvement include addressing the following: 

• From which planning process does the transportation investment emerge from? What 

opportunities for public feedback were available as part of the process? 

• How was feedback from the public incorporated into the development of the 

investment? 

• What demographic assessment was done to identify communities of color, people with 

limited English proficiency, people with low income and other historically 

marginalized communities as stakeholders?  

• Were all interested/affected stakeholders meaningfully engaged in the funding 

allocation prioritization and decision-making process?  



 

Chapter 8 Moving Forward Together 8-87 
Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan | July 10, 2023 

• Were all interested/affected stakeholders meaningfully engaged prior to the request 

for programming a project into the MTIP? 7   

8.3.2.7 Developing the MTIP 

The MTIP development process is initiated by Metro with an update to the MTIP program 

direction and an initial financial forecast of revenues expected to be available for 

programming. The program direction identifies how JPACT and the Metro Council intend 

to coordinate the funding allocation processes administered by Metro through the 

Regional Flexible Funds Allocation (RFFA) process and for funds administered by ODOT 

and public transit agencies – TriMet and SMART. The policy document also describes how 

the funding allocation processes address federal regulations for the allocation of federal 

transportation funds.   

Projects seeking funding through any of the funding allocation processes must be 

included in the financially constrained Regional Transportation Plan project list. JPACT 

and the Metro Council consider the MTIP for final approval. Upon adoption by the Metro 

Council, the MTIP is submitted to the Governor of Oregon for inclusion in the STIP. 

 

7 Interested and affected stakeholders means those members of the public affected or interested in 
transportation investment (or package of investment), as well as formal entities, such as natural resource 
agencies, emergency management agencies, tribal entities, etc. which may have interests or be affected by the 
implementation of the proposed transportation investment. 



 

8-88 Chapter 8 Moving Forward Together  
 Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan | July 10, 2023 

8.4 DATA AND TOOLS 

8.4.1 Performance-based planning and programming 

Over the past two decades, Metro and other transportation agencies have increasingly 

been applying “performance management” – a strategic approach that uses performance 

data to support decisions to help achieve desired performance outcomes. Performance 

management is credited with improving project and program delivery, informing 

investment decision-making, focusing staff on leadership priorities and providing greater 

transparency and accountability to the public. 

Performance-based planning and programming (PBPP) applies this strategic approach 

within the planning and programming processes of MPOs, like Metro, and other 

transportation agencies to achieve desired performance outcomes for the multimodal 

transportation system. This includes a range of activities and products undertaken by a 

MPO together with other agencies, stakeholders, and the public as part of a 3C 

(cooperative, continuing, and comprehensive) process. It includes development of: long-

range regional transportation plans, the Congestion Management Process, other plans and 

processes developed by ODOT and transit providers, such as Strategic Highway Safety 

Plans, Asset Management Plans, Transit Agency Asset Management Plans and Transit 

Agency Safety Plans, and programming documents, including State and Metropolitan 

Transportation Improvement Programs (STIPs and MTIPs).  

PBPP attempts to ensure that transportation investment decisions are made – both in 

long-term planning and short-term programming of projects – based on their ability to 

meet established goals. 

This section summarizes data and research activities to address existing and emerging 

planning and policy priorities and innovative practices in transportation planning and 

analysis. These activities help ensure that the region has the resources to fulfill its state 

and federal transportation performance measurement, monitoring and reporting 

responsibilities. 

8.4.2 Data Collection and Coordination 

This section summarizes data collection and coordination to support regional 

transportation planning and analysis, including regional travel model calibration and 

validation, and federal congestion management process analysis and performance based 

planning target setting and monitoring. The majority of our data is maintained in Metro’s 

Regional Land Information System (RLIS). This database is comprised of over 150 

different (primarily geospatial) data sets, and most of the data sets identified in the 

sections below are elements. Metro publishes RLIS on a quarterly basis, but many data 



 

Chapter 8 Moving Forward Together 8-89 
Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan | July 10, 2023 

sets are on different cycles and come from different sources. All data sets are available for 

review at http://rlisdiscovery.oregonmetro.gov, along with a date of last publication. The 

associated metadata should be consulted in advance to understand how the data were 

generated and to determine the appropriateness of its use. 

8.4.2.1  Growth Data 

Metro Research Center will continue to refine its recently developed Land Development 

Monitoring System (LDMS) as a component of RLIS. LDMS tracks the location cost and 

use-type of residential and employment land utilization to inform regional growth 

management and transport planning. Metro will work to enhance LDMS and RLIS with 

more equity-related data. 

8.4.2.2  Travel Activity Data 

Metro Research Center staff is leading coordination efforts for the next regional travel 

behavior survey (Oregon Travel Study, Spring 2023-Spring 2024). Additional research 

will be necessary to ensure that the survey captures traditionally relevant as well as 

emerging behavior (e.g., extent of Uber/Lyft utilization in place of other travel modes, 

working from home, and online shopping), and be conducted in a comprehensive and 

cost-effective manner. One outcome was a shift from traditional one-day travel diaries to 

smartphone-based weeklong surveys as the primary collection method. The new survey 

also includes revised sampling, recruitment, and outreach strategies to improve 

participation among hard to reach and historically marginalized groups. 

New and emerging data collection methods (e.g. location-based services data, longitudinal 

or rolling surveys, emerging needs follow up surveys, mobile phone apps, personal GPS 

devices, etc.) will also be investigated to help ensure that the survey effort is well 

positioned to capture rapidly changing trends in personal travel behavior. Metro will 

partner with other Oregon modeling agencies (via the Oregon Modeling Statewide 

Collaborative, OMSC) as well as the Southwest Regional Transportation Council (SWRTC) 

to maximize the geographic span and cross agency utility of the data.  

8.4.2.3  Transportation Safety Data 

Metro staff will coordinate with federal, state, regional and local partners to acquire, 

collect and maintain the data currently used for transportation safety related analysis. 

This data includes, but is not limited to, crash data provided by ODOT and roadway 

network, traffic volume and vehicle mile traveled data. Additionally, new data required to 

provide more in-depth analysis will be pursued, including race and ethnicity of crash 

victims, posted speed and pedestrian crossing data to name a few.  

  



 

8-90 Chapter 8 Moving Forward Together  
 Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan | July 10, 2023 

8.4.2.4  Multi-Modal Network Data 

Metro Research Center will continue to update multimodal data in RLIS. RLIS street 

centerlines, sidewalks, bike routes and off-street trails networks are updated quarterly 

and comprise the basis of the multimodal network.  

Research staff will also continue to develop and maintain high-resolution multimodal 

modeling networks. The modeling networks support long-range planning, project 

evaluation, and system performance monitoring needs. Staff will coordinate with other 

state agencies via the OMSC as new modeling networks are developed (e.g. the statewide 

OpenStreetMap-based network and the statewide multimodal network). 

8.4.2.5  Multi-Modal Network Data 

Metro Research Center will continue to update multimodal data in RLIS. RLIS street 

centerlines, sidewalks, bike routes and off-street trails networks are updated quarterly 

and comprise the basis of the multimodal network.  

Research staff will also continue to develop and maintain high-resolution multimodal 

modeling networks. The modeling networks support long-range planning, project 

evaluation, and system performance monitoring needs. Staff will coordinate with other 

state agencies via the OMSC as new modeling networks are developed (e.g. the statewide 

OpenStreetMap-based network and the statewide multimodal network). 

8.4.3 Analysis Tool Maintenance and Enhancement 

This section summarizes planned maintenance and enhancement of the regional travel 

model and MOVES, and the development of a replacement land use model for the now 

defunct MetroScope model to address existing and emerging planning and policy 

priorities and innovative practices in regional transportation planning and analysis. 

8.4.3.1  Growth Forecast 

Metro Council has committed to making its next Urban Growth Boundary decision by the 

end of 2024. That decision will adopt a Regional Economic Forecast of total future jobs 

and employment. Upon adoption of those regional control totals Metro will work to create 

the next generation Distributed Forecast (the Traffic-Analysis-Zone-level growth 

forecasts used in transportation planning and forecasting). The distributed forecast 

(likely to be released in 2026) will be available to support future MTIP and RTP update 

cycles. 

  



 

Chapter 8 Moving Forward Together 8-91 
Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan | July 10, 2023 

8.4.3.2  Growth Forecast Tools 

A replacement land use model will not be in place for the 2026 Distributed Forecast. The 

Metro Planning, Development and Research Department will work closely with local 

jurisdictions to modify and prepare a revision to the most recent land use forecast with 

available methods and best available Regional Economic Forecast information. Metro 

Research Center is now working to scope and implement a replacement for the 

MetroScope land use allocation model but it will not be ready in time for the anticipated 

2024 Urban Growth Management cycle. We will consider a wide variety of traditional and 

next-generation tool options to replace Metro Scope with the goal to have such a land use 

model operational by the subsequent growth management cycle in 2030. This work will 

directly improve the means of producing future distributed forecasts. 

8.4.3.3 Regional Transportation Model Tools 

Metro staff will continue to maintain and enhance the current trip-based travel model. 

Recent enhancements to the model include the transition from a 2015 to a (pre-COVID) 

2020 base year; implementation of a new regional freight model that considers 

commodity flows associated with supply chains at the global, national, and regional 

scales; and improvements to the model’s ability to represent the effects of roadway 

pricing across varying user segments. Future activities include incorporation of the 

results of an updated regional household travel survey and refinements to: the bicycle 

assignment algorithm. Metro staff will stay current with updated versions of the EPA’s 

Motor Vehicle Emission Simulator (MOVES) for estimating emissions of criteria 

pollutants, greenhouse gases and air toxics. 

8.4.4 Analysis Tool Development 

This section summarizes development of new analysis tools to address existing and 

emerging planning and policy priorities and innovative practices in regional 

transportation planning and analysis. It includes visualization tools, housing and 

transportation cost tool, project-level evaluation, piloting the multi-criteria evaluation 

(MCE) tool, and crash prediction modeling tools. 

8.4.4.1  Regional Activity-Based Model 

The statewide estimation of the ActivitySim platform will begin in FY23-24,  with scoping 

and design to begin in April 2023. Upon completion of the Oregon Household Survey in 

2024, estimation of the activity-based model will begin (FY24-25). Key efforts during 

2024-2025 will include the development of staff expertise and a common, statewide 

estimation of ActivitySim that will be the basis for local deployment of the toolset. FY25-

26 will see the deployment of ActivitySim to local jurisdictions—including Metro—and 



 

8-92 Chapter 8 Moving Forward Together  
 Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan | July 10, 2023 

will require further estimation and calibration work to customize for the Portland region. 

Travel Forecasting staff will coordinate closely with Metro planning to ensure that the 

activity-based model framework is analytically aligned with anticipated policy questions, 

and will be ready for deployment for the 2028 Regional Transportation Plan. 

8.4.4.2  Regional Freight Model 

Development of the freight model is complete and the model is integrated  with the trip-

based travel demand model. The freight model will be integrated with the ActivitySim  

activity-based model as that model is implemented at Metro. 

8.4.4.3  Housing and Transportation Expenditure Tool 

During the 2018 RTP, the Metro Research Center began development of the framework 

for a Housing and Transportation Expenditure tool to assess out-of-pocket expenditure 

for housing and transportation and to project the effects of future transportation 

investments on housing and transportation costs. Both current and forecast states of the 

regional land markets and transportation system will be represented in a final tool after 

further development, testing and refinement. The tool will help to respond to various 

questions pertaining to gentrification and displacement when assessing transportation 

investment scenarios. 

8.4.4.4  Economic Value Atlas Decision-Support Mapping Tool 

Development of the Economic Value Atlas (EVA) established tools and analysis that align 

planning, infrastructure, and economic development to build agreement on investments 

to strengthen our economy.  

This work: 

• Provides mapping and insight into our regional economic landscape; 

• Links investments to local and regional economic conditions and outcomes; and 

• Informs policy and investment – providing a foundation for decision-makers to 

understand the impacts of investment choices to support growing industries and 

create access to family-wage jobs and opportunities for all.  

The EVA provides a solid data foundation for key regional activities such as: 

• outlining a path to pursue policy, actions and investment that help support growing 

industries and family-wage jobs;; 

• defining potential areas for partners to collaborate and develop shared investment 

strategies; 



 

Chapter 8 Moving Forward Together 8-93 
Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan | July 10, 2023 

• pinpointing areas of focus for regional investment to bridge local and regional 

economic development aspirations; and 

• providing a data picture of the regional economy to align investments that achieve the 

coordinated vision of Greater Portland 2020, the 2040 Growth Concept and the 

Regional Transportation Plan. 

This work supports regional transportation planning and investment decisions by: 

• Highlighting key intersects between transportation + economic conditions that can 

guide project prioritization criteria incorporated into the next 3-year RFFA cycle. 

• Building a granular understanding of relative economic strengths and challenges 

among communities in the region to inform local Transportation System Plans and 

area studies, regional investment areas and corridor refinement planning and 

planning studies, and advance more strategic transportation project prioritization and 

investment based on surrounding economic conditions. 

• Supporting multiple applications by ongoing regional programs in Metro’s Planning 

and Development Department. 

8.4.4.5  Displacement Monitoring Tool 

First Identified as a key priority for the RTP transportation equity evaluation in 2017, 

involuntary displacement continues to be of concern in the region.. Specifically, 

policymakers and marginalized communities desired to understand the potential 

displacement impacts to result in investment as well as what proactive mitigation 

strategies may be put into effect in advance to address the displacement risk. Through 

development of the 2018 RTP transportation equity system evaluation method, it was 

determined the RTP system analysis would not be able to look at displacement risk due to 

the limitations of the forecasting tool.  

Nonetheless, in an effort to honor the input and recognize the concern about 

displacement risk from public investment in the transportation system, the 2018 RTP 

recommended development of a streamlined displacement risk tool, which can help 

inform plans, project designs, and other components of transportation investment. Since 

2018, the Southwest Equitable Development Strategy (SWEDS) developed a displacement 

risk method that is informing development of a displacement risk monitoring tool in the 

future. 

Metro’s Data Resource Center (DRC) is currently researching methods of monitoring 

displacement risk in the region, which will likely include some of the demographic, 

housing, and business data that Metro already collects or compiles. Metro’s displacement 

research is evolving alongside other analytical areas, including monitoring geographic 

https://www.greaterportlandinc.com/


 

8-94 Chapter 8 Moving Forward Together  
 Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan | July 10, 2023 

changes in land use and demographics in the region. A displacement monitoring tool will 

help policy makers understand where displacement risk is heightened in the region, as 

well as understand what indicators are increasing the risk. This information will in turn 

help policy makers work with stakeholders and constituents to identify policies that can 

help mitigate displacement, especially in areas where public investment is occurring 

8.4.4.6  Crash Prediction Modeling Tool 

Better understanding and evaluation of how projects, programs and strategies impact 

transportation safety system wide are key elements to effectively planning for safety and 

achieving safe system programs such as Vision Zero. Metro staff will coordinate with 

federal partners and other MPOs to develop and pilot the use of crash prediction 

modeling tools to assess safety performance system wide.  

8.4.4.7  Social Vulnerability Explorer 

Metro’s Data Resource Center has developed a Social Vulnerability Explorer8, which 

provides an introductory point of access to regional indices and indicators related to 

potential social vulnerability in the five-county Portland metropolitan region, including 

Clackamas, Columbia, Multnomah, and Washington counties in Oregon and Clark County 

in Washington. The application enables exploratory data analysis and visualization, as 

well as comparisons of user-specified areas to regional averages. 

The online explorer was built as part of a larger Social Vulnerability Tools project9, which 

sought to identify which communities in the region experience barriers to emergency 

services and programs before, during, and after disasters. Besides helping to craft a 

common understanding of social vulnerability in the region, the Social Vulnerability Tools 

project also helped to create a set of social vulnerability data, including input indicators 

and output indices.  

The Social Vulnerability Explorer was specifically built for the purpose of allowing those 

that do not have access to or experience with mapping software to use an online internet 

browser to explore and visualize the geographic distribution of and relationship between 

indicators and indices in the Social Vulnerability Tools project. 

Potential use cases of the Social Vulnerability Explorer include: 

• Emergency management and human or health services professionals can understand 

the demographic composition of service territories or investment areas, as well as the 

 

8 https://gis.oregonmetro.gov/social-vulnerability-explorer/ 
9 https://rdpo.net/social-vulnerability-tools-project 



 

Chapter 8 Moving Forward Together 8-95 
Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan | July 10, 2023 

various types of vulnerabilities that may be reflected in their respective 

constituencies. 

• GIS professionals can conduct exploratory visualization and analysis, specifically as it 

relates to the intersection of multiple indicators, which can be done more quickly and 

efficiently with the online tool than with traditional desktop-based mapping software. 

• Community-based organizations can quantify the demographic composition of their 

service areas – perhaps for grant writing.  

• Academics or researchers can compare demographics between neighborhoods and 

other areas of interest, such as transportation corridors, municipalities or the region. 

8.4.4.8  VisionEval (VE-RSPM) Climate Monitoring Tool 

The VisionEval framework is built on the “GreenSTEP family” of models developed by the 

Oregon Department of Transportation (ODOT) to assist in the development of plans to 

reduce greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions from light-duty vehicles in order to meet Oregon 

State statutory goals.  The RSPM (Regional Strategic Planning Model) was developed by 

ODOT as an offshoot of the GreenSTEP model to support the preparation of metropolitan 

area scenario plans. The name reflects a broadening of the policies, beyond state statutory 

requirements.  Metro and consulting staff are using and enhancing Metro’s VE-RSPM to 

monitor our progress toward our climate goals achieved by RTP projects and policies. 

8.4.5 Monitoring and Reporting Tools 

This section summarizes information systems and data resource coordination efforts that 

Metro is doing or will do to ensure that the region has the resources to fulfill its 

transportation performance-based planning, programming and reporting responsibilities.  

8.4.5.1  Monitoring Data and Information Systems 

Metro Research Center staff will continue to investigate new and emerging data sources 

and data collection methods (e.g., location-based services data, longitudinal or rolling 

surveys, mobile phone apps, personal GPS devices, etc.) to help ensure that Metro is well  

Research Center staff will also continue to collect and process National Performance 

Management Research Data Set (NPMRDS) data for federally-required performance 

monitoring purposes. Staff will also continue to explore and support the ODOT-provided 

auto travel speed and volume data available via the Regional Integrated Transportation 

Information System (RITIS) platform 

  

http://www.oregon.gov/ODOT/Planning/Documents/RSPM-Quick-Summary.pdf


 

8-96 Chapter 8 Moving Forward Together  
 Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan | July 10, 2023 

8.4.5.2  Congestion Management Process Data Collection and Monitoring 

This section summarizes the region’s approach to monitoring and reporting on the 

progress implementing the RTP through the regional Congestion Management Process 

(CMP).  

The great challenge for establishing and maintaining a monitoring program has been the 

availability of data. Historically, collecting and managing data has been expensive and 

difficult. With advancements in Intelligent Transportation Systems (ITS) in the region, 

more and better data is available today and will continue to grow with implementation of 

data collection projects identified in the Regional Transportation System Management 

and Operations (TSMO) plan.  

Starting in 2008, the region approved ongoing funding for implementation, including an 

annual allocation to fund Portal, the regional transportation data archived, housed and 

maintained by Portland State University. PSU, in partnership with ODOT, TriMet, Metro 

and other local agencies, provides data aggregation, maintenance and reporting on the 

region's roadways and transit systems. Metro will continue to work with ODOT and other 

regional partners to expand existing data collection and performance monitoring 

capabilities, in order to evaluate system performance for all modes of travel and support 

the region’s CMP.  

This work includes supporting a data management system to facilitate data collection, 

maintenance and reporting to support on-going RTP and MTIP monitoring. The 

performance monitoring will be reported biennially as part of the Regional Mobility 

Program, consistent with the region’s federally approved congestion management 

process.  

Table 8.6 lists where key elements of the region’s CMP are addressed in the RTP and 

Appendices to show how the region’s planning and investment activities implement the 

CMP.   

 

 

 

 

  



 

Chapter 8 Moving Forward Together 8-97 
Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan | July 10, 2023 

Table 8.6 Key Elements of the Region’s Congestion Management Process (CMP)  

Regional Congestion 
Management Process 

Associated RTP/MTIP Activities 

Develop congestion 
management 
objectives and policies 

RTP Goals and Objectives (Chapter 2), RTP Policies (Chapter 3) 

Define geographic area 
and network of 
interest 

RTP (Appendix L – Figures 3 and 4)  

Establish multimodal 
performance measures 

RTP Performance Measures and Targets (Chapter 2), RTP Federal 
Performance Measures and Targets (Appendix L) 

Collect data and 
monitor system 
performance  

RTP Existing Conditions (Chapter 4 Mobility Corridor Atlas (2015) 

Analyze congestion 
problems and needs 

RTP Existing Conditions (Chapter 4), RTC CMP Monitoring Report 
(2021), RTP Performance Evaluation (Chapter 7) 

Identify and evaluate 
effectiveness of 
strategies 

RTP (Chapter 6), RTP (Chapter 7), RTP (Appendix E - Transportation 
Equity Evaluation), RTP (Appendix F – Environmental Analysis and 
Potential Mitigation Strategies), RTP (Appendix J – Climate Smart 
Strategy Implementation and Monitoring), corridor refinement 
planning, area studies, local transportation system plans 

Implement selected 
strategies and manage 
transportation system 

MTIP, local jurisdictions, ODOT, TriMet, SMART, TransPort, 
Regional Transportation Functional Plan, RTP (Chapter 8) 

Monitor strategy 
effectiveness10 

Scheduled RTP updates, CMAQ Performance Plan, RTP (Appendix J 
– Climate Smart Strategy Implementation and Monitoring), RTC 
CMP Monitoring Report 

More information about the region’s Congestion Management Process is provided in 

Appendix L. 

8.4.5.3 Performance monitoring measures and targets 

Performance monitoring measures identified in Chapter 4, Appendix J and Appendix L are 

used to track changes in system performance and implementation progress over time and 

between scheduled updates to the RTP. Reporting these changes provides valuable 

information on trends and conditions using actual empirical or observed data to the 

 

10 USDOT, “Guidebook on the Congestion Management Process in Metropolitan Transportation Planning.” Page 
1-1 (April 2011). 



 

8-98 Chapter 8 Moving Forward Together  
 Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan | July 10, 2023 

extent possible in advance of RTP updates to assess how the transportation system is 

performing and identify possible policy or strategy adjustments that may be needed.  

Appendix J contains a complementary set of performance measures and performance 

monitoring targets specific to tracking implementation of the Climate Smart Strategy 

adopted by JPACT and the Metro Council in 2014 and report on progress. The Climate 

Smart Strategy performance measures and targets are used to monitor and assess 

whether key elements or actions that make up the strategy are being implemented, and 

whether the strategy is achieving expected outcomes. The Climate Smart Strategy 

performance monitoring targets are not policy targets, but instead reflect a combination 

of the planning assumptions used to evaluate the Climate Smart Strategy and outputs 

from the evaluation of the adopted strategy. 

Appendix L documents the region’s approach to addressing the federal transportation 

performance-based planning and congestion management requirements contained in the 

Moving Ahead for Progress in the 21st Century Act (MAP-21) and the Fixing America’s 

Surface Transportation (FAST) Act. The multimodal performance measures and near-

term performance monitoring targets in Appendix L are used to monitor transportation 

system performance using empirical or observed data between scheduled updates.  

 

 



 
Materials following this page were distributed at the meeting. 



Urban growth 
management public 
engagement plan

Metro Technical Advisory Committee
July 19, 2023



Summer 2024: Draft UGR
Stakeholder group, COO recommendations
Fall 2024: MPAC, CORE recommendations
Council direction to staff
Public hearings
Dec 2024: Council decision

Technical work and analysis

Stakeholder engagement

City expansion proposals

Metro Council decision

Forecasts
Land inventories

Jurisdictional outreach
Stakeholder roundtable
Youth cohort

Dec 2023: Letters of interest due
April 2024: Proposals due
2040 Planning & Development Grants available

Trends analysis
Modeling

2024 UGM decision



Decision-
making 
framework



• Metro committees

• Stakeholder roundtable

• Jurisdictional outreach

• Youth cohort

• Public communication

Engagement plan overview



Levels of engagement



Levels of engagement

MPACMTAC
CORE

Stakeholder 
Roundtable

Inform Consult Involve Collaborate Empower

Youth Cohort
LUTAG

LUTAG

Metro cities/counties 
staff and leadership

General 
public General 

public



Regular updates 
to MTAC & MPAC

MPAC 
recommendation 
in Fall 2024

Metro committees

Eryn’s home office



Membership outreach 
underway
First meeting – September 
2023
First meeting topics: 
introductions, work program, 
development outcomes in 
past UGB expansion areas

Stakeholder roundtable



1. Contribute perspectives to the content of the 
2024 Urban Growth Report

2. Staff will consider the group’s feedback when 
preparing a recommendation for the Metro 
Council UGB decision

Stakeholder roundtable role



Ideals: Regional balance, gender and racial balance

Potential membership

Housing developers
Industrial brokers
Real estate
Academia
Affordable housing

Local mayors
Business organizations
Land advocacy
Labor
Farming





• City Manager outreach

• Visits with planning staff 
ongoing

Jurisdictional outreach



• Sept 2023 –
Dec 2024

• 8 cohort meetings

• Field trip

• Council 
engagement

Youth cohort with Next Up





• Interest group presentations

• Social media and website updates

• Public comment period to review city 
expansion proposals (2024)

Additional engagement



Is anything missing?

Questions/Discussion





2023 Regional 
Transportation Plan 

Process Update
& Chapter 8

MTAC

July 19, 2023



2

Today’s purpose

2

Provide update on public 
comment period and next steps

Share process and timeline for 
updating Chapter 8

Seek feedback on Chapter 8 and 
topics for:

• MTAC discussion in Aug./Sept. 

• MPAC discussion in Sept.



Timeline for the 2023 RTP update



4

• Consultation with Tribes
• Consultation with federal, state, 

regional and resource agencies
• County-level coordinating 

committee briefings

• Online survey
• Online comment form
• Email, letters and phone
• Public hearing on 7/27/23
• Metro Council and regional 

advisory committee discussions

JULY 10 to AUG. 25, 2023
45-day comment period builds on 
engagement conducted to date



5

5

Public Review Draft documents 

Appendices and supporting documents



6

Chapter 8 | Moving Forward Together

Implementation

Regional Programs

Region-wide Planning

Corridor Refinement Planning

Major Project Development 

Data and Tools Development



7

Updates made to Draft Chapter 8

• Minor edits to Introduction

• Updated descriptions of regionwide planning 
and regional programs, completed efforts 
removed and new efforts added

• Updated descriptions of corridor refinement 
planning

• Updated descriptions of major project 
development and new efforts added

• Updated descriptions of data and tool 
development and two new analysis tools added

7



Planning activity
Lead 

Agency(ies)
Proposed 

timing

Transit planning TriMet, SMART Annually

Equitable Development Strategies Metro Ongoing

Columbia Connects Metro 2023-24

Cascadia Corridor Ultra-High-Speed Ground 
Transportation Project Planning

WSDOT 2023-28

Workforce Diversification in Regional 
Transportation Infrastructure Projects

Metro 2024

Regional Mobility Policy Implementation Plan Metro, ODOT 2024-25

Connecting First and Last Mile: Accessing Mobility 
through Transit Study

Metro 2024-25

Regional Transportation Functional Plan Update Metro 2024-25

Emergency Transportation Routes Project Phase 2 Metro, RPDO 2024-26

Regional Freight Rail Study Metro, Port 2024-26

2040 Refresh Coordination Metro TBD

Funding Strategy for Regional Bridges Counties 2024-28

Section 8.2 | Planning and Programs

Region-wide planning (next 5 years)



9

Section 8.2 | Planning and Programs

Corridor refinement planning

Develop shared investment 
strategies to address unmet 
multimodal transportation needs 
within identified multimodal 
mobility corridors*

Link equity, economic, housing 
and other goals with multimodal 
management and capital solutions 

Recommend strategies and 
phasing to catalyze investment

Beaverton to Hillsboro

* As defined by the Transportation Planning Rule (OAR 660-012-0025)



10

Section 8.3 | Projects

Major project development

82nd Avenue 
Transit Project

TV Highway Transit and 
Development Project

Regional Mobility 
Pricing Project



11

Section 8.4 | Data and Tools

Measuring and tracking outcomes

Innovative data and tools to 
address existing and emerging 
planning and policy priorities:

• Data collection and 
coordination

• Analysis tools (maintenance 
and development)

• Monitoring and reporting 
tools



12

Process for updating Chapter 8

• Resolution 23-5343 directs staff to revise Chapter 8 in 
response to public comments and policy discussion

• Placeholder for corridor refinement narratives – to be 
updated based on systems analysis of RTP projects using 
updated mobility policy

• TPAC and MTAC discussion this summer will identify policy 
issues for discussion with JPACT/MPAC/Council (in addition to 
pricing)

• Public comments submitted to Metro from agencies / 
jurisdictions, the public and community-based organizations

• MPAC, JPACT and Council discussions in September 12



13

TPAC feedback to date on 
Chapter 8

• Restructure Chapter 8 to be a call to action 

• Clarify which planning projects are priorities for the region

• Update draft RTP to reflect changing information

• Expand regional bridges funding strategy to be a broader 
strategy for funding regional transportation infrastructure

• Ensure Connecting First and Last Mile: Accessing Mobility 
through Transit study looks at serving UGB expansion areas 
and urban areas not currently served

• Continue to improve addressing equity in next plan update



14

Timeline for updating Chapter 8

July 19 MTAC Discussion

August 4 TPAC Discussion (if needed)

Aug. 16 MTAC/TPAC discussion 

September 1 TPAC Discussion (if needed)

September 12 (tentative) Metro Council Discussion

September 13 TPAC Workshop Discussion of Metro staff 
recommended actions in response to public 
comments requesting changes to Chapter 8; 
identify topics for JPACT discussion

September 21 JPACT Discussion

September 27 MPAC Discussion

14



15

Questions about RTP process 
or Chapter 8?

Feedback regarding future 
implementation?

Feedback on topics for further 
MTAC discussion in August and 
September (in addition to 
pricing-related 
implementation)?

15

Discussion



Learn more about the Regional
Transportation Plan at:

oregonmetro.gov/rtp

Kim Ellis, AICP
RTP Project Manager
kim.ellis@oregonmetro.gov

kim.ellis@oregonmetro.gov


1. Tigard to Wilsonville, including I-5 south (Mobility 
Corridor 3)

2. Portland Central City Loop, including I-405 loop (Mobility 
Corridor 4)

3. Clark County to I-5 via Gateway, Oregon City and Tualatin, 
including I-205 (Mobility Corridors 7, 8, and 10)

4. Beaverton to Forest Grove, including Tualatin Valley 
Highway (Mobility Corridors 14 and 15)

5. Hillsboro to Portland, including US 26 (Mobility Corridors 
13 and 14) 

6. Portland Central City to Lents and Gresham, including US 
26/Powell Boulevard (Mobility Corridors 19 and 20) 

Section 8.2 | Planning and Programs

Future refinement planning
subject to change pending regional mobility policy system analysis

17


	MTAC agenda July 19, 2023 with notice.pdf
	MTAC Work Program 2023, as of July 11, 2023
	Public comment factsheet_07102023
	2023 RTP-Executive-summary-20230710-small
	MTAC meeting minutes from May 17, 2023
	Draft Engagement Plan - Final Draft 070623
	MTACmemo onRTPAdoption071223
	MTAC memo on RTP Chapter 8-071023
	Materials following this page were distributed at the meeting
	Presentation: Urban growth management public engagement plan
	Presentation: 2023 Regional Transportation Plan, Process Update and Chapter 8



